
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only

Committee - GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Friday, 15th February, 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue - Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members

Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Wednesday, 6 February 2019

Public Document Pack





Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 11

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 

3. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.

7. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 
To note if there are any training issues/ requests.

8. QUARTER 3 2018-19 RISK REPORT To Follow

Report of Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director for Strategy & Governance.

9. ANNUAL GRANT CERTIFICATION REPORT 2017/18 12 - 22

Report of the Head of External Audit.

10. 2018/19 AUDIT PLANNING REPORT 23 - 62

Report of the External Auditor E&Y.

11. STRATEGIC AND ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLANS 2019/20 63 - 91

Report of the Head of Internal Audit and the Internal Audit Manager.

12. AUDIT COMMITTEE SELF-ASSESSMENT EXERCISE & ACTION PLAN 92 - 101

Report of the Head of Internal Audit, presented by the Internal Audit 
Manager.



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

Page(s)
herewith

13. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY 2019-20 102 - 146

Report of Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 
Officer.

14. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2018-19 147 - 161

Report of Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 
Officer.

15. COUNTER FRAUD CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY POLICY, 
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 

162 - 213

Report of Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 
Officer.

16. WORK PROGRAMME 214

A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required.

17. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting on Wednesday, 5 June 2019 
at 10.00am in the Norfolk Room (please note change of day and time).

18. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(4)(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

19. QUARTER 3 2018-19 RISK REPORT - APPENDIX 2 To follow



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 14 December 2018 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton

Also Present
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay 
Advisor)

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
63/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to the 
Independent Specialist Advisor to the Governance & Audit Committee, Mr 
John Plaskett, being added to the list of those present.

64/18 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Members were reminded of the Norfolk Pension Fund Briefing being 
presented by Mr Alex Younger which was being held immediately after 
this meeting.

65/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

66/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

67/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

5

Agenda Item 1



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

2

Action By
68/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 

ITEM 6) 

None present.

69/18 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None required.

70/18 QUARTER 2 2018-19 RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members agreed the Exclusion of Press and Public at this point of the 
meeting (see Agenda item 14) to enable the Capita Risk Report (Agenda 
item 15) to be discussed with agenda item 8. 

RESOLVED:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

Ross Bangs, the Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) 
Manager presented the report.

The Strategic Risk Register included 15 strategic risks.  Overall the 
number of risks in the high category remained the same; there was one 
less in the medium category in this quarter and one more in the low rated 
category, so overall risk scores had improved in this quarter.

The ICT risk regarding possible breach remained as a high risk due to the 
impact a breach would have on the Council.  The Impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act also remained at ‘red’ status for this quarter 
due to the implementation of the Act putting a strain on resources for the 
housing service and the housing register.  However, following a 
successful recruitment exercise six new members of staff had been 
appointed and once trained, this particular risk was expected to be moved 
to a more positive position in quarters 3 and 4.

There were eight risks that remained in the medium category; however, 
whilst risk scores remained the same a great deal of work had been done 
by HR in relation to staff recruitment.  This work had paid more focus on 
social media and direct marketing for candidates to enhance the Council’s 
recruitment campaigns.  Analysis had also been conducted by the CIP 
team which had shown positive trends amongst staff turnover within 
Breckland.

Work also continued within the Legal Team around GDPR and ensuring 
privacy notices/IARs were complete and a GDPR audit had been 
undertaken and would be reported to the Governance & Audit Committee 
in Quarter 3.

Attention was drawn to the risk on page 23 of the agenda pack in relation 
to the under occupancy rate of Riverside.  Members had asked for this 
particular risk to be deleted at the last meeting. The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager apologised and would remove 

RB

6



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

3

Action By
the risk accordingly. Members were informed that the Corporate 
Management Team had recently adopted an account management 
approach who would work closely with the Service Manager to share 
information to help to maximise performance and reduce risks within their 
teams; therefore, any risk should be mitigated before it occurred.

There was a great deal of debate in relation to Capita particularly in 
respect of staff turnover and savings against the contract.  The Chairman 
felt that a wider piece of work was needed as the risk score in his opinion 
and other Members opinions was much too low.  It was noted that Capita 
was being called into the Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting in 
March 2019.  It was further noted that weekly meetings with Capita had 
already been scheduled to take place in the New Year.  It was agreed that 
all concerns would be fed back to the Executive Director of Place, Rob 
Walker and the Breckland Place Manager, Riana Rudland.  

It was further agreed that a report would be brought back to a future 
Governance & Audit Committee meeting to include: the assessment of 
the economy, effectiveness and efficiency of the Capita contract at this 
stage of its contract life - – rechecking the promised savings and 
guarantees made at its inception, and the plans currently in place to 
ensure the contract met the expectations both of the Council and 
residents in the future.

Referring back to the risk register, Mr Plaskett mentioned the target dates 
that had now passed and felt that they should be removed.  Revised, 
updated Risk Registers were circulated.  Mr Plaskett noticed that some of 
the targets had been missed and asked that Members be kept informed of 
how often the target dates should be changed.  The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager said that original and new target 
dates could be shown on the Register.

Mr Plaskett drew attention to the risk score under the failure to maximise 
income from investment asset portfolio due to the one large void property.  
Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer) explained 
that a contract had recently been signed for this property; therefore, the 
risk score should be reduced.

Attention was also drawn to the risk that had not changed since he started 
with the Governance & Audit Committee in relation to staff recruitment 
and retention and felt that a better understanding was needed of how this 
risk was managed.  The Chairman asked if the target score was realistic.  
Members were informed that this score and how the risk was managed 
would be reviewed by the Council’s HR colleagues.  The Vice-Chairman, 
Councillor Wilkinson did not approve of the idea of benchmarking with 
other authorities.  Members were informed that this was in relation to 
understanding the market and the movement with employment and was 
purely an indicator not a target.  Breckland Council was in the upper 
quartile and this should be seen as a positive.

In response to a further question in relation to Riverside, Members were 
informed that the notes referred to the social events that had taken place 
in 2018 in Thetford.  The Chief Accountant advised that internal funding 
had been secured for the Council’s Reserves to attract more interest in 
the Riverside area.

RB

RB/AC

RB

RB/AC

RB

7



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

4

Action By
Councillor Newton mentioned the void units and the number of smaller 
assets that were being disposed of which he felt should be re-valued.  
Councillor Nairn explained that many of the smaller industrial units were 
reaching a point that was no longer viable for the Council to maintain or 
redevelop.  The question of rents raised by Councillor Newton would be 
discussed outside of the meeting with the Chief Accountant.

Councillor Hewett questioned the score of ‘one’ for the failure to deliver 
the Local Plan and asked what this actually measured.  Members were 
informed that the score was low due to the fact that it was highly unlikely 
that the Local Plan would not be delivered.  Councillor Hewett had noticed 
the target date against this risk and felt that dates should be included on 
the latest notes and in subsequent reports in future.  The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager pointed out that the Account 
Management approach would improve the commentary.  

Councillor Hewett noticed another issue in relation to the dates on page 
24 of the agenda pack, the target date had passed and therefore should 
the risk remain.  It was agreed that this risk would be removed.

Members did not have much confidence of how good this document was 
and felt that there should be a thorough review.  Any further issues would 
be reported accordingly.

Subject to the aforementioned amendments and concerns, the contents 
of the report were otherwise noted.

RB

RB

71/18 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2018-19 (AGENDA 
ITEM 9) 

Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer presented 
the report.

The new Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the Prudential Code had 
been affective from April 2018 and include the revised Ministry for 
Communities, Housing and Local Government (MCHLG) statutory 
guidance on Local Government Investments.

The definition of an investment now covered all the financial assets of the 
organisation, as well as other non-financial assets which the organisation 
held primarily for financial returns, such as investment property portfolios.

The anticipated changes to both the Treasury Policy and Strategies and 
the Capital Strategy had been reported to the Governance & Audit 
Committee on 16 February 2018.  CIPFA had not anticipated the changes 
implemented in full until 19/20 and this report therefore highlighted the 
key changes that were proposed (see report).

For 2019-20 the Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators 
must be more closely aligned to the Council’s Capital Strategy.  The 
Capital Strategy itself would be amended to include a new section setting 
out the Council’s approach to non-financial investments.

In addition, new indicators were proposed in the Treasury Strategy to 
report yield on financial and non-financial investments and also borrowing 

8



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

5

Action By
in respect on non-financial investments.  The new indicator would monitor 
the extent to which the Council relied on income generating activity to 
achieve a balanced budget.

The appendices attached to the report were highlighted and explained.

RESOLVED that the mid-year report and information on treasury activity 
be agreed.

72/18 FOLLOW UP REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Faye Haywood, the Internal Audit Manager for Breckland Council 
presented the report based on the agreed internal Audit 
recommendations as at 30 November 2018.  Since then for 2017/18, the 
five recommendations that needed attention had been completed; 
however, 14 recommendations were still outstanding and three for 
2016/17 required urgent attention.

The appendices to the report were highlighted and explained. 

Councillor Monument asked for further explanation in relation to the ‘latest 
notes’ under BRK1704 on page 41 of the agenda pack.  Members were 
informed that DEFRA’s resources and waste strategy had been published 
in May 2018 and the deadline had been extended; therefore, the 
recommendation would be amended accordingly in the next follow up 
report.

Members asked to see more progress against agreed recommendations 
for the year- end report due to be produced for June 2019, as it was noted 
that a number of recommendations had now fallen overdue.  

Councillor Hewett referred to the recommendation responses from the 
officer on page 43, commenting that he preferred the style of the 
response, as the officer portrayed their accountability for delivery and 
cited how the risk was being mitigated until completion could be achieved.

Many more questions and concerns were raised relating to 
recommendation progress. The Internal Audit Manager informed the 
Committee that she would be attending future Performance Risk and 
Audit Board meetings to work with Officers on resolving the outstanding 
recommendations, focusing particularly on those raised in previous 
financial years. It was suggested that if historic recommendations remain 
unresolved at year end, the Committee to invite responsible officers to 
attend the next meeting to explain delays. 

The contents of the report were noted.

FH

FH

FH

73/18 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY (AGENDA 
ITEM 11) 

Faye Haywood, the Internal Audit Manager for Breckland Council 
presented the progress report on internal audit activity.

The Annual Audit Plan for 2018/19 had been approved by the 
Governance & Audit Committee at its meeting on 16 February 2018.  The 

9



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

6

Action By
Plan had identified specific audits to be delivered and accordingly, the 
following changes have been made:

Transformation Programme

The programme had come to a natural end of the four-year life span, the 
remaining efficiencies formed part of the ongoing programme of works; 
therefore the internal audit was no longer required.

Environmental Protection

This audit had been deferred to 2019/20 to allow the Team to work on the 
implementation of new software.

Housing Needs, Allocations, Homelessness and Housing

An additional two days had been allocated from the Transformation 
Programme review to accommodate additional testing over funding 
arrangements, system access rights and following up on previously raised 
recommendations.

Office 365 changed to Project Programme Audit

The review had been scheduled in for quarter four of 2018/19; however, 
the Office 365 project had not yet been completed.  Assurance would 
therefore be provided on the governance and management arrangements 
of IT projects.

The 2019/20 Audit Plan would be presented to the Governance & Audit 
Committee in draft form at the next meeting.

Appendix 1 of the report highlighted the current position in completing 
audits to date within the financial year and progress to date was in line 
with expectations.

During the period covered by the report Internal Audit Services had 
issued four final reports and the Executive Summary of these reports had 
been highlighted on Appendix 2 (Page 52 of the agenda pack).

The Chairman had noticed that the findings/recommendations had been 
based on both Breckland Council and South Holland District Council and 
felt that the report would look very different if it had been based on 
Breckland alone.  The Internal Audit Manager reported that a relatively 
equal number of recommendations had been raised at both Councils 
during the joint review; therefore, the report had been presented as one 
piece of work allowing officers to clearly identify the required 
improvements for the shared service.  

Councillor Hewett drew attention to page 61 of the agenda pack in 
relation to an improved audit trail for the processing and approval of 
Members’ expenses and asked if any instances of fraud had been 
identified. The Internal Audit Manager confirmed that no instances had 
been identified and that the recommendation had been raised in relation 
to strengthening controls at South Holland only to prevent fraud risks from 
occurring. He was also very surprised to note that Members did not 
submit VAT receipts for petrol with their mileage claims. 

FH

10



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

7

Action By

Councillor Monument found it very strange that this report should include 
anything relative to South Holland DC and felt that it would be very helpful 
if the name of the Council could be included at the beginning of the report.

Mr J Plaskett informed the Committee that he is used to seeing the 
deadlines dates for each recommendation when reviewing reports from 
TIAA in another advisory role however, Members advised that they were 
content with the format; and it was: 

It was noted that the report lacked dates/actions as previously reported by 
TIAA; however, Members were content with the format; and it was: 

RESOLVED that the outcomes of the four audits completed by TIAA and 
the amendments to the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan be noted.

FH

74/18 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy 
and Money Laundering Policy would be added to the Work Programme 
for the next meeting in February 2019.

AC/JB

75/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 15 February 2019 at 
10.00am in the Norfolk Room were noted.

76/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

See Minute No. 70/18 above.

77/18 QUARTER 2 2018-19 RISK REPORT - APPENDIX (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

See Minutes No. 70/18 above.

The meeting closed at 11.20 am

CHAIRMAN

11



Breckland Council

Certification of claims and
returns annual report 2017/18

January 2019

12

A
genda Item

 9



2

Governance and Audit Committee 15 January 2019
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
Norfolk
NR19 1EE

Dear Committee Members

We are pleased to report on our certification work. This report summarises the results of our work on Breckland Council’s 2017/18 claims and
returns.

Scope of work

Local authorities claim large sums of public money in grants and subsidies from central government and other grant-paying bodies and must
complete returns providing financial information to government departments. In some cases these grant-paying bodies and government
departments require appropriately qualified reporting accountants to certify the claims and returns submitted to them.

From 1 April 2015, the duty to make arrangements for the certification of relevant claims and returns and to prescribe scales of fees for this
work was delegated to the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government. For
2017/18, these arrangements required only the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim. In certifying this we followed a methodology
determined by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Summary

Section 1 of this report outlines the results of our 2017/18 certification work and highlights the significant issues.

We checked and certified the housing benefits subsidy claim with a total value of £31,406,201. We met the submission deadline. We issued a
qualification letter and details of the qualification matters are included in section 1.

Fees for certification and other returns work are summarised in section 2. The housing benefits subsidy claim fees for 2017/18 were published
by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) and are available on the PSAA’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the February Governance and Audit Committee.

Yours faithfully

Kevin Suter
Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Encl

13



3

Contents

This report is made solely to the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Governance and Audit Committee
and management of Breckland Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-
party without our prior written consent.

Housing benefits
subsidy claim01 02

Looking forward03

2017/18
certification fees

V
F
M

14



4

Housing benefits subsidy claim01 01

15



5

Housing benefits subsidy claim

Local Government administers the Government’s housing benefits scheme for tenants and can claim subsidies from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)
towards the cost of benefits paid.
The certification guidance requires reporting accountants to follow a programme of work specified by DWP.  Detailed case testing is carried out on an initial sample of 20
cases per benefit type.  More extensive ‘40+’ or extended testing is undertaken if initial testing identifies errors in the calculation of benefit or compilation of the claim.
40+ testing may also be carried out as a result of errors that have been identified in the certification of previous years claims.
We found errors and carried out extended testing in four areas, which represents a small increase in the level of error from the previous year.
We have reported underpayments, uncertainties and the extrapolated value of other errors in a qualification letter. The DWP then decides whether to ask the Council to
carry our further work to quantify the error or to claw back the benefit subsidy paid.
The main issues we identified are summarised in the table on the following page.
Errors have been identified in the calculation of earnings across all seven authorities within Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) in 2017/18 and also in previous years.
Therefore ARP have implemented additional quality control procedures for all claims with earnings since 1 April 2018 to reduce the overall level of error in this area.

Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £31,406,201

Amended/Not amended Not amended

Qualification letter Yes

Fee – 2017/18

Fee – 2016/17

£14,959 (subject to PSAA approval)

£13,465

16



6

Housing benefits subsidy claim

Benefit type Nature of error identified

Rent allowance Testing of the initial sample did not identify any errors in the calculation of earnings, however additional testing was
undertaken in this area due to errors identified in previous years. This additional testing identified four input errors on
earned income resulting in two overpayments and two underpayments of benefit.

This issue was therefore included in our Qualification Letter, with an extrapolated impact of £2,492, following DWP's
extrapolation methodology.

Rent allowance Testing of the initial sample did not identify any errors in the application of carer’s premium, however additional testing
was undertaken in this area due to errors identified in previous years. This additional testing identified three errors where
carer’s premium had been misapplied. This resulted in two overpayments and one case with no impact on benefit.

This issue was therefore included in our Qualification Letter, with an extrapolated impact of £10,005, following DWP's
extrapolation methodology.

Rent allowance Testing of the initial sample identified one case where the where working tax credit had been incorrectly calculated
leading to an underpayment of benefit. Additional testing identified three further errors, resulting in one overpayment
and two cases with no impact on benefit paid.

This issue was therefore included in our Qualification Letter, with an extrapolated impact of £277, following DWP's
extrapolation methodology.

Rent allowance Testing of the initial sample identified one case where the rent had been incorrectly calculated resulting in an
overpayment of benefit. Additional testing identified one further error where rent had been miscalculated with no impact
on benefit.

This issue was therefore included in our Qualification Letter, with an extrapolated impact of £7,330, following DWP's
extrapolation methodology.

Rent allowance Testing of the initial sample identified one case where child care costs were not disregarded when earnings changed to
Statutory Sick Pay and one case where ESA (IR) was awarded from an incorrect date. However, as these errors both
result in an underpayment of benefit no further testing was undertaken.

These issues were included in our Qualification Letter as observations.

Non-HRA rent rebate Testing of the initial sample identified one case with an error in the universal credit amount applied. However, as the
amount of universal credit is fully disregarded there was no impact on the benefit awarded. No further testing was
undertaken.

This issue was included in our Qualification Letter as an observation.

17



7

2017/18 certification fees02 01V
F
M

18



8

The PSAA determine a scale fee each year for the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim. For 2017/18, these scale fees were published by the Public
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA’s) and are available on their website (www.psaa.co.uk).

The indicative fee for 2017/18 is based on the actual fee for 2015/16 when extended testing was undertaken in two areas. For 2017/18 extended testing was
undertaken in four areas, which also represents an increase from the level of testing undertaken in 2016/17.
Our final proposed fee remains subject to approval from PSAA.

2017/18 certification feesV
F
M

Claim or return 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

Actual fee
£

Indicative fee
£

Actual fee
£

Housing benefits subsidy claim 14,959 11,210 13,465

19



9

Looking forward03 01

20



10

Looking forward

2018/19 and beyond
From 2018/19, the Council is responsible for appointing their own reporting accountant to undertake the work on their claims in accordance with the instructions
determined by the relevant grant paying body.

As your appointed auditor for the financial statements audit, we are pleased that for 2018/19 the Council has appointed us to act as reporting accountants in relation to
the housing benefit subsidy claim.

We welcome the opportunity to continue undertaking this work for the Council providing a seamless quality service, drawing on vast array of experienced and
knowledgeable public sector professionals in these areas, whilst realising the synergies and efficiencies that are achieved by undertaking both the audit and grant work.

21



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

22



Breckland Council

Audit Plan

Year ended 31 March 2019

31 January 2019

23

A
genda Item

 10



2

31 January 2019

Dear Governance and Audit Committee Members

We are pleased to attach our Audit Plan which sets out how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as auditor. Its purpose is to provide the 
Governance and Audit Committee with a basis to review our proposed audit approach and scope for the 2018/19 audit in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of 
Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other professional requirements. It is also to 
ensure that our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service expectations.

This plan summarises our initial assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective audit for the Council, and outlines our 
planned audit strategy in response to those risks.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governance and Audit Committee and management, and is not intended to be 
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you on 15 February 2019, as well as understand whether there are other matters which 
you consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully 

Mark Hodgson

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Governance and Audit Committee Members

Breckland Council

Elizabeth House

Walpole Loke

Dereham

NR19 1EE

24



3

Contents

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-
quality/statement-of-responsibilities/). The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different 
responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National 
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland District Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland District Council for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

Overview of our 
2018/19 audit 
strategy

01 Audit risks02 Audit 
materiality

04 Scope of our 
audit

05

Appendices09Audit team06 Audit 
timeline07 Independence08

Value for 
Money Risks

03

V
F
M

25

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


4

Overview of our 2018/19 audit  
strategy

01 01

26



5

Overview of our 2018/19 audit strategy

Audit risks and areas of focus

Materiality

Risk / area of focus Risk identified Change from PY Details

Misstatements due to fraud or error Fraud risk
No change in risk or 

focus 

As identified in ISA 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud 
because of its ability to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and 
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that would 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 

Incorrect capitalisation of revenue 
expenditure

Fraud risk 
No change in risk or 

focus

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to 
improper revenue recognition. In the public sector, this requirement is modified 
by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which states that 
auditors should also consider the risk that material misstatements may occur by 
the manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

We focus on the risk of incorrect capitalisation of revenue expenditure on 
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE), given the extent of the Council’s capital 
programme. This also links to the risk above as a specific area susceptible to 
manipulation by management.

Valuation of Land and Buildings Inherent risk
No change in risk or 

focus

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Investment Properties 
(IP) represent significant balances in the Council’s accounts and are estimates 
which are subject to valuation changes, impairment reviews and depreciation 
charges. Management is required to make material judgemental inputs and apply 
estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances recorded in the balance 
sheet.

Pension Liability Valuation Inherent risk
No change in risk 

or focus

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the Council 
to make extensive disclosures within its financial statements regarding its 
membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered by Norfolk 
County Council.

The Council’s pension fund liability (£41.609 million as at 31 March 2018) is a 
material estimated balance and the Code requires that the liability be disclosed 
on the Council’s balance sheet. 

Implementation of new accounting 
standards

Inherent risk New area of focus

The 2018/19 CIPFA Code of practice on local authority accounting confirms that  
Local Government will implement International Financial Reporting Standard 
(“IFRS”) 9 – Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. The Council needs to assess and evaluate the implications of these 
new standards on the 2018/19 accounts.

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Governance and Audit 
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.  

27



6

Overview of our 2018/19 audit strategy 

Planning
materiality

£1.5m
Performance 

materiality

£1.1m

Materiality has been set at £1.5 million, which represents 2% of the prior years gross expenditure on provision of services.

Performance materiality has been set at £1.1 million, which represents 75% of materiality.

We will report all uncorrected misstatements relating to the primary statements (comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement, balance sheet, movement in reserves statement, cash flow 
statement, collection fund and group accounts) greater than £74,000.  Other misstatements 
identified will be communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the Governance and 
Audit Committee.

Audit
differences

£74k

Audit scope

This Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:

▪ Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Breckland Council give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2019 and of the 
income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

▪ Our conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

We will also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the form required by them, on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 
return.

Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards.

When planning the audit we take into account several key inputs:

▪ Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;
▪ Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;
▪ The quality of systems and processes;
▪ Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and,
▪ Management’s views on all of the above.

By considering these inputs, our audit is focused on the areas that matter and our feedback is more likely to be relevant to the Council. 

Materiality

28



7

Overview of our 2018/19 audit strategy

Audit team changes

Key changes to our team:

Mark Hodgson
Associate Partner

Mark is replacing Kevin Suter as the Lead Audit Partner following Kevin’s relocation. Mark has significant experience 
on local government audits and leads our Government & Public Sector practice across East Anglia. 

29



8

Audit risks02 01

30



9

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks

What will we do?

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures 

including:

• Identifying fraud risks during the planning stages;

• Inquiry of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in 
place to address those risks;

• Understanding the oversight given by those charged with governance 
of management’s processes over fraud;

• Consideration of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed 
to address the risk of fraud;

• Determining an appropriate strategy to address those identified risks 
of fraud; and

• Performing mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified 
fraud risks, including testing of journal entries and other adjustments 
in the preparation of the financial statements and evaluating the 
business rationale for any significant unusual transactions.

What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free 
of material misstatements whether caused by 
fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK) 240, management is in 
a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of 
its ability to manipulate accounting records 
directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent 
financial statements by overriding controls that 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 

We identify and respond to this fraud risk on 
every audit engagement.

One area susceptible to manipulation is the 
capitalisation of revenue expenditure on 
Property, Plant and Equipment given the extent 
of the Council’s capital programme (see below). 

Misstatements due to fraud or 
error *

We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

31



10

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued) 

What will we do?

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures 

including:

• Obtaining an analysis of capital additions in the year, reconciling to the 
Fixed Assets Register (FAR), and reviewing the descriptions to identify 
whether there are any potential items that could be revenue in nature; 

• Performing sample testing on additions to Property, Plant and 
Equipment, ensuring that they have been correctly classified as capital 
and included at the correct value, to identify any revenue items that 
have been inappropriately capitalised; and

• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general 
ledger moving expenditure items from revenue codes to capital codes.

What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to improper 
revenue recognition. In the public sector, this 
requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which 
states that auditors should also consider the risk 
that material misstatements may occur by the 
manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

As the Council is more focused on its financial 
position over medium term, we have considered 
the risk of manipulation to be more prevalent in 
the inappropriate capitalisation of revenue 
expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment  
given the extent of the Council’s capital 
programme (see above).

Incorrect capitalisation of 
revenue expenditure *

Financial statement impact

We have identified a risk of 
expenditure misstatement due to 
fraud or error that could affect the 
income and expenditure accounts. 

We consider the risk applies to 
capitalisation of revenue 
expenditure and could result in a 
misstatement of cost of services 
reported in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

32



11

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

Valuation of Land and Buildings

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Investment 
Properties (IP) represent significant balances in the Council’s accounts and 
are subject to valuation changes, impairment reviews and depreciation 
charges. Management is required to make material judgemental inputs and 
apply estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances recorded in 
the balance sheet.

The Council will engage an external expert (valuer) who will apply a number 
of complex assumptions to these assets. Assets are assessed annually to 
identify whether there is any indication of impairment.

As the Council’s asset base is significant, and the outputs from the valuer are 
subject to estimation, there is a risk that these assets may be misstated.

ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on 
the use of experts and assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

We will:
• Consider the work performed by the Council’s valuer, including the adequacy of 

the scope of the work performed, their professional capabilities and the results of 
their work;

• Sample test key asset information used by the valuer in performing their valuation 
(e.g. floor plans to support valuations based on price per square metre);

• Consider the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued 
within a 5 year rolling programme as required by the Code for PPE and annually 
for IP. We will also consider whether there are any specific changes occurring to 
assets and that these are communicated to the valuer;

• Review assets that are not subject to valuation in 2018/19 to confirm that the 
remaining asset base is not materially misstated;

• Consider circumstances that require the use of EY valuation specialists to review 
any material specialist assets and the underlying assumptions used;

• Consider changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent 
valuation; and

• Test accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial statements.

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures.

33



12

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus
What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

Pension Liability Valuation

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the 
Council to make extensive disclosures within its financial statements 
regarding its membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
administered by Norfolk County Council.

The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated balance and the 
Code requires that this liability be disclosed on the Council’s balance 
sheet. At 31 March 2018 this totalled £41.609 million.

The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued to the 
Council by the actuary to the County Council.

Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement 
and therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the 
calculations on their behalf. 

ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on 
the use of management experts and the assumptions underlying fair value 
estimates.

We will:
• Liaise with the auditors of Norfolk Pension Fund, to obtain assurances over the 

information supplied to the actuary in relation to Breckland Council;

• Assess the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Hymans) including the assumptions 
they have used by relying on the work of PwC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned 
by Public Sector Auditor Appointments for all Local Government sector auditors, and 
consider any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team; and 

• Review and test the accounting entries and disclosures made within the Council’s 
financial statements in relation to IAS19.

34



13

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus
What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

New accounting standards

The CIPFA Code of practice on local authority accounting (the Code) 
requires the Council to comply with the requirements of two new 
accounting standards for 2018/19. These standards are:

• IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

This new accounting standard will change:
• How financial assets are classified and measured;
• How the impairment of financial assets are calculated; and 
• The disclosure requirements for financial assets.

There are transitional arrangements within the standard; and the 
2018/19 Code provides guidance on the application of IFRS 9.  However,
until further guidance is issued and any statutory overrides are confirmed 
there remains some uncertainty on the accounting treatment.

• IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts

The key requirements of the standard cover the identification of 
performance obligations under customer contracts and the linking of 
income to the meeting of those performance obligations.

The 2018/19 Code provides guidance on the application of IFRS 15 and 
includes a useful flow diagram and commentary on the main sources of LG 
revenue and how they should be recognised. 

The impact on local authority accounting is likely to be limited as large 
revenue streams like council tax, non domestic rates and government 
grants will be outside the scope of IFRS 15. However, where the standard 
is relevant, the recognition of revenue will change and new disclosure 
requirements introduced.

We will:

• Assess the authority’s implementation arrangements that should include an impact 
assessment paper setting out the application of the new standards, transitional 
adjustments and planned accounting for 2018/19;

• Consider the classification and valuation of financial instrument assets;

• Review new expected credit loss model impairment calculations for assets;

• Consider application to the authority’s revenue streams, and where the standard is 
relevant test to ensure revenue is recognised when (or as) it satisfies a 
performance obligation; and

• Check additional disclosure requirements.35



14

Value for Money Risks03 01V
F
M

36



15

Value for Money

Background

We are required to consider whether Breckland Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion. 

For 2018/19 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise 
your arrangements to:

▪ Take informed decisions;
▪ Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
▪ Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework 
for local government to ensure that our assessment is made against a framework that you are already required 
to have in place and to report on through documents such as your annual governance statement.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant, which the Code of 
Audit Practice defines as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would 
be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of sufficient work to enable us to deliver a safe conclusion on 
arrangements to secure value for money and enables us to determine the nature and extent of further work 
that may be required. If we do not identify any significant risks there is no requirement to carry out further 
work.  We consider business and operational risks insofar as they relate to proper arrangements at both sector 
and organisation-specific level.  In 2018/19 this has included consideration of the steps taken by Breckland
Council to consider the impact of Brexit on its future service provision, medium-term financing and investment 
values.  Although the precise impact cannot yet be modelled, we anticipate that Authorities will be carrying out 
scenario planning and that Brexit and its impact will feature on operational risk registers.

Our risk assessment has therefore considered both the potential financial impact of the issues we have 
identified, and also the likelihood that the issue will be of interest to local taxpayers, the Government and other 
stakeholders. This has resulted in the identification of no significant risks relevant to our value for money 
conclusion.

V
F
M

Proper arrangements for 
securing value for money  

Informed 
decision making 

Working with 
partners and 
third parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

37



16

Audit materiality04 01

38



17

Materiality

For planning purposes, materiality for 2018/19 has been set at £1.486 million. This
represents 2% of the Council’s prior year gross expenditure on provision of services. It
will be reassessed throughout the audit process. The rationale for this is that user and
stakeholder focus is on the management and control of expenditure and continued
service delivery, not on returns on funds invested or the generation of profit. We have
provided supplemental information about audit materiality in Appendix C.

Audit materiality

Gross expenditure  
on provision of services

£74m

Planning
materiality

£1.5m

Performance 
materiality

£1.1m
Audit

differences

£74k

Materiality

Planning materiality – the amount over which we anticipate misstatements 
would influence the economic decisions of a user of the financial 
statements.

Performance materiality – the amount we use to determine the extent of 
our audit procedures. We have set performance materiality at £1.1 million 
which represents 75% of planning materiality. We have considered a number 
of factors such as the number of errors in the prior year and any significant 
changes when determining the percentage of performance materiality. 

Component performance materiality range – we determine component 
performance materiality as a percentage of Group performance materiality 
based on risk and relative size to the Group. 

Audit difference threshold – we propose that misstatements identified 
below this threshold are deemed clearly trivial. The same threshold for 
misstatements is used for component reporting. We will report to you all 
uncorrected misstatements over this amount relating to the comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement, balance sheet and collection fund that 
have an effect on income or that relate to other comprehensive income.

Other uncorrected misstatements, such as reclassifications and 
misstatements in the cashflow statement and movement in reserves 
statement or disclosures, and corrected misstatements will be 
communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the 
Governance and Audit Committee, or are important from a qualitative 
perspective. 

Specific materiality – We have set a materiality of £74,000 for related 
party transactions and members allowances and £5,000 for officer’s 
remuneration and exit packages disclosures which reflects our 
understanding that an amount less than our materiality would influence the 
economic decisions of users of the financial statements in relation to this.

Key definitions

We request that the Governance and Audit Committee confirm its understanding of, 
and agreement to, these materiality and reporting levels.

Component 
performance 
materiality

£223k

39



18

Scope of our audit05 01

40



19

Objective and Scope of our Audit scoping

Under the Code of Audit Practice our principal objectives are to review and report on the Council’s financial statements and arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources to the extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.

We issue an audit report that covers:

1. Financial statement audit 

Our objective is to form an opinion on the financial statements under International Standards on Auditing (UK). 

We also perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards, the Code and other regulations. We outline below the procedures we 
will undertake during the course of our audit.

Procedures required by standards
• Addressing the risk of fraud and error;
• Significant disclosures included in the financial statements;
• Entity-wide controls;
• Reading other information contained in the financial statements and reporting whether it is inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and
• Auditor independence.

Procedures required by the Code
• Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement; and
• Reviewing and reporting on the Whole of Government Accounts return, in line with the instructions issued by the NAO.

2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money)

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources.

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy

41



20

Audit Process Overview

Our audit involves: 
• Identifying and understanding the key processes and internal controls; and

• Substantive tests of detail of transactions and amounts.

For 2018/19 we plan to follow a substantive approach to the audit as we have concluded this is the most efficient way to obtain the level of audit assurance required 
to conclude that the financial statements are not materially misstated. 

Analytics:
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of your financial data, in particular journal entries. These tools:
• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more traditional substantive audit tests; and 

• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques.

We will report the findings from our process and analytics work, including any significant weaknesses or inefficiencies identified and recommendations for 
improvement, to management and the Governance and Audit Committee. 

Internal audit:
As in prior years, we will review internal audit plans and the results of their work. We will reflect the findings from these reports, together with reports from any other 
work completed in the year, in our detailed audit plan, where they raise issues that could have an impact on the financial statements.

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy (continued)

42



21

Group scoping

Our audit strategy for performing an audit of an entity with multiple locations is risk based. We identify components as:
1. Significant components: A component is significant when it is likely to include risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements, either

because of its relative financial size to the group (quantitative criteria), or because of its specific nature or circumstances (qualitative criteria). We 
generally assign significant components a full or specific scope given their importance to the financial statements.

2. Not significant components: The number of additional components and extent of procedures performed depended primarily on: evidence from significant 
components, the effectiveness of group wide controls and the results of analytical procedures. 

For all other components we perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of material misstatement within those locations. These procedures are detailed 
below. 

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit

Scoping by Entity

Our preliminary audit scopes by number of locations we have adopted are set 
out below.  

Full scope audits

Specific scope audits

Review scope audits

Specified procedures

0 A

0 B

0 C

0 D

1 E Other procedures

Scope definitions

Full scope: locations where a full audit is performed to the materiality levels 
assigned by the Group audit team for purposes of the consolidated audit. 
Procedures performed at full scope locations support an interoffice conclusion on 
the reporting package.  These may not be sufficient to issue a stand-alone audit 
opinion on the local statutory financial statements because of the materiality used 
and any additional procedures required to comply with local laws and regulations. 

Specific scope: locations where the audit is limited to specific accounts or 
disclosures identified by the Group audit team based on the size and/or risk profile 
of those accounts.  

Review scope: locations where procedures primarily consist of analytical 
procedures and inquiries of management. On-site or desk top reviews may be 
performed, according to our assessment of risk and the availability of information 
centrally.

Specified Procedures: locations where the component team performs procedures 
specified by the Group audit team in order to respond to a risk identified.

Other procedures: For those locations that we do not consider material to the 
Group financial statements in terms of size relative to the Group and risk, we 
perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of material misstatement 
within those locations. 

43



22

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit (continued) 

Coverage of expenditure

We set audit scopes for each reporting unit which, when taken together, enable us 
to form an opinion on the group accounts. We take into account the size, risk 
profile, changes in the business environment, and other factors when assessing 
the level of work to be performed at each reporting unit.

Based on the group’s prior year results, our scoping is expected to achieve the 
following coverage of the group’s expenditure:

Our audit approach is risk based and therefore the data above on coverage is 
provided for your information only.

Details of other procedures

• Our approach to other procedures is as follows:

• Obtain management’s review of actual performance compared to 
budget, prior year and KPIs;

• Review of group wide entity level controls;

• Perform analytical review procedures; 

• Test consolidation procedures and journals;

• Enquiry of management about unusual transactions;

• Review of management’s reconciliation of local statutory accounts to 
the group accounts.

Key changes in scope from last year

• There is no change in scope from the previous year. Breckland Bridge Ltd 
remains a not significant component as determined by its size and risk.

of the group’s expenditure will be 
covered by other procedures, with 
the remainder covered by the 
single entity’s audit. 

2%Expenditure

44



23

Audit team06 01

45



24

Overview of our 2018/19 audit strategy 

Audit team structure 

Audit team

The engagement team is led by Mark Hodgson, who has significant public sector audit experience. Mark is supported by Alison Riglar who is responsible for the day-to-
day direction of audit work and is the key point of contact for the Chief Accountant. The day-to-day audit team will be led by Rodrique Thomas as the Lead Senior on 
the audit. 

Mark Hodgson

Lead Audit Partner

Alison Riglar

Audit Manager

Rodrique Thomas

Lead Senior

Working together with the Council

We are working together with officers to identify 
continuing improvements in communication and 
processes for the 2018/19 audit. 

We will continue to keep our audit approach 
under review to streamline it where possible.46



25

Audit team

Use of specialists
Our approach to the involvement of specialists, and the use of their work. 

When auditing key judgements, we are often required to rely on the input and advice provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not possessed by the 
core audit team. The areas where either EY or third party specialists provide input for the current year audit are:

Area Specialists

Valuation of Land and Buildings EY Valuations Team and District Valuer (the Council’s property valuer)

Pensions disclosures EY Pensions Team, PwC (Consulting Actuary to PSAA) and Hymans Robertson (the Council’s actuary)

Business rate appeals Wilks, Head and Eve (the Council’s management expert) 

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, experience and 
available resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.

We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the Council’s business and processes and our assessment of audit risk in the particular 
area. For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:

• Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the specialist to establish whether the source data is relevant and reliable;

• Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used; 

• Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work; and

• Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the financial statements.

47



26

Audit timeline07 01

48



27

Audit timeline

Below is a timetable showing the key stages of the audit and the deliverables we have agreed to provide to you through the audit cycle in 2018/19.

From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the Governance and Audit Committee and we will discuss them with the Governance 
and Audit Committee Chair as appropriate. We will also provide updates on corporate governance and regulatory matters as necessary.

Timeline

Timetable of communication and deliverables

Feb Apr AugNov Mar JunOct Jan May Jul SepDec

Planning Interim Audit Substantive testingWalkthroughs

Planning

Risk assessment 
and setting of 

scopes

Audit Plan

Reporting our 
independence, risk 

assessment, planned 
audit approach and the 

scope of our audit

Walkthroughs

Walkthrough of key 
systems and processes

Interim Update

Report by exception our 
interim work and any 

control observations and 
progress of our work on 

significant risks

Annual Audit Letter

The Annual Audit Letter 
will be provided following 
completion of our audit 

procedures

Audit Results Report

Reporting our conclusions on 
key judgements and estimates 

and confirmation of our 
independence

Year End Audit

Work begins on our year end 
audit. This is when we will 

complete any substantive testing 
not completed at interim

Interim Audit

Controls assessment and 
early substantive testing

49



28

Independence08 01

50



29

Independence

The FRC Ethical Standard and ISA (UK) 260 “Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance”, requires us to communicate with you on a timely basis 
on all significant facts and matters that bear upon our integrity, objectivity and independence. The Ethical Standard, as revised in June 2016, requires that we 
communicate formally both at the planning stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the course of the audit if appropriate.  The aim of these 
communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your governance on matters in which you have an interest.

In addition, during the course of the audit, we are required to communicate with you whenever any significant judgements are made about threats to objectivity and 
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place, for example, when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services.

We also provide information on any contingent fee arrangements , the amounts of any future services that have been contracted, and details of any written proposal to 
provide non-audit services that has been submitted.

We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you and your affiliates for the provision of services during the reporting period, 
analysed in appropriate categories, are disclosed.

Required communications

Planning stage Final stage

► The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and 
independence identified by Ernst & Young (EY) 
including consideration of all relationships between 
the you, your affiliates and directors and us;

► The safeguards adopted and the reasons why they 
are considered to be effective, including any 
Engagement Quality review;

► The overall assessment of threats and safeguards;

► Information about the general policies and process 
within EY to maintain objectivity and independence; 
and

► Where EY has determined it is appropriate to apply 
more restrictive independence rules than permitted 
under the Ethical Standard.

► In order for you to assess the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm and each covered person, 
we are required to provide a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit 
services) that may bear on our integrity, objectivity and independence. This is required to have regard to 
relationships with the entity, its directors and senior management, its affiliates, and its connected parties 
and the threats to integrity or objectivity, including those that could compromise independence that these 
create.  We are also required to disclose any safeguards that we have put in place and why they address 
such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable our objectivity and independence to 
be assessed;

► Details of non-audit services provided and the fees charged in relation thereto;

► Written confirmation that the firm and each covered person is  independent and, if applicable, that any 
non-EY firms used in the group audit or external experts used have confirmed their independence to us;

► Written confirmation that all covered persons are independent;

► Details of any inconsistencies between FRC Ethical Standard and your  policy for the supply of non-audit 
services by EY and any apparent breach of that policy; 

► Details of any contingent fee arrangements for non-audit services provided by us or our network firms; 
and

► An opportunity to discuss auditor independence issues.

Introduction

51



30

Independence

We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence, including the principal threats, 
if any.  We have adopted the safeguards noted below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they are considered to be effective. However we will only 
perform non–audit services if the service has been pre-approved in accordance with your policy.

Self interest threats

A self interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in the Council.  Examples include where we receive significant fees in respect of non-audit services; 
where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we enter into a business relationship with you.  At the time of writ ing, there are no long outstanding fees. 

We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake permissible non-audit services and we will comply with the policies that you have approved.  

None of the services are prohibited under the FRC's ES or the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 and the services have been approved in accordance with 
your policy on pre-approval. The ratio of non audit fees to audits fees is not permitted to exceed 70%.

At the time of writing, the current ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees is approximately 37.2%. This is based on the planned fee for the agreed upon procedures work for 
the Housing Benefits certification work. No additional safeguards are required.

A self interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to you.  We 
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service lines, has objectives or is rewarded in relation to sales to you, in compliance 
with Ethical Standard part 4. 

The table on the following page sets out the self interest threats that exist as the date of this report.

Overall Assessment

Overall, we consider that the safeguards that have been adopted appropriately mitigate the principal threats identified and we therefore confirm that EY is independent 
and the objectivity and independence of Mark Hodgson, your audit engagement partner and the audit engagement team have not been compromised.

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

Self review threats

Self review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in 
the financial statements.

There are no self review threats at the date of this report. 

Management threats

Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management of the Council.  Management threats may also arise during the provision of 
a non-audit service in relation to which management is required to make judgements or decision based on that work.

There are no management threats at the date of this report. 

52



31

Independence

Other threats

Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.

There are no other threats at the date of this report. 

Description of service Related independence threat Period provided/duration
Safeguards adopted and reasons considered to be 
effective

We have been engaged to undertake 
the audit of the Housing Benefits 
Subsidy Claim 2018/19. The agreed 
upon procedures on the certification 
arrangements are due to start in April. 
Our current fee level is  £12,765 
however we will update you should 
this amount change.

Self review threat – figures 
included in the return are also 
included in the 2018/19 
financial statements.

Relates to 2018/19 return 
for the period to 31 March 
2019. 

We have assessed the related threats to 
independence and note that although certain figures 
in the return are included in the financial statements 
the agreed upon procedures are being performed 
after the signing of the financial statements for 
2018/19. 

The agreed upon procedures focus on the specific 
requirements of the certification arrangements and 
we place limited reliance on this work for the 
purposes of the financial statements audit. No other 
threats to independence have been identified. 

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

EY Transparency Report 2017

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence 
and integrity are maintained. 

Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm 
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year ended 1 July 2018 and can be found here: 

https://www.ey.com/uk/en/about-us/ey-uk-transparency-report-2018

Other communications

53

https://www.ey.com/uk/en/about-us/ey-uk-transparency-report-2018


32

Appendices09 01

54



33

Appendix A

Fees

Planned fee 
2018/19

Scale fee
2018/19

Final Fee
2017/18

£’s £’s £’s

Total Fee – Code work 36,653 – Note 1 34,293 47,789

Total audit 36,653 34,293 47,789

Other non-audit services not 
covered above (Housing
Benefits)

12,765 – Note 2 N/A 14,959

Total other non-audit services 12,765 N/A 14,959

Total fees 49,418 34,293 62,748

The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government. 

PSAA has published a scale fee for all relevant bodies. This is defined as the fee required by auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in accordance with the NAO Code. 

All fees exclude VAT

Note 1 – The 2018/19 scale fee does not include any costs associated with the audit 
of the Council’s group accounts. This Scale Fee Variation is subject to approval by 
PSAA Ltd.

Note 2 – From 2018/19, the Council is responsible for appointing their own reporting 
accountant to undertake the work on their claims in accordance with the instructions 
determined by the relevant grant paying body. 

As your appointed auditor for the financial statements audit, we are pleased that for 
2018/19 the Council has appointed us to act as reporting accountants in relation to 
the housing benefit subsidy claim. There is therefore no scale fee prescribed by PSAA 
as it is no longer within their remit.

The planned fee shown, is based on the level of error within the current claim and the 
work required to certify that. This may change dependent on the level of error within 
the claim under review.

The agreed fee presented is based on the following assumptions:

► The level of risk in relation to the financial statements and VFM 
arrangements remains the same; 

► Officers meeting the agreed timetable of deliverables;

► Our accounts opinion and value for money conclusion being 
unqualified;

► Appropriate quality of documentation is provided by the Council; and

► The Council has an effective control environment.

If any of the above assumptions prove to be unfounded, we will seek a 
variation to the agreed fee. This will be discussed with the Council in 
advance.

Fees for the auditor’s consideration of correspondence from the public 
and formal objections will be charged in addition to the scale fee.

55



34

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Governance and Audit Committee of acceptance of terms of 
engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies. 

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.

Planning and audit 
approach 

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the 
significant risks identified.

When communicating key audit matters this includes the most significant risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) including those that have the greatest effect on 
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team.

Audit Plan - February 2019

Significant findings from 
the audit 

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management

• Written representations that we are seeking

• Expected modifications to the audit report

• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee
We have detailed the communications that we must provide to the Governance and Audit Committee.

56



35

Appendix B

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless prohibited by 
law or regulation 

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods 

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected 

• Corrected misstatements that are significant

• Material misstatements corrected by management 

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Fraud • Enquiries of the Governance and Audit Committee to determine whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a 
fraud may exist

• A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Related parties • Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties 
including, when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management 

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions 

• Disagreement over disclosures 

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations 

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity 

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals 
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence

Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of 
independence and objectivity such as:

• The principal threats

• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness

• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards

• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity 
and independence.

Audit Plan – February 2019
Audit Results Report – July 2019

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued)

57



36

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Consideration of laws and 
regulations 

• Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material and 
believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with legislation 
on tipping off

• Enquiry of the Governance and Audit Committee into possible instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial 
statements and that the Governance and Audit Committee may be aware of

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Internal controls • Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit Audit Results Report – July 2019

Group audits • An overview of the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the 
components

• An overview of the nature of the group audit team’s planned involvement in the work to 
be performed by the component auditors on the financial information of significant 
components

• Instances where the group audit team’s evaluation of the work of a component auditor 
gave rise to a concern about the quality of that auditor’s work

• Any limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement team’s 
access to information may have been restricted

• Fraud or suspected fraud involving group management, component management, 
employees who have significant roles in group-wide controls or others where the fraud 
resulted in a material misstatement of the group financial statements

Audit Plan – February 2019
Audit Results Report – July 2019

58



37

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Representations Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with 
governance

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Material inconsistencies 
and misstatements

Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which 
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Auditors report • Key audit matters that we will include in our auditor’s report

• Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report

Audit Results Report – July 2019

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit plan is agreed

• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

• Any non-audit work 

Audit Plan – February 2019
Audit Results Report – July 2019

Certification work Summary of certification work undertaken Annual Certification Report – January 2020

59



38

Appendix C

Additional audit information

Our responsibilities  required 
by auditing standards

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Council to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Reading other information contained in the financial 
statements, including the board’s statement that the annual report is fair, balanced and understandable, the Governance and Audit 
Committee reporting appropriately addresses matters communicated by us to the Governance and Audit Committee and reporting 
whether it is materially inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and

• Maintaining auditor independence.

Other required procedures during the course of the audit

In addition to the key areas of audit focus outlined in section 2, we have to perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards and 
other regulations. We outline the procedures below that we will undertake during the course of our audit.

60



39

Appendix C

Additional audit information (continued)

Purpose and evaluation of materiality 

For the purposes of determining whether the accounts are free from material error, we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, 
individually or in the aggregate, in light of the surrounding circumstances, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial 
statements. Our evaluation of it requires professional judgement and necessarily takes into account qualitative as well as quantitative considerations implicit in the 
definition. We would be happy to discuss with you your expectations regarding our detection of misstatements in the financial statements. 

Materiality determines:

• The locations at which we conduct audit procedures to support the opinion given on the financial statements; and

• The level of work performed on individual account balances and financial statement disclosures.

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all of the 
circumstances that may ultimately influence our judgement about materiality. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all matters that could 
be significant to users of the accounts, including the total effect of the audit misstatements we identify, and our evaluation of materiality at that date.

61



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2018 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

62



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Head of Internal Audit 

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 15 February 2019

Author: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit
Faye Haywood, Internal Audit Manager

Subject: Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2019/20

Purpose: This report provides an overview of the stages followed prior to the 
formulation of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 to 2021/22 and the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20. 
The Annual Internal Audit Plan will then serve as the work programme for the 
Council’s Internal Audit Services Contractor; TIAA Ltd. 
It will also provide the basis for the Annual Audit Opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of Breckland District Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.

Recommendation(s):

1) That the Committee notes and approves:

a) the Internal Audit Strategy for 2019/20;
b) the Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 to 2021/22; and
c) the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2019/20.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 Those standards are set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which 
came into effect in April 2013.

1.3 The attached report contains; 

o the Internal Audit Strategy, which is a strategic high level statement on how the 
internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the charter 
and how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities;

o the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, which details the plan of work for the next three 
financial years;

o the Annual Internal Audit Plan, which details the timing and the purpose of each 
audit agreed for inclusion in 2019/20; and

63

Agenda Item 11



2.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The risk-based internal audit plans will add real value to the Council, have a defined and 
specific scope for each review and ensure that risks in relation to the service area are being 
reviewed by Internal Audit, thus enabling best practice to be followed.

3.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

3.1 The Council’s key business risks will be addressed by Internal Audit, thus ensuring that 
appropriate controls are in place to mitigate such risks and also ensure that the appropriate 
and proportionate level of action is taken.

3.2 The Internal Audit Service will be seen to add value, become a useful management tool 
and link more directly to the Council’s risk management processes

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas and risks reviewed are working 
towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Financial

4.2.1 The Internal Audit Service is provided by way of a Partnership Agreement with South 
Norfolk Council, whereby South Norfolk Council provide the role of the Head of Internal 
Audit and Contract Manager to Breckland Council, and the service provision i.e. delivery of 
the audits, is provided through a contract with TIAA Ltd. The 2019/20 plans have been set 
within the approved budget.

4.3 Risk Management 

4.3.1 The Risk Based Internal Audit approach will ensure that the Council’s key risks are 
accurately reviewed and updated and thus the Internal Audit Service is adding value and 
auditing the key risk areas.

4.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

4.4.1 The Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans for 2019/20 have been consulted upon with 
Senior Managers, the Executive Management Team and External Audit, prior to coming to 
the Committee.

Background papers: None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:  Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting: Faye Haywood, Internal Audit Manager

64



Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision:  No

Appendices attached to this report: Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2019/20

65



Page 1 of 26

Eastern Internal Audit Services

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2019/20

Responsible Officer: Head of Internal Audit

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................2
2. AUDIT CHARTER............................................................................................................2
3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY.......................................................................................3
4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ...........................................................................3
5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2019/20 ...................................................................3
APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER ......................................................................5
APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY ..................................................................13
APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN.......................................................17
APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN ...............................................................22

66



Page 2 of 26

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) mandate a periodic preparation of a risk-
based plan, which must incorporate or be linked to a strategic high level statement on how 
the internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the charter and 
how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities, this is set out in the Internal Audit 
Strategy.

1.3 Risk is defined as 'the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact on the 
achievement of objectives’. Risk can be a positive and negative aspect, so as well as 
managing things that could have an adverse impact (downside risk) it is also important to 
look at potential benefits (upside risk).

1.4 The development of a risk-based plan takes into account the organisation's risk 
management framework. The process identifies the assurance (and consulting) assignments 
for a specific period, by identifying and prioritising all those areas on which objective 
assurance is required. This is then also applied when carrying out individual risk based 
assignments to provide assurance on part of the risk management framework, including the 
mitigation of individual or groups of risks. 

1.5 The following factors are also taken into account when developing the internal audit plan:

 Any declarations of interest so as to avoid conflicts of interest;
 The requirements of the use of specialists e.g. IT auditors;
 Striking the right balance over the range of reviews needing to be delivered, for 

example systems and risk based reviews, specific key controls testing, value for 
money and added value reviews;

 The relative risk maturity of the Council;
 Allowing contingency time to undertake ad-hoc reviews or fraud investigations as 

necessary;
 The time required to carry out the audit planning process effectively as well as 

regular reporting to and attendance at Governance and Audit Committee, the 
development of the annual report and opinion and the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme.

1.6 In accordance with best practice the Governance and Audit Committee should ‘review and 
assess the annual internal audit work plan’. 

2. AUDIT CHARTER

2.1 There is an obligation under the PSIAS for the Charter to be periodically reviewed and 
presented. This Charter is therefore reviewed annually by the Head of Internal Audit to 
confirm its ongoing validity and completeness, and presented to the Section 151 Officer, 
Senior Management and the Governance and Audit Committee every two years, or as 
required for review.

2.2 The latest version of the Charter included at Appendix 1 of this report has been updated to 
reference the Internal Audit Manager role, reporting to the Head of Internal Audit and 
responsible for providing management oversight on the performance of the contractor. 

67



Page 3 of 26

2.3 As part of the review of the Audit Charter the Code of Ethics are also reviewed by the Head 
of Internal Audit, and it is ensured that the Internal Audit Services contractor staff, as well as 
the Head of Internal Audit adhere to these, specifically with regard to; integrity, objectivity, 
confidentiality and competency. Formal sign off to acceptance of the Code of Ethics is 
retained by the Head of Internal Audit.

3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

3.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy (see Appendix 2) is to confirm:

 How internal audit services will be delivered;
 How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 How internal audit services links to organisational objectives and priorities; and
 How the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

4.1 The overarching objective of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan (see Appendix 3) is to provide 
a comprehensive programme of review work over the next three years, with each year 
providing sufficient audit coverage to give annual opinions, which can be used to inform the 
organisation’s Annual Governance Statement.

4.2 The coverage over the forthcoming years has been discussed with Executive Management 
Team to ensure that audits are undertaken at the right time, at a time where value can be 
added, as well as ensuring sufficient coverage for an Annual Opinion on the framework of 
governance, risk management and control. The discussions also went into greater detail in 
relation to the scope of the audits for the forthcoming financial year.

4.3 The Strategic Plan has also taken account of the audits that have been deferred from 
2018/19; Breckland Bridge and Environmental Protection as previously reported through to 
the Governance and Audit Committee.

5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2019/20

5.1 Having developed the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, the Annual Internal Audit Plan is an 
extract of this for the forthcoming financial year (see Appendix 4). This details the areas 
being reviewed by Internal Audit in 2019/20, the number of days for each review, the quarter 
during which the audit will take place and a brief summary / purpose of the review and 
highlights those audit reviews which we be jointly undertaken with South Holland DC.

5.2 The Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 totals 205 days, 170 of which is provided by 
Eastern Internal Audit Services and 35 days of which are provided through the arrangements 
in place for Anglian Revenues Partnership (ARP) arrangements.

5.3 The work to be provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services encompasses 18 audits, nine of 
which will be jointly carried out at Breckland DC and South Holland DC:

5.4 Audit verification work concerning audit recommendations implemented to improve the 
Council’s internal control environment will also be undertaken throughout the financial year.

68



Page 4 of 26

5.5 The Head of Internal Audit / Internal Audit Manager is a member of the Finance Board and 
attends the Performance, Risk and Audit Board as appropriate, both of which have 
established terms of reference. Participating in these Boards results in a greater awareness 
of Council business and key activities and has also resulted in good working relationships 
being maintained with key officers.

69



Page 5 of 26

APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER FOR 2019/20

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came into effect from 1 April 2013, these 
provide a consolidated approach across the public sector encouraging continuity, sound 
corporate governance and transparency.

1.2 The Standards require all internal audit services to implement, monitor and review an 
internal audit charter; this formally defines the internal audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility, and is a mandatory document. 

1.3 The charter also displays formal commitment to and recognises the mandatory nature of the 
Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 
Standards, I.e. the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF). 

1.4 This Internal Audit Charter is applicable to each of the following internal audit consortium 
members covered by Eastern Internal Audit Services (EIAS). 

 Breckland District Council;
 Broadland District Council;
 Great Yarmouth Borough Council;
 North Norfolk District Council
 South Holland District Council; 
 South Norfolk Council; and
 Broads Authority.

1.5 The term Local Authority will be used to describe the above consortium members throughout 
the Charter.

1.6 Mission

Standards require the Internal Audit Function to articulate its overall purpose and summarise 
the way it will provide value to the organisation. The mission statement for EIAS is as 
follows:

“Protecting each of our consortium members ability to enhance value through the provision 
of independent risk-based assurance and advice”

1.7 This charter:
 Establishes the position and reporting lines of internal audit;
 Outlines provision for unrestricted access to information, officers, management and 

members as appropriate;
 Sets the tone for internal audit activities;
 Defines the nature and scope of internal audit services, in particular assurance and 

consultancy services; and
 Sets out the nature and scope of assurance provided to other parties.

1.8 The charter is to be periodically reviewed and presented to Senior Management and the 
Board for approval. The charter will be reviewed annually by the Chief Audit Executive to 

70



Page 6 of 26

confirm its ongoing completeness and validity, and presented to Senior Management and 
the Board every 2 years for review.

2 Purpose, Authority and Responsibility

2.1 Purpose

2.1.1 Internal auditing is best summarised through its definition with the Standards, “an 
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 
an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes”.

2.1.2 Internal audit will provide reasonable assurance to each member of the Internal Audit 
Consortium, that necessary arrangements are in place and operating effectively, and to 
identify risk exposures and areas where improvements can be made.

2.2 Authority

2.2.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015, states that the relevant body must; 
“undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance”. The statutory requirement for internal audit is recognised in the 
Constitution of each Local Authority and the internal auditing standards in this regard are the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

2.2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Statement on the Role 
of the Head of Internal Audit confirms that this person is responsible for the organisation’s 
internal audit service, including drawing up the internal audit strategy and annual plan and 
giving the annual audit opinion. The requirements of this statement are fully adhered to by 
the Chief Audit Executive.

2.3 Responsibility

2.3.1 The responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit to evaluate risk 
management, control and governance processes lies with each Local Authority’s Chief 
Finance Officer (the Section 151 Officer or Section 17 Officer).

2.3.2 The Local Authority and its Members must be satisfied about the adequacy of the advice and 
support it receives from internal audit.

2.3.3 Internal audit is provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services, with the Chief Audit Executive 
responsible for ensuring the internal audit activity is undertaken in accordance with the 
definition of internal auditing, the code of ethics and the standards.

2.3.4 Senior management are responsible for ensuring that internal control, risk management and 
governance arrangements are sufficient to address the risks facing the Local Authority. 
Accountability for responding to internal audit rests with senior management who either 
accept and implement the recommendations, or formally reject it. Any advice that is rejected 
will be formally reported. 

3 Key Relationships and Position in the Organisation

3.1 The standards require the terms ‘Chief Audit Executive’, ‘Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ to 
be defined in the context of the governance arrangements in each public sector organisation 

71



Page 7 of 26

in order to safeguard the independence and objectivity of internal audit. The following 
interpretations are applied within Eastern Internal Audit Services.

3.2 Chief Audit Executive

3.2.1 The Chief Audit Executive is based at South Norfolk Council and provides the Head of 
Internal Audit role to all consortium members with the exception of South Norfolk Council. 

At South Norfolk Council, the Chief Audit Executive undertakes the Head of Governance 
role, administratively reporting to the Assistant Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer).  
Due to extra responsibilities undertaken and the Internal Audit Manager currently finalising 
qualifications, the Head of Internal Audit role here is undertaken by a contractor to ensure 
that independence is safeguarded.

3.2.2 The Head of Internal Audit reports functionally to the Board and administratively to the 
Section 151 Officer or Section 17 Officer at all other members of the consortium. 

3.2.3 The Head of Internal Audit also has a direct line of reporting and unfettered access to the 
Chief Executive, the Senior Management Team at each Local Authority and the Chair of the 
Board at each Local Authority. The Head of Internal Audit is also supported by the Internal 
Audit Manager. 

3.2.4 The delivery of the Annual Audit Plans and any specified ad-hoc assignments is provided by 
an external contractor, TIAA ltd from 1 April 2015. The Chief Audit Executive manages this 
contract with support from the Internal Audit Manager. 

3.3 Board

3.3.1 In the context of overseeing the work of Internal Audit at each Local Authority, the ‘Board’ 
will be the Audit Committee (or equivalent) of the Local Authority, which has been 
established as part of the governance arrangements. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities 
are discharged through each of the Local Authority’s Constitution’s and explicitly referred to 
in each terms of reference.

3.3.2 This functional reporting includes; 
 Approving the audit charter, audit strategy and risk based annual plans;
 Receiving regular reports on the outcomes of internal audit activity and performance;
 Receiving regular reports on management action in relation to agreed internal audit 

recommendations;
 Receiving the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head of Internal Audit, alongside a 

conclusion as to the effectiveness of internal audit;
 Overseeing External Assessments of the Internal Audit Service, at least once every 5 

years.  

3.3.3 Internal Audit work closely with the chair and members of the Audit Committee to facilitate 
and support their activities, part of which includes facilitating a self- assessment and 
providing training.  

3.4 Senior Management

3.4.1 ‘Senior Management’ is those individuals responsible for the leadership and direction of the 
organisation, and are responsible for specific aspects of internal control, risk management 
and governance arrangements. There is effective liaison between internal audit and senior 
management to ensure that independence remains, and provides for a critical challenge. 

72



Page 8 of 26

3.4.2 The Head of Internal Audit or Internal Audit Manager meets regularly with the Section 151 
Officer or Section 17 Officer to ensure organisational awareness is maintained, to discuss 
progress with the agreed Internal Audit Plan and to maintain a good working relationship.  
These arrangements facilitate discussions in relation to the current and emerging risks and 
issues to ensure that the internal audit plan of work remains reflective and also responds as 
required. 

3.5 External Audit

3.5.1 Regular liaison is maintained with External Audit to consult on audit plans, and to discuss 
matters of mutual interest. The external auditors have the opportunity to take account of the 
work of internal audit where appropriate. 

3.6 Other Internal Audit Service Providers

3.6.1 Where appropriate internal audit will liaise with other internal audit providers, where shared 
arrangements exist. In such cases, a dialogue will be opened with the Chief Audit Executive 
to agree a way forward regarding the auditing of such shared services. This is to ensure an 
efficient and effective approach, and enable reliance on each other’s outcomes. Where 
formal arrangements are entered into a protocol will be determined and agreed by both Chief 
Audit Executives.

3.6.2 Internal audit will also co-operate with all external review and inspection bodies that are 
authorised to access and evaluate the activities of the Local Authority, to determine 
compliance with regulations and standards. Assurances arising from this work will be taken 
into account where applicable.

4 Rights of Access

4.1 Internal audit, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and 
information, is authorised to have the right of access to all records, assets, personnel and 
premises and has authority to obtain such information and explanations as it considers 
necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. This access is full, free and unrestricted and is set out 
in each Local Authority’s Constitution.

4.2 Such access shall be granted on demand and shall not be subject to prior notice, although in 
principle, the provision of prior notice will be given wherever possible and appropriate, 
unless circumstances dictate otherwise.

5 Objective and Scope

5.1 The provision of assurance services is the primary role of Eastern Internal Audit Services, 
thus allowing the Head of Internal Audit to provide an annual audit opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Local Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and 
control, together with reasons if the opinion is unfavourable. 

5.2 Internal audit will also provide consultancy services, at the request of management. These 
reviews are advisory in nature and generally performed to facilitate improved governance, 
risk management and control. This work may contribute to the annual audit opinion. 

5.3 Whichever role / remit is carried out by internal audit the scope is to be determined by 
internal audit, through discussions with senior management, however this scope will not be 
unduly bias nor shall it be restricted. 

73



Page 9 of 26

5.4 A risk based Strategic Internal Audit Plan will be developed each year to determine an 
appropriate level of risk based audit coverage required to generate an annual audit opinion. 
The plan will be derived from risk assessments, discussions with Senior Management and 
Audit Committee taking prior year’s assurance results into account. 

5.5 Each audit review will be designed to provide evidence based assurance over the 
management of risk and controls within that area. The results of each review will be shared 
with management so that any required improvements can be actioned to restore satisfactory 
systems of internal control. 

5.6 It is management’s responsibility to control the risk of fraud and corruption; however internal 
audit will be alert to such risks in all the work that is undertaken. In addition, the Head of 
Internal Audit is either responsible for, or is consulted on, related policy and strategy. These 
include for example; Counter Fraud, Corruption, Anti-Bribery, Whistleblowing, Anti-Money 
Laundering and includes the related promotion and training for officers and councillors.

5.7 Through the contract in place with TIAA Ltd there are other services that can be provided, 
these include: fraud investigations, grant certification and digital forensics.

6 Independence and Objectivity 

6.1 Internal Audit must be sufficiently independent of the activities that are audited to enable an 
impartial, unbiased and effective professional judgement. All internal auditors working within 
Eastern Internal Audit Services, annually confirm their adherence the Code of Ethics, which 
sets out the minimum standards for performance and conduct. The four core principles are 
integrity, objectivity, confidentiality and competency.

6.2 As contractors the TIAA Internal auditors have no operational responsibility or authority over 
any of the activities which they are required to review. They do not engage in any other 
activity, which would impair their judgement, objectivity or independence. 

6.3 The Head of Internal Audit has overall responsibility for the management and strategic 
direction of the Internal Audit Service. At South Norfolk Council there are additional 
responsibilities that fall outside of internal auditing. These include;

 Monitoring Officer
 Democratic Services
 Legal Services
 Freedom of Information 
 General Data Protection Regulation
 Risk Management
 Procurement
 Health and Safety

Safeguards exist to limit any impairments that may occur to the independence and objectivity 
at South Norfolk Council. The Internal Audit Manager assumes responsibility for the daily 
management, progress reporting and quality assurance of any internal audit work carried out 
by the contractor and does not have any involvement in the above mentioned activities. 

In line with the PSIAS requirements, until the Internal Audit Manager is CMIIA qualified, the 
Head of Internal Audit role at South Norfolk Council will be provided by a contractor 
responsible for presenting the Annual Audit Opinion. The Head of Internal Audit will continue 
to provide the Annual Audit Opinion for all other consortium members. 

74



Page 10 of 26

6.4 If the independence or objectivity of the Head of Internal Audit is impaired, or appears to be, 
the details of the impairment will be disclosed to the Internal Audit Manager and / or senior 
management. The nature of the disclosure will depend upon the impairment.

7 Professional Standards

7.1 The Internal Audit Service and all Internal Audit staff operate in accordance with all 
mandatory guidance within the PSIAS including the Core Principles for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, the Standards and Definition of Internal 
Auditing. Internal Auditors also have regard for the principles contained within the Standards 
of Public Life. 

8 Internal Audit Resources

8.1 The Head of Internal Audit will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and 
have wide ranging internal audit management experience to enable them to deliver the 
responsibilities of the role. 

8.2 The Head of Internal Audit is supported by the Internal Audit Consortium Manager in 
ensuring the Internal Audit Service has access through the contract to a team of staff who 
have the appropriate range of knowledge, skills and experience to deliver the audit service. 

9 Audit Planning

9.1 The Head of Internal Audit, supported by the Internal Audit Manager develops a strategy, 
alongside a strategic and annual internal audit plan, using a risk based approach. 

9.2 The Internal Audit Strategy provides a clear direction for internal audit services and creates a 
link between the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

9.3 The annual internal audit plan of work, developed as per the Internal Audit Strategy, is 
derived using a risk based approach, discussed with Senior Management and approved by 
the Audit Committee. The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the delivery of the internal 
audit plan, which will be kept under regular review and reported to the Audit Committee.

10 Audit Reporting

10.1 On conclusion of each assurance review included within the annual internal audit plan, a 
report will be provided to management giving an opinion on the adequacy of controls in place 
to manage risk. This report will provide an assurance level and associated recommendations 
to ensure that risks are appropriately addressed. 

10.2 Management can choose not to accept / implement the recommendations raised, in all 
instances this will be reported through to the Audit Committee, especially in instances 
whereby there are no compensating controls justifying the course of action. 

10.3 A Progress Report is periodically presented to the Audit Committee which includes the 
Executive Summary of all final reports, any significant changes to the approved plan and the 
performance of the contractor relative to completing the agreed plan. 

10.4 A Follow Up Report is also periodically produced for the Audit Committee showing 
management progress against the implementation of agreed recommendations arising from 
internal audit assurance reports. The Internal Audit Team will verify and obtain evidence to 
demonstrate recommendation completion from responsible officers. 

75



Page 11 of 26

10.5 An Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion is produced for Senior Management and the 
Audit Committee following the completion of the annual audit plan each financial year. 

10.6 This report includes a summary of all Internal Audit work carried out, details of 
recommendations that have been implemented by management and the Annual Opinion. 

10.7 The Annual Opinion is based on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Local 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control during the financial year, 
together with reasons if the opinion is unfavourable. This opinion is reached by considering 
the results from assurance reviews undertaken throughout the year.  

10.8 The report also highlights any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) and the results of the review of the effectiveness of internal 
audit. 

10 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme

11.1 The standards require a quality assurance and improvement programme to be developed 
that covers all aspects of internal audit; including both internal and external assessments. 

11.2 If an improvement plan is required as a result of the internal or external assessment, the 
Head of Internal Audit or Internal Audit Manager will coordinate appropriate action and report 
this to Senior Management and the Audit Committee, as part of the annual report and 
opinion. 

11.3 Internal Assessment

11.3.1 Internal assessment includes the ongoing monitoring of the performance of the contractor 
through the performance measures. These form a key part of service management of the 
contract and are subject to quarterly reporting to the Internal Audit Manager for review.  

11.3.2 On conclusion of audit reviews a feedback form is provided to the key officer identified 
during the audit process. Outcomes are reviewed and relevant improvements discussed with 
the contractor.  

11.3.3 The standards also require periodic self-assessment in relation to the effectiveness of 
internal audit, the detail and outcomes of which are then forwarded to the Section 151 
Officer or Section 17 Officer for their independent scrutiny, before the summary of which is 
provided to the Audit Committee as part of the annual report and opinion. This information 
enables the Committee to be assured that the internal audit service is operating in 
accordance with best practice.

11.4 External Assessment

11.4.1 External assessments must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the Organisation. This can be in the 
form of a full external quality assessment that involves interviews with relevant stakeholders, 
supported by examination of the internal audit approach and methodology leading to the 
completion of an independent report, or a validated self-assessment, which the Internal Audit 
Manager compiles against the PSIAS assessment tool, which is then validated by an 
external assessor/team. The full external quality assessment is the chosen option for 
Eastern Internal Audit Services. 

11.4.2 An external assessment will:

76



Page 12 of 26

 Provide an assessment on the internal audit function’s conformance to the standards;
 Assess the performance of the internal audit activity in light of its charter, the 

expectations of the various boards and executive management;
 Identify opportunities and offer ideas and counsel for improving the performance of 

the internal audit activity, raising the value that internal audit provides to the 
organisation; and 

 Benchmark the activities of the internal audit function against best practice.

11.4.3 In January 2017 Eastern Internal Audit Services was fully assessed by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. The conclusion of the review was:

The internal audit team fully meet most of the Standards, as well as the Definition, Core Principles 
and the Code of Ethics which form the mandatory elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 
International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for quality 
in Internal Auditing. This is described as “Generally Conforms”. It means that the internal audit team 
may state in its audit reports that the work “has been performed in accordance with the IPPF”

77



Page 13 of 26

APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCILS

INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY FOR 2019/20

1. Introduction

1.1 The Internal Audit Strategy is a high-level statement of;
 how the internal audit service will be delivered;
 how internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 how internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities; and
 how the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

The provision of such a strategy is set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the 
standards).

1.2 The purpose of the strategy is to provide a clear direction for internal audit services and 
creates a link between the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

2. How the internal audit service will be delivered

2.1 The Role of the Head of Internal Audit and contract management is provided by South 
Norfolk Council to; Breckland, Broadland, North Norfolk, South Holland and South Norfolk 
District Councils, Great Yarmouth Borough Council and The Broads Authority. All Authorities 
are bound by a Partnership Agreement.

2.2 The delivery of the internal audit plans for each Authority is provided by an external audit 
contractor, who reports directly to the Head of Internal Audit. The current contract is with 
TIAA Ltd, and commenced on 1 April 2015, for an initial period of 5 years.

3. How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 
charter

3.1 Internal Audit objective and outcomes

3.1.1 Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve the Authority’s operations. It helps the Authority accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes.

3.1.2 The outcomes of the internal audit service are detailed in the Internal Audit Charter and can 
be summarised as; delivering a risk based audit plan in a professional, independent manner, 
to provide the Authority with an opinion on the level of assurance it can place upon the 
internal control environment, systems of risk management and corporate governance 
arrangements, and to make recommendations to improve these provisions, where further 
development would be beneficial.

3.1.3 The reporting of the outcomes from internal audit is through direct reports to senior 
management in respect of the areas reviewed under their remit, in the form of an audit 
report. The Governance and Audit Committee for each Council and the Section 151 Officer 
also receive:

78



Page 14 of 26

 The Audit Plans Report, which is risk based and forms the next financial year’s plan 
of work;

 The Progress Reports which provide summaries of the work achieved throughout the 
year and the individual opinions awarded on conclusion of reviews;

 The Follow Up Reports which detail the level of management action taken in respect 
of agreed internal audit recommendations; and

 The Annual Report and Opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.2 Internal Audit Planning

3.2.1 A risk-based internal audit plan (RBIA) is established in consultation with senior 
management that identifies where assurance and consultancy is required.

3.2.2 The audit plan establishes a link between the proposed audit areas and the priorities and 
risks of the Authority taking into account:

 Stakeholder expectations, and feedback from senior and operational managers;
 Objectives set in the strategic plan and business plans;
 Risk maturity in the organisation to provide an indication of the reliability of risk 

registers;
 Management’s identification and response to risk, including risk mitigation strategies 

and levels of residual risk;
 Legal and regulatory requirements;
 The audit universe – all the audits that could be performed; and
 Previous IA plans and the results of audit engagements.

3.2.3 In order to ensure that the internal audit service adds value to the Authority, assurance 
should be provided that major business risks are being managed appropriately, along with 
providing assurance over the system of internal control, risk management and governance 
processes.

3.2.4 Risk based internal audit planning starts with the Authority’s Business Plan, linking through 
to the priority areas and the related high-level objectives. The focus is then on the risks, and 
opportunities, that may hinder, or help, the achievement of the objectives. The approach also 
focuses on the upcoming projects and developments for the Authority.

3.2.5 The approach ensures; better and earlier identification of risks and increased ability to 
control them; greater coherence with the Authority’s priorities; an opportunity to engage with 
stakeholders; the Committee and Senior Management better understand how the internal 
audit service helps to accomplish its objectives; and this ensures that best practice is 
followed.

3.2.6 The key distinction with establishing plans derived from a risk based internal audit approach 
is that the focus should be to understand and analyse management’s assessment of risk and 
to base audit plans and efforts around that process.

3.2.7 Consultation with the Section 151 Officer and Senior Management takes place through 
specific meetings during which current and future developments, changes, risks and areas of 
concern are discussed and the plan amended accordingly to take these into account. 

3.2.8 The outcome of this populates a strategic internal audit plan, and the resulting annual 
internal audit plan, which are discussed with and approved by the Executive Management 
team prior to these being brought to the respective Governance and Audit Committee. In 
addition, External Audit is also provided with early sight of the plans.

79



Page 15 of 26

80



Page 16 of 26

3.3 Internal Audit Annual Opinion

3.3.1 The annual opinion provides Senior Management and the respective Governance and Audit 
Committee with an assessment of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.3.2 The opinion is based upon:
 The summary of the internal audit work carried out;
 The follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed 

action as at financial year end;
 Any reliance placed upon third party assurances;
 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS);
 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes; 

o A statement on conformance with the standards and the results of any quality 
assurance and improvement programme,

o  the outcomes of the performance indicators and 
o the degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of 

Internal Audit.

3.3.3 In order to achieve the above internal audit operates within the standards and uses a risk 
based approach to audit planning and to each audit assignment undertaken. The control 
environment for each audit area reviewed is assessed for its adequacy and effectiveness of 
the controls and an assurance rating applied.

4. How internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities

4.1 In addition to the approach taken as outlined in section 3.2 (Internal Audit Planning), which 
ensures that the service links to the organisations objectives and priorities and thereby 
through the risk based approach adds value, internal audit also ensure an awareness is 
maintained of local and national Issues and risks.

4.2 The annual audit planning process ensures that new or emerging risks are identified and 
considered at a local level. This strategy ensures that the planning process is all 
encompassing and reviews the records held by the Authority in respect of risks and issue 
logs and registers, reports that are taken through the Authority Committee meetings, and 
through extensive discussions with senior management.

4.3 Awareness of national issues is maintained through the contract in place with the external 
internal audit provider through regular “horizon scanning” updates, and annually a particular 
focus provided on issues to be considered during the planning process. Membership and 
subscription to professional bodies such as the Institute of Internal Auditors and the CIPFA 
on-line query service, liaison with External Audit, and networking with, all help to ensure 
developments are noted and incorporated where appropriate.

5. How internal audit resource requirements have been assessed

5.1 Through utilising an external audit contractor the risk based internal audit plan can be 
developed without having to take into account the existing resources, as you would with an 
in-house team, thus ensuring that audit coverage for the year is appropriate to the 
Authority’s needs and not tied to a particular resource.

81



Page 17 of 26

5.2 That said a core team of staff is provided to deliver the audit plan, and these staff bring with 
them considerable public sector knowledge and experience. These core staff can be 
supplemented with additional staff should the audit plan require it, and in addition specialists, 
e.g. computer auditors, contract auditor, fraud specialists, can be drafted in to assist in 
completing the internal audit plan and focusing on particular areas of specialism.

5.3 All audit professionals are encouraged to continually develop their skills and knowledge 
through various training routes; formal courses of study, in-house training, seminars and 
webinars. As part of the contract with TIAA Ltd the contractor needs to ensure that each 
member of staff completes a day’s training per quarter.

82



Page 18 of 26

APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN
Audit Area Last reviewed & 

assurance
Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Corporate Governance 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
Medium for GDPR

√ 4 4 4 4

Corporate Plan, Corporate Performance, 
Risk Management, FOI and Complaints

2017/18 - Substantial Integral to all critical activities √ 8 8

Procurement and Contract Management 2018/19 - Limited CA09 Commercial 
approach. Strategic Risk - 
Medium

√ 8 6 8

Key Controls and Assurance 2016/17 - Substantial
2017/18  - Substantial
2018/19 - Audit Due

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

10 10 10 10

ARP Governance 2014/15 - Substantial
2018/19 - Reasonable

Medium risk due to 
necessity to deliver a high 
quality service to a number 
of Councils

8 8

Fundamental Financial Systems
Accountancy Services includes control 
accounts, banking, bank reconciliation, asset 
register, budgetary control, insurance and 
treasury management

2015/16 - Substantial
2017/18 - Substantial

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts. 
Strategic Risks raised 
Medium

16 16

Accounts Payable 2016/17 - Substantial
2018/19 - Substantial

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

12 12

Accounts Receivable 2015/16 - Reasonable
2017/18 - Substantial

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

10 10

Income 2015/16 - Substantial
2017/18 - Reasonable

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

8 8

Payroll and Human Resources includes 
officers expenses, car loans and leased cars

2016/17 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts. 
Strategic Risk Medium

√ 15 15

Annual Opinion / Governance audits

83



Page 19 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & 
assurance

Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Breckland Bridge 2016/17 - Substantial
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA09 Commercial approach 10

Asset Management 2016/17 - Substantial CA09 Commercial 
approach. Strategic Risk - 
High

10

Delivery Unit Team 2018/19 - Audit Due CA09 Commercial approach √ 6 6
Strategic Housing 2016/17 - Reasonable 

(Affordable Housing)
CA21 Housing Solutions 10

Economic Development 2018/19 - Audit Due 10

Licensing and Business Support 2016/17 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 5
Corporate Health and Safety 2016/17 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 3
Environmental Protection 2017/18 - Limited

2018/19 review postponed 
to 2019/2020

CA12 Regulatory services √ 8

Food, Health & Safety 2018/19 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 8 8
Democratic Services 2018/19 - Reasonable CA11 Skills √ 8 8
Elections and Electoral Registration 2017/18 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 8
Digital Strategy New area for review CA09 Commercial approach √ 7

Directorate audits
Executive Director Commercialisation

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

84



Page 20 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & 
assurance

Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Housing needs, allocation, homelessness 
and housing register 

2016/17 - Limited
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA21 Housing Solutions - 
Strategic Risk High

12 10

Private Sector Housing includes DFGs, 
empty properties & enforcement, HMO 
licensing & standards

2017/18 - Limited    CA21 Housing Solutions 10 10

Community development and safety 2015/16 - Reasonable
2017/18 - Substantial

CA06 Reduce & prevent 
crime

8

Leisure (PFI) 2015/16 - Substantial CA20 Health & Wellbeing 10
Environmental Services - contract 
management (SERCO), refuses collection, 
street cleansing, recycling, grounds 
maintenance and abandoned vehicles. Also 
includes review of JV

2012/13 - Substantial
2016/17 - Reasonable 
(Contaminated waste)
2017/18 - Reasonable

CA09 Commercial approach 18

Planning - contract management (CAPITA), 
development control, enforcement, s106 
agreements, land charges

2015/16 - Reasonable
2017/18 - Reasonable

CA12 Regulatory services 18 18

Building Control 2015/16 - Limited
2017/18 - Reasonable

CA12 Regulatory services 8 8

Strategic Enforcement New area for review CA12 Regulatory services 10
Business Continuity and Emergency 
Planning

No recent Business 
Continuity

CA12 Regulatory services √ 4

Executive Director Place

85



Page 21 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & 
assurance

Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Office 365 New area for review Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5

Cyber Security 2018/19 - Review Due Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 10

Network Management 2015/16 - Reasonable Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5

Software Licensing Not recently reviewed Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5

Customer Relationship Management 
Application

Not recently reviewed Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 6

Disaster Recovery 2015/16 - Limited   Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5.5

Service Desk Not recently reviewed Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 6

Remote Access Not recently reviewed Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 7.5

Office 365 email management New area for review Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 7.5

Telephony/VoIP 2013/14 - Reasonable Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 7.5

IT Strategic Management Not recently reviewed Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5

Problem Management New area for review Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

√ 5

ICT Audits

86



Page 22 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & 
assurance

Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

IT audits TBC N/A Integral to all critical 
activities. Strategic Risk 
High

25

All previous audits BRK 12 10 10 10
Total number of days delivered by EIAS 139 170 163 161

Council Tax 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA12 Regulatory services 35 35 35 35

National Non Domestic Rates 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA12 Regulatory services

Benefits 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA12 Regulatory services

Overpayments 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA12 Regulatory services

ARP Enforcement 2017/18 - Reasonable
2018/19 - Audit Due

CA12 Regulatory services

Days provided by other Internal Audit Services 35 35 35 35

Total Internal Audit provision 174 205 198 196

Follow Up of audit recommendations

ARP Service area audits

87



Page 23 of 26

APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN

88



Page 24 of 26

Audit Area No of 
days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Executive Director Commercialisation
Breckland Bridge 10 10 This review has been deferred from the 2018/19 plan to allow 

officers to focus on the due diligence of Breckland Bridge 
partnership extension proposals which are planned over the 
next 10-15 years. The internal audit review will focus on 
providing assurance that the appropriate governance 
arrangements are in place to enable delivery.

Asset Management 10 10 This area was last reviewed during 2016/17. An audit of Asset 
Management arrangements has been planned to consider how 
the service is refocusing. This review will provide assurance 
over the Councils Asset Management Strategy, ensuring that 
objectives relating to realising social value, rate of return and 
local employment benefits have been considered. Controls 
relating to property valuation, acquisitions, disposal, lease 
renewals, rent, re-letting and rental arrears will be reviewed. 

Environmental Protection 8 8 √ A limited assurance grading was given in this area in 2017/18 
and the 201819 review was deferred to allow the team to work 
on the implementation of new software. This audit will follow 
up on recommendations raised during the last review and 
ensure that controls have been improved following software 
implementation relating to air quality, private water supplied 
and contaminated land.

Strategic Enforcement 10 10 √ This area has not been reviewed before at Breckland. An 
Enforcement Policy has now been agreed at both Councils.  A 
position statement will therefore be provided to support the 
development of the virtual team at Breckland and to compare 
and contrast the services provided at South Holland. 

Directorate audits

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

89



Page 25 of 26

Audit Area No of 
days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Private Sector Housing includes DFGs, empty 
properties and HMO licensing & standards

10 10 A limited assurance grading was given in the area in 201718. 
A review of this area will be undertaken to provide assurance 
that recommendations raised during the previous review have 
now been implemented. This audit will focus particularly on 
DFGs and the contract management controls for adaptation 
works. We will also look at how demand for DFGs vs budget 
is being managed, empty homes and assess the impact of 
recent changes in the HMO licencing criteria.  

Planning - contract management (CAPITA), 
development control, section 106 agreements and 
land charges

18 18 This area was last reviewed during 2017/18. Recent 
performance issues and in increase in complaints received in 
relation to services provided by CAPITA have prompted 
internal audit to review contract management arrangements, 
service delivery and enforcement to provide assurance that the 
contract provides value for money. 

Building Control 8 8 In light of the above issues experienced with Capita, this audit 
will focus on service delivery controls to ensure that the 
contractor is providing an appropriately resourced, high quality 
service that brings in agreed income levels.

Executive Director Place

90



Page 26 of 26

91



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Head of Internal Audit

To: Governance and Audit Committee 15 February 2019

Author: Emma Hodds Head of Internal Audit for Breckland DC

Subject: Audit Committee Self-Assessment Exercise 

Purpose: The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document 
on “audit committee’s practical guidance for local authorities and police” sets 
out the guidance on the function and the operation of audit committees. It 
represents CIPFA’s view of best practice and incorporate the positions 
statements previously issued. 

The Audit Committee has been undertaking self-assessments since 2008 and 
the CIPFA Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist is attached to this 
report for Members to discuss.

Recommendation(s):

1) That Members note the attached checklist at Appendix 1 to this report, ensure that 
this is an accurate reflection, update as appropriate and agree any resulting action 
points. 

2) That Members confirm the frequency of review of the self-assessment.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document on “audit 
committees – practical guidance for local authorities and police” sets out the guidance on 
the function and operations of audit committees. It represents CIPFA’s view of best practice 
and incorporates the position statement previously issued. 

1.2 The guidance states “the purpose of an audit committee is to provide those charged with 
governance independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, 
the internal control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual 
governance processes. 

1.3 The Section 151 Officer has overarching responsibility for discharging the requirements for 
sound financial management, and to be truly effective requires an audit committee to 
provide and support challenge. 

1.4 Good audit committees are characterised by; balance, objective, independent, 
knowledgeable and properly trained members, a membership that is supportive of good 
governance principles, a strong independently minded Chair, an unbiased attitude and the 
ability to challenge when required. 

1.5 It is therefore good practice to complete a regular self-assessment exercise against a 
checklist, to be satisfied that the committee is performing effectively. In addition, the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards also call for the committee to assess their remit and 
effectiveness, in relation to Purpose, Authority and Responsibility, to facilitate the work of 

92

Agenda Item 12



this committee. This committee has been undertaking self-assessment exercises on a 
regular basis since 2008 and has taken action where necessary to ensure full compliance 
with best practice.

1.6 The first part of the assessment is a yes / no response and covers:
 Purpose and Governance;
 Functions of the Committee;
 Membership and Support; and 
 Effectiveness of the Committee. 

1.7 The second part of the assessment requires an assessment as to how the committee 
displays it is effective through the reports it receives, and is broken down into the following 
key areas:

 Promoting the principles of good governance and their application to decision 
making;

 Contributing to the development of an effective Audit Committee;
 Supporting the establishment of arrangements for the governance of risk and for 

effective arrangements to manage risks;
 Advising on the adequacy of the assurance framework and considering whether 

assurance is deployed efficiently and effectively; 
 Supporting the quality of the internal audit activity, particularly by underpinning its 

organisational independence;
 Aiding the achievement of the authority’s goals and objectives through helping to 

ensure appropriate governance, risk, controls and assurance arrangements;
 Supporting the development of robust arrangements for ensuring value for money; 
 Helping the authority to implement the values of good governance, including 

effective arrangements for countering fraud and corruption risks; and
 Promoting effective public reporting to the authority’s stakeholders and local 

community and measures to improve transparency and accountability. 

1.8 At the Committee meeting on the 16th February 2018 the Committee reviewed the 
completed self-assessment exercise following the training session held on the 1st 
December 2017, which also included the scoring provided by the Independent Member. 

1.9 The results of the scoring and commentary were reviewed by Members at the meeting on 
the 28th September 2018, the amendments made were as follows (as noted within the 
minutes of the meeting):

 Promoting the principles of good governance and their application to decision 
making – Members agreed to leave this at 4 and revisit next time.

 Contributing to the development of an effective control environment – Mr Plaskett 
thought the 3 was too low and rescored as 4.

 Supporting the establishment of arrangements for the governance of risk and for 
effective arrangements to manage risks – Members were happy to leave this as a 4

 Advising on the adequacy of the assurance framework and considering whether 
assurance is deployed efficiently and effectively – after re-reading Mr Plaskett 
believed this should

 be 4
 Supporting the quality of the internal audit activity, particularly by underpinning its 

organisational independence – Members were happy to leave as 4
 Aiding the achievement of the authority’s goals and Objectives through helping to 

ensure appropriate governance, risk, control and assurance arrangements – Mr 
Plaskett would like this amended to 4

93



 Supporting the development of robust arrangements for ensuring value for money – 
Mr Plaskett wished for the committee to discuss. Councillor Wilkinson felt this could 
be

 4 as it was well led by Alison Chubbock and information was always clear. Emma 
Hodds reminded the committee that they receive a value for money conclusion 
annually from the

 annual external auditor comments. Members agreed to amend this to 4.
 Helping the authority to implement the values of good governance, including 

effective arrangements for countering fraud and corruption risks. Mr Plaskett was 
happy to mark as 4.

1.10 The Committee is therefore requested to note the attached (updated) checklist at 
Appendix 1 to this report, ensure that this is an accurate reflection, update as appropriate 
and agree any resulting action points.

1.11 The Committee also noted that at that time there were no training needs or requests from 
this assessment and the Committee would review the self-assessment in six months’ time. 
At this review a decision would be made as to whether this remained a six-monthly 
assessment or became annual. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The alternative approach would be for the Governance and Audit Committee not to 
complete the Self-Assessment exercise; however, this would result in no assurance being 
provided that the Committee is assisting the Council in achieving good corporate 
governance and is sufficiently proactive. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Completion of the Self-Assessment Checklist provides feedback on the effectiveness of the 
current arrangements and ensures that best practice is followed by the Committee, and 
good corporate governance is achieved.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are able to demonstrate that best practice is 
followed and that they are proactive in in helping to raise the profile of internal control, risk 
management and financial reporting matters at the Council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee, through its terms of reference, helps to ensure that 
the service areas and risks reported are working towards the efficient and effective delivery 
of the Council’s corporate priorities.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 The Committee supports the oversight of the Council’s risk management framework, which 
will in turn ensure that the Council’s key risks are accurately reviewed and addressed. This 
is ensured by following best practice and adopting sound terms of reference.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

94



6.1 None.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit 
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Faye Haywood, Internal Audit Manager 

Key Decision:  No

Exempt Decision:  No

Appendices attached to this report: Appendix 1 – Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist

95



Appendix 1

1

Self-assessment of good practice

This evaluation will support an assessment against recommended practice to inform and support the Audit Committee. This is a high-level 
review that incorporates the key principles set out in CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police. Where an 
Audit Committee has a high degree of performance against the good practice principle’s then it is an indicator that the committee is soundly 
based and has in place knowledgeable membership. These are essential factors in developing an effective Audit Committee. 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No
Audit Committee purpose and governance √

1 Does the authority have a dedicated audit committee? √
2 Does the audit committee report directly to full council? √
3 Do the terms of reference clearly set out the purpose of the committee in accordance with CIPFA’s position 

statement?
√

4 Is the role and purpose of the audit committee understood and accepted across the authority? √
5 Does the audit committee provide support to the authority in meeting the requirements of good governance? √
6 Are the arrangements to hold the committee to accounts for its performance operating satisfactorily? √

Functions of the committee √
7 Do the committee’s terms of reference explicitly address all the core area identified in CIPFA’s position 

statement?
- Good governance
- Assurance framework
- Internal audit
- External audit
- Financial reporting 
- Risk management
- Value for money or best value
- Counter fraud and corruption 

√

8 Is an annual evaluation undertaken to assess whether the committee is fulfilling its terms of reference and 
that adequate consideration has been given to all core areas?

√

9 Has the audit committee considered the wider areas identified in CIPFA’s position statement and whether it 
would be appropriate for the committee to undertake them?

√

10 Where coverage of core areas has been found to be limited, are plans in place to address this? Not applicable

96



Appendix 1

2

11 Has the committee maintained its non-advisory role by not taking on any decision-making powers that are not 
in line with its core purpose?

√

Membership and support
12 Has an effective audit committee structure and composition of the board been selected?

This should include:
- Separation from the executive
- An appropriate mix of knowledge and skills among the membership
- A size of committee that is not unwieldy
- Where independent members are used, that they have been appointed using appropriate process

√

13 Does the chair of the committee have appropriate knowledge and skills? √
14 Are arrangements in place to support the committee with briefings and training? √
15 Has the membership of the committee been assessed against the core knowledge and skills framework and 

found to be satisfactory?
√

16 Does the committee have good working relationships with key people and organisations, including external 
audit, internal audit and the chief finance officer?

√

17 Is adequate secretariat and administrative support to the committee provided? √
Effectiveness of the committee

18 Has the committee obtained feedback on its performance from those interacting with the committee or relying 
on its work?

√

19 Has the committee evaluated whether and how it is adding value to the organisation? √
20 Does the committee have an action plan to improve any areas of weakness? √

97



Appendix 1

3

Evaluating the Effectiveness of the Audit Committee

This assessment tool helps Audit Committee members to consider where it is most effective and where there may be scope to do more. To be 
considered effective, the Audit Committee should be able to identify evidence of its impact or influence linked to specific improvements.

Assessment Key:

5 Clear evidence is available from a number of sources that the committee is actively supporting the improvement across all aspects of 
this area. The improvements made are clearly identifiable.

4 Clear evidence from some sources that the committee is actively and effectively supporting improvement across some aspects of this 
area.

3 The committee has had mixed experience in supporting improvement in this area. There is some evidence that demonstrates their 
impact but there are also significant gaps.

2 There is some evidence that the committee has supported improvements, but the impact of this support is limited.

1 no evidence can be found that the audit committee has supported improvements in this area. 

Areas where the audit 
committee can add value by 
supporting improvement

Self-evaluation examples, areas of strength & weakness Assessment 
1-5

Promoting the principles of 
good governance and their 
application to decision making

The Committee meets regularly and question & challenge as appropriate, as shown 
through the minutes.

The Committee seeks to gain assurance as needed on the reports received.

The Committee provides robust review of the Annual Governance Statement and 
the assurances underpinning it.

4

98



Appendix 1

4

The Committee works with key members to improve their understanding of the 
Annual Governance Statement and their contribution to it.

Through the reports received & the questions raised, the Committee supports 
reviews / audits of governance arrangements.

The Committee regularly participates in self-assessments of governance 
arrangements.

Contributing to the development 
of an effective control 
environment

The Committee monitors the implementation of recommendations made by the 
auditors, and regularly challenges those that are overdue.

The Committee encourages ownership of the internal control framework by 
appropriate managers and calls managers to account as necessary / required.

The Committee raises significant concerns over controls with appropriate senior 
managers through those presenting the reports and by calling Managers to attend 
the meeting.

4

Supporting the establishment of 
arrangements for the 
governance of risk and for 
effective arrangements to 
manage risks

The Committee reviews risk management arrangements and their effectiveness, 
monitors improvements and holds risk owners to account for corporate risks.

The Committee has also assisted in the development of the risk reports and the 
information contained therein, the Committee has also recently fed into the risk 
management framework policy.

4

Advising on the adequacy of the 
assurance framework and 
considering whether assurance 
is deployed efficiently and 
effectively

The Committee is moving towards identifying gaps or overlaps in assurance 
through the reports it receives, and often makes links between these reports.

The Committee seeks to streamline assurance gathering and reporting where 
appropriate.

4

99



Appendix 1

5

The Committee reviews and assesses the effectiveness of assurance providers e.g. 
internal audit, risk management, external audit through its questioning and 
challenging of the reports received. 

Supporting the quality of the 
internal audit activity, 
particularly by underpinning its 
organisational independence

The Committee reviews the audit charter and functional reporting arrangements as 
part of the annual internal audit plans report brought to the Committee by the Head 
of Internal Audit. 

The Committee assesses the effectiveness of internal audit arrangements and 
supporting improvements through the annual report provided to the Committee by 
the Head of Internal Audit.

The Committee recognises that internal audit is a key source of information for 
them to consider.

4

Aiding the achievement of the 
authority’s goals and objectives 
through helping to ensure 
appropriate governance, risk, 
control and assurance 
arrangements

The Committee reviews major projects and programmes to ensure that governance 
and assurance arrangements are in place through the reports received from internal 
audit and other management reports as requested.

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of performance management 
arrangements through the specific internal audit reviews as appropriate.

The Committee also looks at the corporate risks which are often impacted on by 
major projects.

The Committee does recognise that there can be overlap between their role and 
that of Scrutiny, although this has been recently clarified through the new terms of 
reference for the Committee.

4

Supporting the development of 
robust arrangements for 
ensuring value for money

The Committee evaluates the three e’s regularly, and ensures that assurances on 
value for money arrangements is included in the assurances received by the 
Committee.

4

100



Appendix 1

6

The Committee considers how performance in value for money is evaluated as part 
of the AGS.

Helping the authority to 
implement the values of good 
governance, including effective 
arrangements for countering 
fraud and corruption risks

The Committee reviews the arrangements in place for countering fraud and 
corruption through regular review of the relevant policies.

The Committee recognises that fraud risks and the effectiveness of the 
organisations strategy to address those risks are highlighted through the reports 
received from internal audit as necessary and through the Annual Governance 
Statement.

4

101



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

To: Governance and Audit Committee 15th February 2019

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject:     Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2019-20

Purpose: This report outlines the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2019-20 to   
2022-23 and sets out the expected treasury operations for this period and 
requests approval for the Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators for 2019-20 to 2022-23

Recommendation(s): 
Recommend to Full Council that the following be approved:

1) The Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23 at Appendix A
2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained within Appendix A which 

sets out the Council’s policy on MRP
3) The Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A (Tables 1-11)
4) The Investment Strategy 2019-20 (Appendix B) and the detailed criteria included in 

Appendix B1
5) The Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2

1.0 BACKGROUND
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available 
when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations.  

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activity (arising usually from 
capital expenditure) and are separate from day to day treasury management activity.  

Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s borrowing, 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”.

As reported in the mid-year treasury report to Committee, revised reporting is required for 
the 2019-20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the MHCLG Investment Guidance, the 
MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, The CIPFA Prudential Code and 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes include the 
requirement for a Capital Strategy to provide a longer term focus to the capital plans and 
greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the 

102

Agenda Item 13



Localism Act 2011.  The Capital Strategy is being reported on separately through the 
budget setting.

1.1 Reporting Requirements
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.

Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) – the first and 
most important report covers:

 The capital plans (including prudential indicators);
 A minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time);
 The treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 

organised) including treasury indicators; and
 An investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A mid-year treasury management report – This updates members with the progress of 
the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether the treasury 
strategy is meeting the strategy or whether any policies require revision.

An annual treasury report - This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the 
strategy.

Scrutiny – The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised and this role is 
undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee.

1.2 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019-20
The strategy for 2019-20 covers two main areas:

Capital issues
 The capital plans and the associated prudential indicators
 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury management issues
 The current treasury position;
 Treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
 Prospects for interest rates;
 The borrowing strategy;
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need;
 The investment strategy;
 Creditworthiness policy; and
 Policy on use of external service providers

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the  CIPFA Treasury Management Code and 
MHCLG Investment Guidance.

1.3 Training
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  This 
especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny.  Treasury training for Members last 
took place 1st December 2017.  Further training is available but the decision has been taken 
to delay the training until membership of the Governance and Audit Committee is agreed 
after Council Elections in May 2019.  The training needs of treasury management officers 
are  reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

103



1.4 Treasury management consultants
The Council’s external treasury management advisors are Link Asset Services.  There have 
been no changes to the contractual arrangements which end 31st March 2020.  The Council 
recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management services 
in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that the 
terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required.

1.5 Summary of key issues and changes
The mid-year report to Governance and Audit Committee 14th December 2018 set out the 
key changes arising as a result of the new guidance.  Broadly these were: the definition of 
an investment now covers all the financial assets of the organisation, as well as other non-
financial assets which the organisation holds primarily for financial returns, such as 
investment property portfolios.  This may include investments which are not managed as 
part of normal treasury management or under treasury management delegations.  All 
investments require an appropriate investment management and risk framework

The Council’s Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators have been more 
closely aligned to the Council’s Capital strategy and have been amended to include both a 
definition of and a schedule of financial and non-financial investments.  New indicators 
have been added to the Treasury Management Strategy to ensure the same robust 
procedures for the consideration of risk and return are applied to both financial and non-
financial investments.

Changes made to the Strategy content compared to the current years are shown in red 
text.

The management and monitoring of the Treasury Management Policies and Prudential 
indicators (for financial and non-financial investments) remains the responsibility of Full 
Council (via the Governance and Audit Committee)  

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Recommend to Full Council to approve the recommendations
2.2   Recommend to Full Council to approve the recommendations with amendments

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To comply with the Local Government Act 2003 and to safeguard the Council’s financial 
assets whilst maximising returns

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly on the Treasury Management service so that 
they can adequately scrutinise treasury management activity.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS
  In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
  decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 

104



Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below:

5.1       Financial 
5.1.1     The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included in the report      

  and appendices 

5.2   Risk Management 
5.2.1   I can confirm that risk has been given careful consideration and it is addressed in TMP1  

  within the Treasury Policy Statement 2019-20.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1   CFR - Capital Financing Requirement

  CDS - Credit Default Swap
  CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
  CNAV - Constant Net Asset Value
  MHCLG – Ministry for Housing Communities & Local Government
  DMADF - Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
  HRA – Housing Revenue Account
  LIBID - London Inter-bank Bid rate
  MPC – Monetary Policy Committee
  MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision
  PFI - Private Finance Initiative
  PWLB - Public Works Loans Board
  TMP - Treasury Management Practice
  VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Margaret Bailey, Senior Accountant Capital & Treasury
Telephone Number: 01362 656218
Email: margaret.bailey@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23
Appendix B Investment Strategy 2019-20
Appendix B1 Treasury Management Practice (TMP 1)
Appendix B2 Treasury Management Policy 2019-20
Appendix C Economic Background (Link Asset Services)
Appendix D Approved Countries for Investment

105



Appendix D
Approved Countries for Investments

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher 
(the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P is used) and also, (except - at the 
time of writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating 
in sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Link Asset 
Services credit worthiness service.  

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland
 U.S.A.

AA
 France
 U.K.

AA-
 Belgium   

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) are AA rated and Qatar is AA- rated and meet the above criteria 
but are excluded from the Council’s lending list

This page is correct as at 21.01.19

106



Appendix A
Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23 and Prudential Indicators

The Capital Prudential Indicators 2019-20 to 2022-23
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.  The 
output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed 
to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.  

Following the introduction of the new CIPFA Code of Practice and Prudential Code effective from 
01/04/2018, the definition of an investment was extended to include non-financial investments.  
That is, assets purchased primarily for financial return.  New indicators have been added (tables 7 
& 8) to identify:

1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved
2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so

2.1. Debt to net service ratio
2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio
2.3. Investment cover ratio
2.4. Loan to value ratio
2.5. The opportunities and risks over the repayment period

The strategy also requires that a statement is made annually to confirm that the fair value of the 
non-financial investments is sufficient to provide security against loss, and if not, what mitigating 
actions are being taken to protect the capital invested.

Capital Expenditure
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  

Table 1
Capital 
Expenditure £

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Forecast*

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Commercialisation    795,987 2,849,716 2,510,215 2,809,707 3,409,500 1,321,219
Strategy & 
Governance

   428,067    271,932  1,150,000 - - -

Place 1,323,281 3,891,508 1,261,221 1,973,721 6,123,721 1,123,721
Capital Loans   590,557    463,376    - - - -
Total 3,137,892 7,476,532 4,921,436 4,783,428 9,533,221 2,444,940
* This is in line with draft budget report to Full Council February 2019.

Other long term liabilities: The above financing need excludes other long term liabilities, such as 
PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments. 

The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are being 
financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in a funding borrowing 
need.

107



Table 2 
Capital 
Expenditure £

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Forecast

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Total 3,137,892 7,476,532 4,921,436 4,783,428 9,533,221 2,444,940
Financed by:
Capital grants 1,244,006 2,688,937 3,182,797 1,813,428 1,203,721 1,203,721
Capital reserves 1,192,603 2,091,289   712,639 1,936,000     95,000     98,000
External Borrowing - - - - - -
Revenue   110,726 2,232,930 1,026,000 - 3,514,500 1,143,219
Capital Loans   590,557 463,376 - - - -
Net financing need 
for the year

Nil Nil Nil 1,034,000 4,720,000 Nil

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is 
simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either 
revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing 
need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the 
CFR.  Whilst the CFR is negative, no borrowing is required.

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a statutory 
annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each assets life.

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  Whilst these 
increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of scheme 
include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these 
schemes.  The Council currently has £8,278k of such schemes within the CFR.

Table 3: 
£’000 2018/19

Forecast
2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

Capital Financing Requirement
Opening CFR    (2,850) (1,823) (1,751)  1,034 5,754
Movement in CFR    1,027     72 2,785   4,720    (683)
Closing CFR    (1,823) (1,751) 1,034   5,754 5,071

This table indicates that the Council has a borrowing need within this reporting period.  This is 
mainly due to 2 projects which are repaid through revenue over time (waste contract vehicles and 
the Health Hub).  This position will be re-visited in future years budget setting as the capital 
programme is reviewed, to measure whether internal balances are sufficient to cover these 
amounts for internal borrowing.  The CFR will need to be monitored closely to ensure future capital 
expenditure remains affordable.  As per the Capital strategy, any Government funding available for 
specific initiatives will be sought to enable projects to be self -financing.  
Any decision to borrow externally for capital projects would only be supported if the business case 
for the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax payer through the council tax 
charge.  The council would not undertake any un-supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable 
capital receipt resources available.  

Regulations require the Full Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least annually.

108



Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital spend each 
year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is 
also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision – 
VRP).

Full Council is required to approve an MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of 
options are provided to councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  The Governance and 
Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full Council to approve the following MRP 
Statement:

 Breckland has fully financed its capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, therefore 
there is no MRP requirement anticipated, other than for the PFI schemes.  However, in the 
unlikely event of an MRP charge being required, the policy for approval is:

 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance 
with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction) (option 3);

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.  
Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.

Core funds and expected investment balances
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or 
other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments 
unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed 
below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day to day cash 
flow balances.

Table 4
Year End Resources
£’000

2018-19
Forecast

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Earmarked reserves 12,928 13,393 15,465 14,479 11,657
Capital receipts - - - - -
Total core funds 12,928 13,393 15,465 14,479 11,657
Working capital* 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
Expected investments 18,370 18,764 18,051 12,345 10,206
*Working capital balances are estimated year end; may be higher or lower during the year.

Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, but 
within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the capital 
investment plans.  These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances.  The Governance & Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full 
Council to approve the following indicators:

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.  Where financing costs to net 
revenue stream are negative, this is because the Council is earning interest on its balances as 
opposed to paying interest on its borrowing.

Table 5
% 2019-20

Estimate
2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Non-HRA (0.11%) (1.20%) (0.19%) (0.18%)

109



The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in the draft 
budget report.  

The Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23

Borrowing
The capital expenditure plans set out in the prudential indicators (above) provide details of the 
service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash 
is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available 
to meet this service activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the 
relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual 
investment strategy.

Current portfolio position
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2018, with forward projections, is summarised 
below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury management operations), against 
the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any 
over or under borrowing.

Table 6 
External Debt
£’000

2018-19
Forecast

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Actual gross debt at 31 March - - - - -
The Capital Financing 
Requirement

   (1,823) (1,751) 1,034   5,754 5,071

Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council 
operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that 
its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus 
the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and the following two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for 
revenue purposes.

The Executive Director Commercialisation and S151 Officer reports that the Council complied with 
this prudential indicator in the current year.  However, as detailed under table 3, the CFR will need 
to be monitored closely to ensure that future capital expenditure remains affordable.  This view 
takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in the draft budget 
report.

Non-Financial Investments 
The value of the non-financial investments held by the Council and the yield are as follows:

Table 7
31/3/2017 31/3/2018

Value of Investment Property * £24,610,851       £26,392,731
Finance Leases  £9,854,372   £9,831,735
Yield 8.00% 7.30%
Average return on cash investments 0.776% 0.839%

* NB yield figures are taken from indicator BSCPIND010 on Pentana - Including finance 
leases.  Some properties that for financial reporting purposes are categorised as Property 
Plant & Equipment/Surplus are part of the yield calculation.

110



The S151 officer confirms that the fair value of the non-financial investments is sufficient to provide 
security against loss.  The investment properties are fully financed and no debt liability applies to 
these assets.

Borrowing in respect of non-financial investments
The Prudential Code states that borrowing should not take place in advance of need purely to profit 
from the investment of the extra sum borrowed.

This authority has not undertaken borrowing in advance of need and the following table sets out 
any borrowing that has taken place in respect of non-financial investments and measures the 
impact of such activity:

Table 8
£’000 2018-19

Forecast
2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Value of borrowing - - - - -
Debt to net service ratio - - - - -
Commercial income to net service ratio - - - - -
Investment cover ratio - - - - -
Loan to value ratio - - - - -

As no borrowing has occurred, there are no opportunities and risks to report on over the repayment 
period.
Should the Council undertake any borrowing, the maximum exposure to borrowing costs (i.e. 
interest repayments and MRP) will not exceed £500,000 in aggregate at any one time  

Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity

The operational boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected 
to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher 
depending on the levels of actual debt.

Table 9
Operational boundary 
£’000

2018-19
Forecast

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Debt - - - - -
Other long term liabilities 8,278 8,035 7,780 7,511 7,227
Total 8,278 8,035 7,780 7,511 7,227

The authorised limit for external debt.  A further key prudential indicator represents a control on 
the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, 
and this limit needs to be set or revised by the Full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer 
term.

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those 
of a specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised.

2. The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full Council to 
approve the following authorised limit:

111



Table 10
Authorised limit 
£’000

2018-19
Forecast

2019-20
Estimate

2020-21
Estimate

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

Debt (Bank overdraft) 250 250 250 250 250
Other long term liabilities 8,278 8,035 7,780 7,511 7,227
Total 8,528 8,285 8,030 7,761 7,477

Borrowing strategy
Forecasts show there is an underlying need to borrow from 2020-21.  Borrowing will only take 
place after full consideration of the need for and the implications of borrowing. Short term use of 
cash balances will be required to fund the capital programme (internal borrowing).  The Council’s 
borrowing strategy will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more detailed borrowing strategy 
be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to any external borrowing 
taking place.

Treasury management limits on activity
There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these is to restrain the activity 
of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and reducing the impact of any 
adverse movement in interest rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair 
the opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The indicators are:

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit for variable 
interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments; 

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the previous indicator and 
covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates; 

 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure 
to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower 
limits. 

Table 11
£’000 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Interest rate exposures
Upper Upper Upper Upper

Limits on fixed interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0
Limits on variable interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0

Policy on borrowing in advance of need
It is not anticipated that the Council will undertake external or long term borrowing during the next 
three years.   However, this will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more detailed borrowing 
strategy be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to any borrowing 
taking place.  Should the Council make a decision to borrow, it will consider loans offered by the 
Municipal Bonds Agency as well as other providers.

112



Prospects for interest rates (as at January 2019) 
The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to 
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The following table gives their central view.

The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ended 30 June 2018 meant that 
it came as no surprise that the MPC came to a decision on 2 August to make the first increase in 
Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial crash, from 0.5% to 0.75%. Growth became increasingly 
strong during 2018 until slowing significantly during the last quarter. At their November quarterly 
Inflation Report meeting, the MPC left Bank Rate unchanged, but expressed some concern at the 
Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, which could increase inflationary pressures.  However, it 
is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in 
March for Brexit. On a major assumption that Parliament and the EU agree a Brexit deal in the first 
quarter of 2019, then the next increase in Bank Rate is forecast to be in May 2019, followed by 
increases in February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.

The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to rise, albeit 
gently.  However, over about the last 25 years, we have been through a period of falling bond 
yields as inflation subsided to, and then stabilised at, much lower levels than before, and supported 
by central banks implementing substantial quantitative easing purchases of government and other 
debt after the financial crash of 2008.  Quantitative easing, conversely, also caused a rise in equity 
values as investors searched for higher returns and purchased riskier assets.  In 2016, we saw the 
start of a reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in bond yields after the US Presidential election in 
November 2016, with yields then rising further as a result of the big increase in the US government 
deficit aimed at stimulating even stronger economic growth. That policy change also created 
concerns around a significant rise in inflationary pressures in an economy which was already 
running at remarkably low levels of unemployment. Unsurprisingly, the Fed has continued on its 
series of robust responses to combat its perception of rising inflationary pressures by repeatedly 
increasing the Fed rate to reach 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  It has also continued its policy 
of not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds that it holds as a result of quantitative easing, when 
they mature.  We therefore saw US 10 year bond Treasury yields rise above 3.2% during October 
2018 and also investors causing a sharp fall in equity prices as they sold out of holding riskier 
assets. However, by early January 2019, US 10 year bond yields had fallen back considerably on 
fears that the Fed was being too aggressive in raising interest rates and was going to cause a 
recession. Equity prices have been very volatile on alternating good and bad news during this 
period.

From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional levels of 
volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and sharp 
changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period.
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing 
on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 

113



year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts 
for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on 
economic and political developments. 

Investment and borrowing rates
Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019-20 but to be on a gently rising trend over 
the next few years.

Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018-19 and while they were on a rising trend 
during the first half of the year, they have backtracked since then until early January.  The policy of 
avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well over the last few 
years.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in 
the future when authorities may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
and/or the refinancing of maturing debt;
There will remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs and lower 
investment returns), to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.
(End of Link Asset Services commentary)

The Council will be mindful of the above comments when formulating its borrowing  strategy.

114



Appendix B

Annual Investment Strategy

Investment policy 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services 
Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The Council’s 
investment priorities will be security first, Portfolio liquidity second, then return (yield).

In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA, and in order to minimise the 
risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a 
list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long 
Term ratings.  

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important to continually 
assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the Council will engage 
with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay 
that information on top of the credit ratings. 

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process 
on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which will also 
enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.

The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation of risk.

Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in appendix B1.  In line with 
the new guidance effective from 01/04/2018, the definition of financial investments has been 
expanded from ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories to (1) Specified Investments 
(2) Loans and (3) Other non specified investments.  The other non-specified category now includes 
non-financial investments.  Appendix B1repeats the tables shown under Appendix B2 TMP4[4]. 
Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s treasury management practices as set out 
in Appendix B2. 

Creditworthiness policy 
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

115



 Yellow 5 years *
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days  
 No colour not to be used 

*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt.

How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in Appendix B2 (shown separately for 
approval at Appendix B1).

The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service. 

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately.

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset 
Services.  Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list.

This Council will place reliance on the use of this external service but it will in addition use market 
data and market information, information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making.

Country and sector limits
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  The 
individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. (The minimum credit rating 
does not apply to UK counterparties). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

Investment strategy
The Bank Rate has risen this year to 0.75% and is forecast to rise again in June 2019 (as per Link 
Asset services) rising to 1.50% by December 2020.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends 
(March) are: 

116



 2019/20  1.00%
 2020/21  1.25%   
 2021/22  1.75%
 2022/23  2.00%

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

 2019/20  1.30%
 2020/21  1.60%   
 2021/22  1.90%
 2022/23  2.00%

The overall balance of risks to these forecasts is currently skewed to the upside and are dependent 
on how strong Gross Domestic Product growth turns out, how quickly inflation pressures rise and 
how Brexit negotiations are resolved.

Investment treasury indicator and limit – total principal funds invested for greater than 364 days 
and 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-
end.  

Table 1 
Maximum principal sums invested > 364 and 365 days
£’000 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Principal sums invested > 364 or >365 days 14,000 5,000* nil nil

*This allows for one investment longer than a year.  No investment will be made without prior 
reference to Link Asset Services and confirmation that the cash is available for the recommended 
time period.

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant access and notice 
accounts, and short-dated deposits (overnight to100 days) in order to benefit from the 
compounding of interest.

Investment risk benchmarking
These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached from time to time, 
depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is 
that officers will monitor the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage 
risk as conditions change.  Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with supporting reasons in 
the mid-year or Annual Report.

Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, when 
compared to these historic default tables, is:

 0.08% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio
Liquidity – in respect of this the Council seeks to maintain:

 Bank overdraft - £0.250m
 Liquid short term deposits of at least £5m available with a month’s notice.
 Weighted average life is expected to be less than 1 year to reflect the short term nature of 

current deposits. However, this is not a benchmark but is measured and reported for 
information and will be subject to change as opportunities for longer term deposits in line 
with our counterparty list arise.

117



Yield – local measures of yield benchmarks are:
 Investments – internal returns above the 3 month LIBID rate

And in addition that the security benchmark for each individual year is:
Table 2

1 year 2 years 3 years
Maximum 0.06% 0.06% 0.08%
Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure, and would not constitute an 
expectation of loss against a particular investment.  These percentages are reviewed by Link Asset 
Services and if there is any change to the maximum risk percentages, these will be updated and 
reported accordingly.

End of year investment report
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report.

Non-Financial Investments
The Council’s approach to non-financial investments is set out in section 4 of the Capital Strategy.

118



Appendix B1

Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement.

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable.

LOANS:
1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for for local 

economic growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans.
2 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 

capital purposes

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 

investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.

2 (Non-financial investments). 
These are assets held primarily for financial return and are treated as capital expenditure.  

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:
Specified Investments –

Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable)

Money 
and/or % 
Limit

Time Limit

DMADF – UK 
Government N/A 100% 6 months

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

The Council’s own 
banker 100%

If the Council’s own banker fails to 
meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.  

Money Market Funds 
and Ultra Short Dated 
Bond Funds

N/A 100%

These funds will only be used as a 
last resort and Link Asset services 
will support the selection of 
appropriate Funds

119



Loans

Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes

N/A £5m

Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5

Any other loans for capital 
purposes to be approved by Full 
Council.
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate.

Loans for financial 
assistance N/A £0.5m A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 

aggregate 

Non-Specified Investments – (financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band

Max % of 
total 
investment
s/ £ limit 
per 
institution

Max. maturity period

UK Government gilts UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

UK Government 
Treasury Bills

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

Enhanced cash funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Corporate bond funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Gilt funds UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Property funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

120



* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty will be £5m

** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list)

NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits

Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution

Max. maturity period

Non-financial 
investments N/A N/A

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy 

To ensure proportionality and affordability two new indicators have been added to the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Appendix A Tables 6 & 7) to identify:
1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved
2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so

2.1. debt to net service ratio
2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio
2.3. Investment cover ratio
2.4. Loan to value ratio
2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period. 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

121



Appendix B2

THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 2019-20

1 Breckland Council defines its Treasury Management activities as “the management 
of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.”

2     Breckland Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk        
    to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its Treasury Management  
    activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of Treasury 
    Management activities will focus on the risk implications for the Council.

3     Breckland Council acknowledges that effective Treasury Management will provide   
          support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is 
          therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in Treasury 
          Management, and to employing suitable performance measurement techniques, 
          within the context of risk management.

122



TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP’s)

Breckland Council has in place the following Treasury Management practices to which 
schedules will be attached where appropriate to specify the systems and routines to be 
employed and the records to be maintained.

TMP 1
Risk Management (including investment and risk management criteria for non-treasury 
investment portfolios).

TMP 2
Performance Measurement (including methodology and criteria for assessing the 
performance and success of non-treasury investments.

TMP 3
Decision Making and Analysis.

TMP 4
Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques.

TMP 5
Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements 
including a statement of the governance arrangements for decision making in relation 
to non-treasury investments.

TMP 6
Reporting requirements and Management Information Arrangements including for non- 
treasury investments.

TMP 7
Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements.

TMP 8
Cash and Cash Flow Management.

TMP 9
Money Laundering.

TMP 10
Staff training and Qualifications including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

TMP 11
Use of External service Providers for treasury and non-treasury. 

TMP 12
Corporate Governance.

123



TMP 1   RISK MANAGEMENT 

This Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security of the 
principal sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence procedures cover all 
external investment.  

In addition, where investments do not give priority for security and liquidity over yield (non-treasury 
investments), the Council will ensure that the decision to invest is explicit and the additional risks 
are set out clearly and the impact on financial sustainability is identified and reported (TMP 1[10]).

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of Treasury and Non-Treasury 
Management risk, will report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, 
as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 reporting 
requirements and management information systems requirements.  In respect of each of the 
following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set 
out in the schedule to this document.

TMP 1 [1]
Interest Risk Management
To minimise the financial risk to which the Council is exposed in both cash deposits and borrowing 
i.e.
(i) to minimise the interest burden to the Council arising from borrowing:
(ii) whilst protecting capital sums deposited, to optimise interest earned, unless otherwise 

directed by the Council,.

In order to achieve this objective the following specific policies should be adopted:-

(i) only undertake long term borrowing if approved by Council to ensure the impact on the 
Council’s financial position is understood.

(ii) Subject to the debt position (CFR), to retain appropriate levels of capital receipts in order to 
maintain flexibility in the use of interest earned from cash deposits.

(iii) To lend surplus funds only to approved institutions in the Treasury Strategy in accordance 
with MHCLG Investment Guidance.  A list of Approved Cash Deposit Instruments is 
attached at TMP 4[4].

(iv) To minimise short term borrowing by efficient cash flow management.

In balancing risk against return, local authorities should be more concerned to avoid risks than to 
maximise returns

TMP 1 [2]
Liquidity Risk Management
The Council will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its Corporate Plan.

TMP 1 [3]
Interest Rate/Inflation Risk Management
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its 
interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its 
budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 reporting requirements and 
management information systems. 

The effects of varying levels of inflation, as far as they can be identified as impacting directly on its 
Treasury Management activities, will be controlled by the Council as an integral part of its strategy 
for managing its overall exposure to inflation.

It will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment 
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and 
revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 

124



unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates or inflation.  
The above are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or 
budgetary implications.

TMP 1 [4]
Credit and Counterparty Risk Management
In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code, the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 Officer has produced its treasury management practices (TMPs).  This 
part: TMP 1[4], covering investment counterparty policy is covered under TMP4[4] and requires 
separate approval each year.  The full recommendation is found at Appendix B1.

Monitoring of Investment Counterparties
The credit rating of counterparties will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating 
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Asset Services as and when 
ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion ratings may be 
downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The criteria used are such that a minor 
downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and interest.  Any counterparty failing 
to meet the criteria will be removed from the list immediately by the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 and if required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be added 
to the list.

TMP 1 [5] Inflation
The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to inflation, 
and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s inflation 
exposure.

TMP 1 [6] Refinancing Risk Management
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are 
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised are 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of 
market conditions prevailing at the time.

TMP 1 [7]
Legal and Regulatory Risk Management
The Council will ensure that its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory powers 
and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all 
parties with whom it deals in such activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1 [4], it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance 
in respect of the transactions they may affect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of 
care and fees charged.

The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its Treasury 
Management activities and, so far as is reasonable to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of these 
impacting adversely on the Council.

TMP 1 [8]
Fraud, Error and Corruption and Contingency Management
The Council will ensure it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk of loss 
through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings.  
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective 
contingency management arrangements, to these ends.

TMP 1 [9]
Price Risk Management
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will 
not be compressed by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and 
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

125



TMP1 [10]
Non-Treasury Investment Portfolios
The Council will ensure that non-treasury investments comply with its statutory powers and 
regulatory requirements.  Due diligence will be undertaken prior to purchasing an asset and whilst 
yield is a determining factor, due consideration will be given to the risks relating to:

1. failure to create income/ exposure to market changes
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset
4. lease arrangements 
5. exposure in one sector (new in 19/20)
6. exposure to one/few tenants (new in19/20)

Risks 1-4 are operational risks currently reported on through the Council’s performance reporting 
system, Pentana and risks 5 and 6 will be reported on Pentana from 01/04/2019.    

The Council’s corporate risk register will also identify key corporate or operational risks on major 
assets .

TMP 2   PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its Treasury Management activities, 
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in 
its Treasury Management Policy Statement.

Accordingly, the Treasury Management function will be the subject of formal analysis of the value it 
adds in support of the organisation’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the subject of 
regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other 
grant subsidy incentives, and of the scope for innovation.  The actual performance of the Treasury 
Management function will be measured using the criteria in TMP 2[1].

TMP 2 [1]
Performance Measurement
The performance of investment earnings will be measured (and the results verified by Link Asset 
Services) against the following benchmarks:

a) Maintain liquidity of £5m for less than 1 month maturity;
b) The 3 month LIBID (London Interbank Bid Rate);
c) The Yield/liquidity security indicator 

TMP 2 [2]
Performance Measurement (non- treasury investments)
The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of it’s assets and the 
Corporate Asset Management Strategy 2012-20 features performance targets which are reported 
on the Council’s performance management system.  This further manages the Council’s risk 
exposure to ensure the financial sustainability of the Council is maintained.  

126



TMP2 [3]

All financial and non-financial investments are made under relevant legal powers 

Schedule of investments as at 31/12/2018

Investment type Details Notes

Financial investments

     Cash investments less than 1 year £30,071,453

     Cash investments greater than 1 year £4,875 Residual Icelandic investment .

      Loans to third parties

          Mid Norfolk railway Preservation Trust 

          Breckland Bridge Working Capital 

£12,500

£270,000

See TMP 4[6] 1-4

Receive £2,500 annually.

Due to be repaid 31/3/2020.

Non-financial investments 

     Capital Loans Nil See TMP 4[6] 4

Provision to make loans to

Breckland Bridge.

No loans currently outstanding.

     Investment property

     Finance Leases (residual value of lease)

£26,392,731

£9,831,735

Valuations for financial reporting

 purposes as at 31/3/2018.

Joint Ventures

     Breckland Bridge Ltd (£271,000) Balance in accounts as at

31/3/2018

No borrowing has occurred in respect of any of the investments shown in the schedule above.

 TMP 3   DECISION MAKING – AND ANALYSIS

The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the processes 
applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning from the past, and for 
demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those 
decisions were taken into account at the time.  The issues to be addressed and processes to be 
pursued in reaching decisions are detailed in the following paragraphs.

TMP 3 [1]
Formulation of Treasury Management Strategy

1. Whilst this document outlines the procedures and considerations for the treasury function 
as a whole requiring revision occasionally, the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 
A) sets out the specific expected treasury activities for the forthcoming financial year.  This 
strategy will be submitted to Council for approval prior to the commencement of each 
financial year.

2. MHCLG guidance allows the strategy to be varied at any time during the year with the   
approval of the Governance and Audit Committee, and by Full Council. 

3. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy involves determining the 
appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the anticipated movement in 
both fixed and shorter term variable interest rates.

127



4. The Treasury Management Strategy is concerned with the following elements:

 The current portfolio position
 Cash flow issues based on current activities 
 The Medium Term Financial Plan
 The Prudential Code
 Advice from the Council’s Treasury Management (TM) Advisors
 Prospects for interest rates, based on TM advisors guidance
 Treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council
 The investments strategy
 Any extraordinary treasury issues

5. The Treasury Management Strategy will establish the expected move in interest rates 
against alternatives (using all available information such as published interest rate forecasts 
where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios.

TMP 3 [2]
Policy on Interest Rate Exposure

In accordance with Local Government Act 2003 and the CIPFA Prudential Code the Council is 
required each year, to determine:-

(i) an Authorised limit:
(ii) an Operational Boundary:
(iii) Prudential and treasury indicators that limit on the proportion of interest which is to be 

subject to fixed and variable rates, limit the maturity structure of borrowings and limit the 
use of long term investments.

TMP 4   APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within the 
limits and parameters defined in TMP 1, Risk Management.

TMP 4 [1]
Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation
The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151Officer  shall be responsible for the management 
of all the Council’s borrowing and cash deposit operations in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy as determined by the relevant delegations set by Council. 

Subject to the scheme of Treasury Management approved by the Council:
(a) to undertake to negotiation and receipt of or repayment of loans in accordance with 

such policy as may be laid down from time to time by the Cabinet and subject to the 
receipt of the necessary Government sanctions and consents;

(b) to make suitable arrangements for the investment and realisation of monies surplus 
to the Council’s requirements.

TMP 4 [2]
Approved Methods of Raising Capital Finance

Part 1, section 1 of LGA 2003 allows Local Authorities to borrow from any source (provided it is in 
Sterling) for the following purposes, providing the Authority adheres to the Prudential Code:-

(i) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment

(ii) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs

128



TMP 4 [3]
Approved Sources of Funding

There is no general restriction on the sources of local authority borrowing (except in foreign 
currency) but in practice it is anticipated that the Council will borrow on a short term basis from 
authorised banks or the Bank of England and/or PWLB Public Works Loan Board).

TMP4 [4]
Approved Organisations and instruments for Cash Deposits & Investments
The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 Officer will maintain a counterparty list in 
compliance with the following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to the Council for 
approval as necessary.  These criteria are separate to that which chooses Specified and Non-
Specified investments as they select which counterparties the Council will choose rather than 
defining what its investments are. 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 Yellow 5 years *
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days  
 No colour not to be used 

*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt.

How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in this Appendix B2 (shown 
separately for approval at Appendix B1).

The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service. 

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately.

129



 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also 
use market data and market information, information on sovereign support for banks and the credit 
ratings of that supporting government.

Country limits
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  The 
individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. (The minimum credit rating 
does not apply to UK counterparties). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

Annual Investment Strategy - The key requirements of both the Code and the investment 
guidance are to set an annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the 
following year, covering the identification and approval of following:

 The strategy guidelines for choosing and placing investments, particularly non-specified 
investments.

 The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can be 
committed.

 Specified investments the Council will use.  These are high security (i.e. high credit 
rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines are given), and high 
liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more than a year.

 Non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying the 
general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall amount of 
various categories that can be held at any time.

The investment policy proposed for the Council is:

Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement.

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable.

LOANS:
1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for for local 

economic growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans.
2 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 

capital purposes

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 

investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.

2 (Non-financial investments). 
These are assets held primarily for financial return and are treated as capital expenditure.  

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories.

130



The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:

Specified Investments –

Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable)

Money 
and/or % 
Limit

Time Limit

DMADF – UK 
Government N/A 100% 6 months

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

The Council’s own 
banker 100%

If the Council’s own banker fails to 
meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.  

Money Market Funds 
and Ultra Short Dated 
Bond Funds

N/A 100%

These funds will only be used as a 
last resort and Link Asset services 
will support the selection of 
appropriate Funds

Loans

Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes

N/A £5m

Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5

Any other loans for capital 
purposes to be approved by Full 
Council.
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate.

Loans for financial 
assistance N/A £0.5m A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 

aggregate 

131



Non-Specified Investments – (financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band

Max % of 
total 
investment
s/ £ limit 
per 
institution

Max. maturity period

UK Government gilts UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

UK Government 
Treasury Bills

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

Enhanced cash funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Corporate bond funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Gilt funds UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Property funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty will be £5m

** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list)

NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits

Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution

Max. maturity period

Non-financial 
investments N/A N/A

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy 

132



To ensure proportionality and affordability two new indicators have been added to the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Appendix A Tables 7 & 8) to identify:
1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved
2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so

2.1. debt to net service ratio
2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio
2.3. Investment cover ratio
2.4. Loan to value ratio
2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period. 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

133



TMP 4 [5]
Approved Organisations for Investment – Criteria for selecting
The Council as part of its Treasury Management activities employs a professional advisor (Link 
Asset Services) to:

 Advise on investment counterparty credit-worthiness, including provision of prudent parameters 
established in the light of information from the world’s main Credit Rating Agencies, various 
other analysts (internal and external to Link Asset Services), and associations.

 To provide reports and analyses monthly or when required.
 Provide economic and interest rate forecasts
 Advise on establishing a sound investment policy and the drafting of best practice Policy, 

Strategy and Out-turn reports
 Provide general treasury management advice
 Provide one in-house treasury management workshop 
 Provide a benchmarking service
 Provide seminars for attendance free of charge
 Provide weekly and periodic publications/directives
 Provide access to a helpline to provide advice on any Treasury Management issues

TMP 4 [6]
Group, Maturity and Sector Limits
These limits are reviewed periodically based upon advice received from Link Asset Services and 
are embedded in TMP4 [4] 

Country and sector considerations - Due care will be taken to consider the country, group and 
sector exposure of the Council’s investments.  In addition:

  no more than £5m will be placed with any non-UK country at any time;

 limits in place above will apply to Group companies;

 Sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.
Use of additional information other than credit ratings – Additional requirements under the 
Code of Practice now require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the above 
criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate 
counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market information will be applied before 
making any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  

There is a further treasury prudential indicator limiting the amount placed for greater than 364 & 
365 days:

£m 2019/20 
£m

2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

2022/23 
£m

Maximum principal sums invested 
either > 364 or >365 days 

14 5 0 0

Loans:
1 An interest-free loan of £50,000 to the Mid-Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust for a period 

of twenty five years with no payment for the first five years (1998 – 2002), followed by 
£2,500 each year after.

2 Car loans to employees with the length and rate of the loans in line with the Breckland 
Assisted Car Purchase Scheme guidelines.

3 Salary sacrifice schemes with the length of repayments in line with the Breckland salary 
sacrifice scheme guidelines

134



4 As agreed at ARP Joint Committee 10th June 2015 (and Council 3rd September 2015) allow 
a loan of £10,000 to ARP Trading to cover initial working capital requirements

5 As agreed at the Governance and Audit Committee 25th July 2015 (and Council 3rd 
September 2015) allow loans to be made to Breckland Bridge Ltd to enable the Council to 
exercise its “option to finance” agreed projects (in addition to the Riverside funding 
approved at Council on 26th March 2015) 

a. Any loans to be approved by the S151 Officer on a project by project basis, subject 
to the project being part of a business plan approved by Council and the necessary 
due diligence being undertaken.  

b. The total value of loans not to exceed £5m at any one time and no loans to be made 
for periods in excess of 2 years without prior approval of the Governance and Audit 
Committee and Full Council

All limits to be operated on a pragmatic basis relating to the particular circumstances.

135



TMP 5 ORGANISATION, CLARITY, SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND DEALING 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of its 
treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of 
optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated 
manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management responsibilities.

The principal on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with 
implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and 
transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the 
audit and review of the treasury management function.

If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to depart 
from these principles, the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure that the 
reasons are properly reported in accordance with TMP 6 Reporting requirements and management 
information arrangements, and the implications properly considered and evaluated.

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure that there are clear written 
statements of the responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the 
arrangements for absence cover TMP 5[1]. 

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure there is proper documentation for all 
deals and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  
Procedure notes are maintained by the Senior Accountant (Capital and Treasury).     

The delegations in respect of treasury management are set out in TMP 5 [2].  Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the organisation’s 
policy statement and TMP’s and the Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

TMP 5 [ 1]
Statement of responsibilities
Reporting lines for Treasury Management are:
Section 151 responsibilities are delegated to the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151

Executive Director Commercialisation & S151  Chief Accountant  Senior Accountant (Capital 
and Treasury)    Finance Officers (as described below).

Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 is responsible for the management of all the 
Council’s borrowing and cash deposit operations, which is then delegated to the Chief Accountant.

The Senior Accountant (Capital and Treasury) (post number P0020) is responsible for the day to 
day operation of Treasury Management.
(a) Ensure compliance with Treasury Management Policy
(b) Ensure the Council is aware of market conditions and risk verses profit factors
(c) Monitoring council’s cash flow and optimising cash deposits to meet with the interest 

requirements of the medium term financial plan.
(d) Recommending  value and maturity dates for cash deposits and maintaining all the necessary 

paperwork
(e) Verification and authorisation of payments and beneficiary data base
(f) Authorisation of inter account transfers
(a) Liaising with Brokers, Link Asset Services and other financial institutions regarding  interest 

rates
(g) Finance Officers - P0021, P1179 and P0028 act as additional authorisers and inputting UK 

payments and inter account transfers

136



The Finance Officer’s post number’s P1180, P1181 and F1238 are responsible for:
(a) Inputting UK payments and inter account transfers
(b) Maintaining all the necessary paperwork
(c) Monitoring the day to day cash position  to ensure the council does not need to make use of its 

overdraft facility

TMP 5 [2]
Delegation of Treasury Management responsibilities

1. This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management:
  A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach 

to risk management of its treasury management activities;
 Suitable TMPs, setting out the manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve 

those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities. 

2. The Authority will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a 
mid year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its treasury 
management policies and practices to the Governance and Audit Committee, and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151, who will act in accordance with the Council's policy statement 
and TMPs and CIPFA's Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

4. The organisation nominates the Governance and Audit Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

TMP 5 [3]
Governance arrangements for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments 

The delegation of responsibility for non-treasury investments varies depending on the value and 
the nature of the investment.  The constitution sets out the standard procedures and other specific 
delegations will be used as appropriate.  All decisions will follow the relevant approval route and 
the decision will be recorded

All requests to approve spend will follow the procedures as set out in the Capital Strategy to 
ensure that the balance of risk and reward is fully considered.

137



TMP 6   REPORTING REQUIREMENTS and MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the implementation of 
its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and transactions executed in 
pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from 
regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management activities; and on 
the performance of the treasury management function.

As a minimum:

The Council (Governance and Audit Committee) will receive:

 An annual report on the activity in the Treasury Management operation in the preceding 
financial year, such reports to be submitted as soon as possible after 30th September in the 
succeeding financial year.

 An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year and on the need to 
review the requirements for changes to be made to the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement.

 Mid-year review of treasury activity (including non-financial investments)

 Notification of new cash deposits via e-mail, as and when they occur

Cabinet will receive:

 Quarterly Financial performance report on Security, Liquidity and Yield 

Performance Board will receive

 Information on any non-financial performance indicators that are Red or Amber if applicable

TMP 7   BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING and AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will prepare, and Council will approve and if 
necessary from time to time will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will 
bring together all of the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function, together with 
associated income. The matters to be included in the budget will at minimum be those required by 
statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP 1 
risk management, TMP 2 performance measurement and TMP 4 approved instruments, methods 
and techniques. 

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will exercise effective controls over this budget, 
and will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP 6 reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements.

The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being. 

The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to 
all information and papers supporting the activities of the Treasury Management function as are 
necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate 
compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices. 

138



TMP 8   CASH FLOW AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT   

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the 
Council will be under the control of the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151, and will be 
aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes.  Cash flow projections will be 
prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will 
ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with TMP 1 [2] liquidity 
risk management. 

139



TMP 9   MONEY LAUNDERING

Whilst the Council is not directly required to implement the requirements of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2017 (except through this TMP), the implications of the Terrorism Act 2000 (amended 
by the Anti-Terrorism and Security Act 2001 and terrorism Act 2006)  and the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 (amended by the Serious organised Crime and Police Act 2005 and the serious Crime 
Act 2015) place an onus of responsibility on individuals associated with the treasury process to 
consider its implications.

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it in a 
transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will maintain procedures for verifying 
and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions.

Other related policies are the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Whistle Blowing policy.

TMP 10 STAFF TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS

TMP10 [1] – Staff training and qualifications (including non-financial investments) 
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury 
Management function and non- treasury investments is fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them.  It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable 
and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an 
appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  The Executive Director Commercialisation & 
S151 will recommend and implement the necessary arrangements as part of the annual 
performance and development review. 

TMP 11 USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS

The Council recognises the potential value of employing external providers of Treasury 
Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  When it 
employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will have been fully 
evaluated against the costs and benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms of their appointment and 
the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  It will ensure where feasible, and necessary, that a spread of service 
providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small number of companies.  Where services 
are subject to a formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will also be 
observed as well as Breckland Council financial regulations.  The monitoring of such arrangements 
rests with the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151. 

TMP 11 [1]
Brokers and Direct Deals  
There are various approved Brokers available for use, the main Brokers available are (but not 
limited to):

Sterling Brokers Ltd
Tradition U.K.
R P Martin

In addition to the use of Brokers, the Treasury Management team also deal directly with some 
Banks & Building Society’s, providing there are on the approved Counterparty list and also use 
Agency services for deals as follows:

Kings and Shaxson Limited
Link Agency Treasury Services 

140



TMP11 [2]
The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required.

(xii) TMP 12 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Breckland Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be 
achieved.  Accordingly, the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

141



Appendix C

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND from Link Asset services (updated 21-1-2019)

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong growth in the US.  
However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with weakening economic activity in China 
and the eurozone, overall world growth is likely to weaken.

Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to remarkably low levels in 
the US and UK has led to an acceleration of wage inflation. The US Fed has therefore increased rates 
nine times and the Bank of England twice.  However, the ECB is unlikely to start raising rates until late in 
2019 at the earliest.  

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly dried up in 
financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy measures to counter the sharp 
world recession were successful. The key monetary policy measures they used were a combination of 
lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, particularly through 
unconventional means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts of 
central government debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the threat of 
deflation, is coming towards its close. A new period is well advanced in the US, and started more recently 
in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates and, (for the US), reducing central 
banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now required in order to stop the 
trend of a reduction in spare capacity in the economy and of unemployment falling to such low levels, that 
the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, crucial that central banks get their 
timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that could destabilise financial markets. In 
particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove up the price of government 
debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, this also encouraged investors into a search 
for yield and into investing in riskier assets such as equities. Consequently, prices in both bond and equity 
markets rose to historically high valuation levels simultaneously. This meant that both asset categories 
were exposed to the risk of a sharp downward correction and we did, indeed, see a sharp fall in equity 
values in the last quarter of 2018. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually unwind their 
holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial markets. It is also likely that the timeframe 
for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. They need to 
balance their timing to neither squash economic recovery, by taking too rapid and too strong action, or, 
conversely, let inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. The potential for 
central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong are now key risks.  At the time of 
writing, (early January 2019), financial markets are very concerned that the Fed is being too aggressive 
with its policy for raising interest rates and is likely to cause a recession in the US economy.

The world economy also needs to adjust to a sharp change in liquidity creation over the last five years 
where the US has moved from boosting liquidity by QE purchases, to reducing its holdings of debt 
(currently about $50bn per month).  In addition, the European Central Bank ended its QE purchases in 
December 2018. 

UK. The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter of 2018 has shown that 
pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 when adverse weather caused a 
temporary downward blip.  Quarter 1 at 0.1% growth in GDP was followed by a return to 0.4% in 
quarter 2 and by a strong performance in quarter 3 of +0.6%. However, growth in quarter 4 is 
expected to weaken significantly.

At their November quarterly Inflation Report meeting, the MPC repeated their well-worn phrase that 
future Bank Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium rate, 

142



(where monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary), than before the crash; indeed 
they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time, but declined to give a medium term 
forecast. However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit, they warned that the next move could 
be up or down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit. While it would be expected that Bank Rate 
could be cut if there was a significant fall in GDP growth as a result of a disorderly Brexit, so as to 
provide a stimulus to growth, they warned they could also raise Bank Rate in the same scenario if 
there was a boost to inflation from a devaluation of sterling, increases in import prices and more 
expensive goods produced in the UK replacing cheaper goods previously imported, and so on. In 
addition, the Chancellor could potentially provide fiscal stimulus to support economic growth, though 
at the cost of increasing the budget deficit above currently projected levels.

It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in 
March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement on both sides of the 
Channel will take well into spring 2019.  However, in view of the hawkish stance of the MPC at their 
November meeting, the next increase in Bank Rate is now forecast to be in May 2019, (on the 
assumption that a Brexit deal is agreed by both the UK and the EU).  The following increases are 
then forecast to be in February and November 2020 before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.

Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a peak of 3.1% in 
November 2017 to 2.1% in December 2018. In the November Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report, 
inflation was forecast to still be marginally above its 2% inflation target two years ahead, (at about 2.1%), 
given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate. 

As for the labour market figures in October, unemployment at 4.1% was marginally above a 43 year low 
of 4% on the Independent Labour Organisation measure.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-
time high, together with negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that employers are now 
having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It was therefore unsurprising that wage 
inflation picked up to 3.3%, (3 month average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real 
terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 1.2%, the highest level 
since 2009. This increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into providing some 
support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC 
was right to start on a cautious increase in Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% 
as increasing inflationary pressures within the UK economy.   

In the political arena, the Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority government was defeated 
on 15 January.  It is unclear at the time of writing, how this situation will move forward.  However, our 
central position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various setbacks, along the 
route to reaching an orderly Brexit though the risks are increasing that it may not be possible to get full 
agreement by the UK and EU before 29 March 2019, in which case this withdrawal date is likely to be 
pushed back to a new date.  If, however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this 
could result in a potential loosening of monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated 
gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up.

USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in consumption 
which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth which rose from 2.2% (annualised rate) in 
quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5%, (3.0% y/y), in quarter 3, but also an upturn in inflationary 
pressures.  The strong growth in employment numbers and the reduction in the unemployment rate to 
3.9%, near to a recent 49 year low, has fed through to an upturn in wage inflation which hit 3.2% in 
November. However, CPI inflation overall fell to 2.2% in November and looks to be on a falling trend to 
drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.  The Fed has continued on its series of increases in 
interest rates with another 0.25% increase in December to between 2.25% and 2.50%, this being the fifth 
increase in 2018 and the ninth in this cycle.  However, they did also reduce their forecast for further 
increases from three to two. This latest increase compounded investor fears that the Fed is over doing 
the speed and level of increases in rates and that it is going to cause a US recession as a result.  There is 
also much evidence in previous monetary policy cycles of the Fed’s series of increases doing exactly 

143



that.  Consequently, we have seen stock markets around the world falling under the weight of fears 
around the Fed’s actions, the trade war between the US and China and an expectation that world growth 
will slow. 

The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat during 2018, but it is not 
expected that the current level of actual action would have much in the way of a significant effect on US 
or world growth. However, there is a risk of escalation if an agreement is not reached soon between the 
US and China. 

Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2% in quarter 3, though this was 
probably just a temporary dip.  In particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could be 
negatively impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of its manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   For that 
reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of nearly 2% for 2018, the horizon is less 
clear than it seemed just a short while ago. Having halved its quantitative easing purchases of debt in 
October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European Central Bank ended all further purchases in December 
2018. The ECB is forecasting inflation to be a little below its 2% top limit through the next three years so it 
may find it difficult to warrant a start on raising rates by the end of 2019 if the growth rate of the EU 
economy is on a weakening trend. 

China. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of central 
bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate 
excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non-performing 
loans in the banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the rate of credit creation, 
particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding through into lower economic growth. There 
are concerns that official economic statistics are inflating the published rate of growth.

Japan - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its 
target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental 
reform of the economy. It is likely that loose monetary policy will endure for some years yet to try to 
stimulate growth and modest inflation.

Emerging countries. Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds 
and are facing challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of foreign 
exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall world economy, (around 1% each), 
so the fallout from the expected recessions in these countries will be minimal.

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services are predicated on an assumption of an 
agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU.  On this basis, while GDP growth is 
likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the uncertainties around Brexit depressing consumer and business 
confidence, an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in 2020 which could, in turn, 
increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the Bank of England to resume a series of 
gentle increases in Bank Rate.  Just how fast, and how far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be 
data dependent. The forecasts in this report assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger 
growth and in the corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of England would 
take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal with the 
adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium term gilt yields 
to fall. 

 If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a 
longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also 
possible that the government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal 
stimulus. 

However, there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against any form of non-
agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has now substantially diminished.

144



The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.
 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are probably 

also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how slowly 
inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively. 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in very 
different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a major 
increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that 
have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, 
(i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this 
new environment, although central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much 
lower than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central 
interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 
 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the rate 

of growth.
 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 

years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be 
weaker than we currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly in Italy, due to its high level 
of government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system, and due to 
the election in March of a government which has made a lot of anti-austerity noise. The EU 
rejected the initial proposed Italian budget and demanded cuts in government spending 
which the Italian government initially refused. However, a fudge was subsequently agreed, 
but only by delaying the planned increases in expenditure to a later year. This can has 
therefore only been kicked down the road to a later time. The rating agencies have started 
on downgrading Italian debt to one notch above junk level.  If Italian debt were to fall below 
investment grade, many investors would be unable to hold it.  Unsurprisingly, investors are 
becoming increasingly concerned by the words and actions of the Italian government and 
consequently, Italian bond yields have risen – at a time when the government faces having 
to refinance large amounts of debt maturing in 2019. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are particularly vulnerable; one 
factor is that they hold a high level of Italian government debt - debt which is falling in value.  
This is therefore undermining their capital ratios and raises the question of whether they will 
need to raise fresh capital to plug the gap.

 German minority government.  In the German general election of September 2017, Angela 
Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the fractious 
support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD 
party. Then in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse state elections radically 
undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support for the CDU. As a result, the 
SPD is reviewing whether it can continue to support a coalition that is so damaging to its 
electoral popularity. After the result of the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel announced 
that she would not stand for re-election as CDU party leader at her party’s convention in 
December 2018, (a new party leader has now been elected). However, this makes little 
practical difference as she is still expected to aim to continue for now as the Chancellor. 
However, there are five more state elections coming up in 2019 and EU parliamentary 
elections in May/June; these could result in a further loss of electoral support for both the 
CDU and SPD which could also undermine her leadership.   

 Other minority eurozone governments. Spain, Portugal, Ireland, the Netherlands and 
Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which could 
prove fragile. Sweden is also struggling to form a government due to the anti-immigration 

145



party holding the balance of power, and which no other party is willing to form a coalition 
with. The Belgian coalition collapsed in December 2018 but a minority caretaker government 
has been appointed until the May EU wide general elections.

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration bloc within 
the EU while Italy, in 2018, also elected a strongly anti-immigration government.  Elections 
to the EU parliament are due in May/June 2019.

 Further increases in interest rates in the US could spark a sudden flight of investment 
funds from more risky assets e.g. shares, into bonds yielding a much improved yield.  
Throughout the last quarter of 2018, we saw sharp falls in equity markets interspersed with 
occasional partial rallies.  Emerging countries which have borrowed heavily in dollar 
denominated debt, could be particularly exposed to this risk of an investor flight to safe 
havens e.g. UK gilts.

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen massively 
during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers and acquisitions. This 
has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being downgraded to a BBB credit rating, 
close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade corporate debt is now rated at 
BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and cash flow to reduce their debt levels as 
expected, this could tip their debt into junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing 
and further negatively impact profits and cash flow.

 Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, which 
could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if both sides were to agree by 29 March a compromise that quickly removed all 

threats of economic and political disruption and so led to an early boost to UK economic 
growth. 

 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace and 
strength of increases in its Fed Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of reversal of QE, 
which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding 
bonds, as opposed to equities.  This could lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a 
sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond 
yields around the world.

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which 
then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently 
expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

146



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation 

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 15 February 2019

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Accounting Policies 2018-19

Purpose: To review and agree the 2018-19 accounting policies in readiness for the 
review of the Statement of Accounts in June

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Governance and Audit Committee review and agree the Accounting Policies for 2018-19 
at Appendix A

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Within the statement of accounts, the Council discloses the accounting policies it has 
applied to all material balances and transactions.  This report presents the proposed 
accounting policies to be adopted for the 2018-19 financial year.  The policies are 
prepared in line with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 
2018-19 (the Code).

It is good practice to consider and agree the accounting policies in advance of the 
production and approval of the draft accounts, so this report will become an annual review 
by the Governance and Audit Committee.

1.2 There have been two major areas of change within the Code in 2018-19:
 IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers
 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

The Code contains provisions for transitional arrangements which only require 
adjustments to 1 April 2018 opening balances rather than a full prior year restatement.

IFRS 15 is not expected to have any impact on the Councils accounts, but work is 
underway to check if there is any impact on the Group Accounts for Breckland Bridge.

IFRS 9 has a limited impact on the Council.  The balances are expected to remain the 
same as the Council does not have any borrowing and our investments are straight 
forward ‘cash’ type investments, but the disclosure note will change.

1.3 The majority of the accounting policies in Appendix A have not changed from 2017-18, the 
main changes made are:

 Review and removal/ inclusion of any policies not required/required as transactions 
are not material/material.

 Collection Fund - update to the methodology for calculating appeals on the 2017 list.
 Employee Benefits - simplification to remove information relating to holiday pay 

accrual as not material.
 Financial Instruments - completely renewed for the new requirements of IFRS 9.

147

Agenda Item 14



1.4 As work on the statement of accounts will be underway until they are signed at the end of 
May, changes may be made to these policies if necessary and Governance and Audit 
Committee would be updated on any changes in their June meeting.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Governance and Audit Committee review and agree the Accounting Policies for 
2018-19 at Appendix A.

2.2 That Governance and Audit Committee review and make changes before agreeing the 
Accounting Policies for 2018-19 at Appendix A.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is good practice to consider and agree the accounting policies in advance of the 
production and approval of the draft accounts.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By agreeing these policies early it assists with the early closure timetable that Local 
Authorities work to.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Financial 
5.1.1 The policies at appendix A underpin the Council's financial statement of accounts in line 

with the Code. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

148

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Accounting Policies 2018-19

149



Note 1 – Accounting Policies
General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2018-19 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2019. The 
Council is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared 
in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These practices under Section 21 of the 2003 Act primarily comprise the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018-19, supported by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular:

 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.

 Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as expenditure or income on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

 Where income or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded 
in the Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the 
income that might not be collected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents 
are investments that are instant access and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Council’s cash management.

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service;
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which 

the losses can be written off; and
 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.

The Council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an 
annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  Whilst the Council does not have an overall borrowing 

150



requirement, there is an amount implicit in the PFI repayment relating to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Depreciation, revaluation, impairment losses 
and amortisation are therefore replaced by an adjusting transaction between the Capital Adjustment Account and the Movement in Reserves Statement which 
reverses out the amount charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax.

Collection Fund
This account is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The statement shows 
the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution of council tax and non-domestic rates (NNDR) to major 
preceptors, local authorities and the Government.
An allowance for the impairment of debt is calculated for the Collection Fund using the following bases:

 Council Tax – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding for each year based on the age of that debt.
 NNDR – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding based on the current collection status of that debt (i.e. under instalments, 

under enforcement, etc).
An allowance for impairment from NNDR appeals from the 2010 valuation list is calculated by taking the outstanding appeals at the Valuation Office (VO), 
categorising these by the rating list descriptions and applying an estimate to the likely success of each outstanding appeal using historical statistics of appeals 
settled in each category.  For NNDR appeals relating to the 2017 valuation list an assessment is made of the likely reduction in rateable value based on the 
change in value between 2010 and 2017 and the premises category and then applying an estimate of value of a successful appeal, plus an estimate of any 
lodged appeals using the same process as under the 2010 list.  In addition a review on high risk properties such as high rateable value, large infrastructure, 
change to charities, etc is undertaken and an estimate made for appeals on these properties if required.  

The council tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the council’s share of accrued income for the year.  
However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NNDR that must be included in the Council’s General Fund.  Therefore, the difference between 
the income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General fund is 
taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The Balance Sheet includes 
the Council’s share of the year end balances in respect of council tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowance for doubtful debts, overpayments 
and prepayments and appeals.

Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable During Employment
Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries and paid annual leave for current employees, are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-
end.  They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render services to the Council and charged on an accrual basis to the 
relevant service line of the comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or 
an officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service segment 
at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a restructuring.
Post Employment Benefits
Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), administered by Norfolk County Council, which provides defined 
benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council. It is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

151



 The liabilities of the pension scheme attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc and projections of projected earnings for current employees.

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.
 The assets of the Norfolk County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their bid value.
 The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

o Service cost comprising:
 Current Service Cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked.
 Past Service Cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of 

service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.

 Net Interest on the net defined liability, ie. Net interest expense for the Council – the change during the period in the net defined 
liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability at the beginning of the period – taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

o Re-measurements comprising:
 Return on Plan Assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined liability – charged to the Pensions Reserve 

as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 Actuarial Gains and Losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions 

made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

o Contributions paid to the Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted 
for as an expense

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.  The negative balance that arises 
on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of 
cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Discretionary Benefits
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise 
as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are 
applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

152



Estimation Techniques
Where estimated figures have been used in the accounts (for example, in the preparation of Pension Fund liabilities) the assumptions have been stated either 
in the relevant notes to the accounts or in note 29 Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date 
when the Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue.  Two types of event can be identified:

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such 
events

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but 
where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial 
effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.

Fair Value Measurement
The Council measures some of its non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell as asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement 
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Council measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

When measuring fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  The Council uses valuation 
techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.  Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets or liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in 
the Council’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows:

 Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Council can access at the measurement date
 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities
The policy for any financial liabilities the Council holds which are classed as leases or PFI are detailed within the policy for that classification.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cash flow characteristics.  There are 3 main classes of financial assets measured at:

153



 Amortised cost
 Fair value through profit and loss (FVPL)
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows.  Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  Annual credits for interest receivable are 
made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount 
of the investment/asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.

Government Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council 
when there is reasonable assurance that;

 the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments and 
 the grants or contributions will be received.  

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied (conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 
using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 
the transferor).

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income (for non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account.  
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

Certain grants are general grants allocated by Central Government directly to local authorities as revenue funding, these are non-ringfenced and are credited 
to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Details of these grants can be found in note 17 Grant 
Income.

Heritage Assets
Historical Buildings – These items are reported in the Balance Sheet at valuation and depreciation is provided for, if necessary, in accordance with the 
Council’s general policies for depreciation (see the section on Property, Plant and Equipment in this note).

154



The Council’s heritage assets consist of one building, the Charles Burrell Museum which opened in 1991 and the land on which it is sited.  Previously it was 
the site of the former paint shop for the steam engine manufacturer and is now held as a museum for its cultural contribution rather than for any other 
purpose.  The valuation is based on it’s existing use.

Intangible Assets
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the Council as a result of past events (i.e. software licences) is 
capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council for more than one financial 
year.  The Council accounts for its software as intangible assets.  The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight line basis and is 
charged to the ICT cost centre and then absorbed as an overhead across all the service headings in the Cost of Services.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and are carried at amortised cost.  The depreciable amount of the intangible asset is amortised over its useful 
life (based on internal assessments of the period the software is expected to be of use to the Council) to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  Depreciation is calculated on the following basis:

 Computer software and licences – straight line allocation over 3 years

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted 
to have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Interest in Companies and Other Entities
The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee - This involves a group of authorities coming together to fulfil a joint purpose but it does not constitute a 
legal entity in it’s own right.  It is accounted for in the respective authorities Statements of Accounts as a shared service.  This requires the authority’s share of 
partnership transactions (expenditure and income and balances if applicable) to be included within the relevant lines within the authority’s accounts.

Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Trading Ltd - This is a legal entity conducted under joint control.  The company became dormant in June 2018.

Breckland Bridge Ltd – This is the Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company set up between the Council and The Land Group Ltd.  The company has 
been set up to achieve financial returns and accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth to projects in the Council area with a view to maximising 
revenue whilst securing the economic, social, and environmental well-being of the Council area.  This company is classified as a Joint Venture in the Councils 
accounts and group accounts are prepared on this basis.  Please refer to the group accounts section of this document.

The Related Party Transactions note give details on these entities.

Investment Property
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way 
to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods.

155



Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use.  
Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end.  Valuations are in accordance with the Statements of 
Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance Notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  Gains and losses on revaluation and on 
disposal are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the ‘Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services’ line and 
result in a gain for the General Fund Balance.  However revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an 
impact on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement 
and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Where part of an investment property is replaced (i.e. subsequent capital expenditure), the carrying amounts of the parts replaced are de-recognised (where 
material) and the cost of replacement is recognised in the carrying value of the property.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, 
plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land 
and buildings elements are usually considered separately for classification.

Authority as Lessor
Operating Leases – Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to the 
relevant line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (i.e. Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings).  Credits are made on a straight line 
basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg. there is a rent free period).

Finance leases – Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the 
commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is 
credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between:

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received); and
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance 
and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future 
financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the 

156



future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point the deferred 
capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

Overheads and Support Services
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the council’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the non-current assets needed to provide the service passes 
to the PFI contractor.  Breckland entered into a 33.5 year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in December 2005.  Changes to 
the 2009 Statement of Recommended Practice resulted in the council re-examining its accounting treatment in the context of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in particular under the interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and determining that the 
arrangement should be accounted for as a service concession arrangement within the scope of IFRIC 12. 

The annual unitary payment is split between lease payments, service & revenue expenditure and asset lifecycle costs.  The allocation of this unitary payment 
is estimated based on the terms of the payment mechanism in the PFI contract.  Therefore the annual unitary charge for each facility is allocated 50% to the 
lease payment and the remaining 50% to cover service & revenue costs and asset lifecycle costs.  The amounts are allocated between the two sites based 
on information in the operators’ model giving a split of 55% Thetford and 45% Dereham.  A mark up of 2% has been applied in order to estimate the fair value 
of the real maintenance and lifecycle services.  This mark up has been calculated as the difference between the total real costs (as per the operator model) 
and 50% of the unitary charge (in real terms).
Property used under the PFI contract is recognised as an asset on the Balance Sheet, with a related liability also recognised.  The fair value of the PFI assets 
at completion of construction was determined in reference to the construction costs disclosed in the operators’ financial model.  The existing buildings at the 
Thetford site have been included at their net book value at the relevant date.  Where the property is enhanced by the PFI operator, the fair value of the 
enhancement is recognised in the Balance Sheet of the Council.  A day 1 revaluation gain has been recorded in relation to the District Valuer (DV) valuation 
carried out at 1 April 2007.  Assets have been split between the Thetford and Dereham sites with the split of construction costs between the two centres being 
based on the assumption applied for unitary payments (55% Thetford and 45% Dereham).  The assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful 
life of the asset as estimated by the valuer.

Capital lifecycle costs are treated as a prepayment amount (allocated on a straight line basis over the contract term).  When the capital improvement works 
are undertaken by the contractor (based on their financial model) the relevant amount of the capital expenditure will then be reclassified from prepayments to 
non-current assets.  Assets are re-valued every 3 years as part of the Council’s rolling programme of valuations and the non-current asset values are updated 
as necessary (in line with the Property, Plant and Equipment Policy).

157



Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes 
and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is 
probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and 
maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.
A de-minimus level of £20,000 has been adopted for the inclusion of non-current assets in all categories with the exception of surplus land, which has no de-
minimus level, vehicles and equipment which have a de-minimus level of £10,000 and grant funding received which also has no de-minimus.  

Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising; the purchase price, any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and (if applicable) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which it is located.  

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
 Council Offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV)
 Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost
 Surplus Assets – fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective
 All Other Assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV)

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from 
their current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  In practice assets are valued within a five year rolling programme but due to the 
grouping of classes of assets they are usually valued every three years.  Valuations are in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).
Increases in valuation are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a valuation loss previously charged to a service.
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date 
have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

158



Impairment
Assets are assessed each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible 
differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an 
impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 
construction).  
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:

 Buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 4 to 68 years)
 Car Parks – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 3 to 29 years)
 Infrastructure – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (21.5 years)
 Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight line method using internally assessed useful economic lives (ranges from 1 to 3 years)

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation 
which would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

Componentisation
Where an item of PPE asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset and whose useful life differs, the 
components are depreciated separately, unless the componentisation makes no material difference to the overall depreciation charge.  The following de-
minimus levels have been set for componentisation of an asset (as the values are not considered significant in relation to componentisation):

 Assets with a total cost of £100,000 or less will not be subject to componentisation
 Any components with a cost of 10% or less of the total cost of the asset will not be componentised separately

Componentisation is considered for new valuations, enhancement expenditure and acquisition expenditure carried out on or after 1 April 2010.  Where a 
component is replaced or restored (i.e. enhancement expenditure) the carrying amount of the old component shall be de-recognised before reflecting the 
enhancement.
The Council recognises the following levels of components:

 Substructure
 Superstructure
 Internal services

159



 External works
Componentisation is not applicable to land as land is non-depreciable and is considered to have an infinite life.

Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, 
it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the 
Surplus or Deficit in the Provision of Services.  Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their 
carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Assets Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

When an asset is disposed of or de-commissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether PPE or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Any receipts from the 
disposal are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to 
the Capital Adjustment Account.  

Amounts received for disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts, receipts below this amount are classed as revenue income.  The 
written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Depreciation, impairment losses and revaluations are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance, they are therefore reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Provisions and Contingent Assets/Liabilities
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that will probably require settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council 
becomes aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they 
are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a settlement is required (or a lower settlement than estimated is made) the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.

In the event that a possible liability (or asset) arises which may require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but the timing and amount of the 
transfer is uncertain and the obligation will only be confirmed by occurrence or otherwise of a future event, then this will not be recognised in the Balance 
Sheet, but will be shown in a note to the accounts as a contingent asset or liability.

160



Reserves
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in the year and is therefore 
included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated 
back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments and retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council.

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement of Reserves Statement from the General Fund 
balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so there is no impact on the level of council tax.

VAT
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded 
from income.

161



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 15 February 2019

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and 
Money Laundering Policy 

Purpose: To review and recommend for approval the updated Counter Fraud 
Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Money 
Laundering Policy

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the policies are reviewed by Governance and Audit Committee

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

2) That the Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy is approved

3) That the Whistleblowing Policy is approved

4) That the Money Laundering Policy is approved

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The attached policies were last fully reviewed and updated in 2016, in the interim period 
up to now they have been updated for small changes such as staff names as people have 
changed roles.  This report and the associated appendices are the result of a full review 
which should be undertaken at least every 3 years.

1.2 The policies have remained fairly similar in scope and coverage as the legal background 
has not changed significantly since 2016.  The main changes made are:

 Changes to contact details for Officers and outside organisations
 Review and inclusion of any General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 

implications
 Update the name of Public concern at Work (PCaW) to their new name of Protect

The policies have been updated in conjunction with Internal Audit, Legal Services and 
Human Resources to ensure the fullest policy coverage.

1.3 It is difficult to gauge how well these policies have worked in the past as the focus is on 
prevention and identification of fraud and a whistleblowing policy which people are willing 
to use.  There is no data available to judge performance, however this review ensures that 
the policies remain up to date and focussed on the Council.

1.4 Once the policies have been approved, e-learning training will be rolled out to relevant 
employees and Members.  ARP have their own more detailed training in these areas 
which is tailored directly to their work, so they are not included in this more generic 
training.

162

Agenda Item 15



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To review and recommend to Full Council for approval the; Counter Fraud Corruption & 
Bribery Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; and Money Laundering Policy.

2.2 To review but not recommend to Full Council for approval the; Counter Fraud Corruption & 
Bribery Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; and Money Laundering Policy.

2.3 To review and recommend to Full Council for approval with enhancements the; Counter 
Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; and Money Laundering Policy.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To reflect changes to the working environment by refreshing the policies and thereby 
ensuring that appropriate up to date arrangements are in place.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To encourage the prevention and identification of fraud and corruption, to raise awareness 
and to provide a confidential reporting process 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 By reducing the risk of fraud, corruption and money laundering, the Council can help reduce 

the risk of crime.

5.9 Risk Management 
5.9.1 Appropriate and effective whistleblowing arrangements will help reduce the risk of fraud, 

corruption and money laundering.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.12.1 In updating these policies we have consulted with Human Resources, Legal Services, the 

Executive Management Team and Anglia Revenues Partnership.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 MLRO – Money Laundering Reporting Officer
7.2 NCA – National Crime Agency
7.3 SOCA – Serious Organised Crime Agency

163



Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C

Counter Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy
Whistleblowing Policy
Money Laundering Policy

164

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


   

Breckland Council

Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery 
Policy

February 2019

165



Page 2 of 9

Document Control and History

Version Control
Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue
1.1 Alison 

Chubbock
February 2019 Update to 2013 policy 

Approval of draft and final approval process
Issue No. Approval 

Process
Name Signature and Date

1.1 Gov & 
Audit Cttee

Revision Schedule
Issue No. Approval 

Process
Name Signature and Date

Added to Policy Register
Yes/No Policy Officer Signature and 

Date
Signature and Date

166



Page 3 of 9

CONTENTS

Introduction......................................................................4
Scope – Policy Aim..........................................................4
Legislation or Executive Summary ................................5
Policy Consultation and Consideration.........................5
Policy Statement..............................................................5
Implementation ................................................................8
Management Control and Organisation ........................8
Monitoring ........................................................................9
Related Policies and Strategies .....................................9
Appendices ......................................................................9

167



Page 4 of 9

Introduction
FRAUD is a deception which is deliberate and intended to provide a direct or indirect 
personal gain. The term “fraud” can include criminal deception, forgery, blackmail, 
corruption, theft, conspiracy or the covering up of material facts and collusion. By 
using deception a fraudster can obtain an advantage, avoid an obligation or cause 
loss to another party. The Fraud Act 2006 identifies three criminal offences:

 false representation
 failure to disclose information
 abuse of position

CORRUPTION is the deliberate misuse of your position for direct or indirect personal 
gain.
“Corruption” includes offering, giving, requesting or accepting a bribe or reward, 
which influences your actions or the actions of someone else.
THEFT is where someone steals cash or other property. A person is guilty of “theft” if 
he or she dishonestly takes property belonging to someone else and has no intention 
of returning it.

We are committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity, honesty, 
integrity and accountability. We expect all staff, councillors and partners to apply 
these standards which are included in our codes of conduct.
We will seek to deter and prevent fraud, corruption and theft to ensure that all risks in 
these areas are reduced to the lowest level possible. Where we suspect or detect 
fraud, corruption or theft we will thoroughly investigate and deal with any proven 
fraud in a consistent and balanced way. We will apply appropriate sanctions against 
those committing fraud and will attempt to recover all losses.

Scope – Policy Aim
The key objectives of this policy are to:
 Increase staff and member awareness of the corporate counter fraud culture 

which the Council actively supports and to encourage individuals to promptly 
report suspicions of fraudulent or corrupt behaviour

 Communicate to partners, suppliers, contractors, council owned/part owned 
companies and other organisations that interact with the Council that it expects 
them to maintain standards aimed at minimising fraud and corruption in their 
dealings with the Council

 Demonstrate the arrangements that the Council has in place to counter fraud and 
corruption

 Minimise the likelihood and extent of losses through fraud and corruption

This policy applies to:
 Breckland Council Councillors
 All Breckland Council staff (including Capita Symonds, shared managers and 

officers providing services to and on behalf of the Council)
 Council partners, contractors, suppliers, council owned/part owned companies 

and consultants
 Any member of the public

Executive Summary
Breckland Council is wholly opposed to all forms of fraud, corruption, theft or bribery. 
We will take action against anyone who attempts to defraud the Council, whether 
they are our own employees or Councillors, external organisations or members of the 
public. Personal data will be used within lawful purposes, as detailed within the 
Council's Privacy Policy and Finance's Privacy Notice on our website.  Failure by any 

168



Page 5 of 9

employee to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to disciplinary 
action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in 
accordance with Breckland Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.

To deliver the aims of this policy we will:
 Accurately identify the risk of fraud
 Create and maintain a strong counter fraud culture
 Take action to deter, prevent and detect fraud, investigate and apply sanctions 

and seek redress where fraud is proven 
 Record and report our outcomes to either Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint 

committee or Governance and Audit Committee if applicable

Policy Consultation and Consideration
The Council’s Executive Management Team and Governance and Audit Committee

Policy Statement
1. The Policy 
The Council is committed to preventing and detecting all forms of fraud, corruption, 
theft and bribery.  We will take action against anyone who attempts to defraud the 
Council, whether they are our own employees or Councillors, external organisations 
or members of the public. The Council's Vision is A Place where People and 
Business can Thrive. We recognise our duty to provide value for money quality 
services to the community and expect all our Councillors and staff to lead by 
example, working to the highest standards and safeguarding the public resources 
they are responsible for. We will adopt a risk based approach to eradicating fraud, 
corruption, theft and bribery and promote zero tolerance, and use tools identified in 
the Local Government Fraud Strategy, Fighting Fraud Locally.
 
2. What we mean by Fraud, Corruption and Bribery
This policy outlines our approach to eradicating fraud, corruption, theft and bribery. 
Throughout this policy, these terms are defined as:
 Deliberately falsifying substituting or destroying records for personal gain
 Falsifying time sheets, flex time or mileage claims
 Failure to declare an interest
 Intentional breaches of financial regulations and procedures
 The offer, giving or acceptance of inducements to influence action or decisions by 

the Council
 Selling Council equipment inappropriately
 Abuse of position as an employee to benefit friends, family or others
 Use of deception with the intention of obtaining an advantage, avoiding an 

obligation or causing loss to another party
 Theft of funds, services or assets from the Council or its partners
 Evading liability for payment
 Working whilst on sick leave
 The act of attempted fraud will be treated as seriously as actual fraud.

The Bribery Act 2010 makes it possible for senior officers to be convicted where they 
are deemed to have given their consent or tacit approval in giving or receiving a 
bribe. It also created the corporate offence of “Failing to prevent bribery on behalf of 
a commercial organisation.” To protect itself against the corporate offence the Act 

169



Page 6 of 9

also requires organisations to have “adequate procedures in place to prevent 
bribery.” This policy statement, the codes of conduct and the Whistleblowing Policy 
are designed to meet that requirement.
Responsibilities
Stakeholder Specific Responsibilities
Chief Executive Accountable for the Council's overall governance 

arrangements including the procedures and effectiveness of 
the Council's arrangements for countering fraud and 
corruption

Monitoring Officer Advise Councillors and Officers on ethical issues, standards 
and powers to ensure that the Council operates within the law 
and statutory Codes of Practice. To promote, monitor and 
enforce probity and high ethical standards within the District 
Council and Town and Parish Councils within the district of 
Breckland

Section 151 Officer To ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate 
promptly any fraud or irregularity. To evaluate the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal controls designed to secure 
assets and data and to assist management in preventing and 
deterring fraud and abuse and to examine the whole system 
of internal controls and not just the financial controls

Governance and 
Audit Committee

To monitor the Council’s policies and consider the 
effectiveness of the arrangements for Countering Fraud and 
Whistleblowing

Councillors To support and promote the development of a strong counter 
fraud culture

Executive Directors The Executive Directors are responsible for the Council’s 
arrangements to manage risk.
To champion and promote the development of a strong 
counter fraud culture

External Audit Statutory duty to ensure that the Council has in place 
adequate arrangements for the prevention and detection of 
fraud, corruption and theft

Internal Audit Provide resources to implement the Council's counter fraud 
policy and for the prompt investigation of suspected fraud and 
irregularities. To ensure that action is taken to improve 
controls and reduce the risk of fraud

Managers Identify the risks to which systems, operation and procedures 
are exposed; developing and maintaining effective controls to 
prevent and detect fraud; ensuring controls are complied with. 
Notify the Section 151 Officer immediately of any suspected 
fraud, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the 
Council's property or resources. Pending investigation and 
reporting, taking all necessary steps to prevent further loss 
and to secure records and documentation against removal or 
alteration

Staff To comply with Council policies and procedures, to be aware 
of the possibility of fraud, corruption and theft, and to report 
any concerns immediately to their manager or the Section 
151 Officer

ARP Fraud Team To provide an effective and efficient fraud service for the 
Council

Public, Partners, 
Suppliers and 
Contractors

To be aware of the possibility of fraud and corruption against 
the Council and report any concerns or suspicions

170



Page 7 of 9

3. Our Approach

We will fulfil our responsibility to reduce fraud and protect our resources by a 
strategic approach consistent with that outlined in the Local Government Fraud 
Strategy - Fighting Fraud Locally.  The three key themes are Acknowledge – 
Prevent – Pursue:

ACKNOWLEDGE
Committing Support The Council will have commitment to tackling the fraud 

threat.  We have robust whistle blowing procedures which 
support those who come forward to report suspected fraud.  
All reports will be treated seriously and acted upon.  We will 
not, however, tolerate malicious allegations.

Assessing and 
Understanding Risks

We will continuously assess those areas most vulnerable to 
the risk of fraud in conjunction with our Risk Management 
arrangements and risk based Internal Audit reviews.  
Through these assessments we can understand how fraud 
affects the Council and what we can do about it.

Robust Response We will strengthen measures to prevent fraud – the Audit 
and Investigation Teams will work with managers and policy 
makers to ensure new and existing systems and policy 
initiatives are adequately fraud proofed.

PREVENT
Better Use of 
Information & 
Technology
Working with Others

We will make greater use of data and analytical software to 
prevent and detect fraudulent activity.  We will look for 
opportunities to share data and fraud intelligence to increase 
our capability to uncover potential and actual fraud.

Anti-Fraud Culture We will promote and develop a strong counter fraud culture, 
raise awareness and provide information on all aspects of 
our counter fraud work.  This will include publicising the 
results of all proactive work, fraud investigations, successful 
sanctions and any recovery of losses due to fraud.

PURSUE
Fraud Recovery A crucial element of our response to tackling fraud is 

recovering any monies lost through fraud – this is an 
important part of our strategy and will be rigorously pursued, 
where possible.

Punishing Fraudsters We will apply realistic and effective sanctions for individuals 
or organisations where an investigation reveals fraudulent 
activity.  This may include legal action, criminal and/or 
disciplinary action, where appropriate.

Enforcement Appropriately trained investigators will investigate any fraud 
detected through the planned proactive work, cases of 
suspected fraud referred from internal or external 
stakeholders or received via the whistle blowing 
arrangements.

Implementation
Service Managers are responsible for making sure that all staff are familiar with the 
content of this policy. Under its terms of reference it is the role of the Governance 

171



Page 8 of 9

and Audit Committee to review the Council procedures, incidences and actions for 
handling allegations from whistle blowers, and Counter fraud corruption and bribery 
policy. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for making sure that the Council has 
control systems and measures in place and is accountable for the implementation of 
this policy. There is a source of support for Fraud under the Council's Internal Audit 
Contract. Communication plans and training are very important in highlighting 
awareness and Management Team and Service Managers have a key role to play in 
making sure this happens.

Reporting concerns of Fraud, Corruption and Bribery
Anyone who has a concern that a potential incident of fraud, corruption or bribery has 
arisen should always attempt to raise these concerns at the earliest opportunity.  The 
Council acknowledges that this can be difficult and challenging to do in some cases 
and the Whistleblowing Policy has been established in order to provide those raising 
concerns with a safe avenue with which to do so.  It also offers sources of advice and 
guidance that they may turn to.  The Whistleblowing Policy can be found on the 
Councils intranet and internet sites.  In addition, Appendix 1 to this policy provides 
details of the Council’s Whistleblowing contacts.

Management Control and Organisation
See Implementation and Monitoring sections.

Monitoring 
This policy is to be reviewed at least every 3 years (or more frequently if required by 
changes to statutory legislation).  Prior to any approval, the following parties shall be 
consulted:

 The Council’s Executive Management Team 
 The Governance and Audit Committee

On an annual basis, the policy shall be reviewed by the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager and Section 151 Officer to ensure that details remain relevant and up-to-
date.  This review will not require re-endorsement of the policy.

The policy will be also monitored in the following ways:
MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE
Incidence of fraud Section 151 Officer and either Anglia 

Revenues Partnership Joint Committee 
or Governance and Audit Committee 

Annual Governance Statement Executive Management Team and 
Governance Audit Committee

Annual returns Section 151 Officer

Related Policies and Strategies
Whistle blowing – Confidential Reporting Code
Anti-money Laundering Policy
Members’ Code of Conduct
ICT Security Policy
Financial Regulations
ARP Fraud Policies
Officers’ Code of Conduct

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Contacts for Whistle blowing

172



Page 9 of 9

Appendix 1
Contacts for Whistle Blowing

Raising concerns internally
Chief Executive Anna Graves

Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
01362 656870

Executive Director Commercialisation 
(Statutory S151 Officer)

Christine Marshall
christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
01362 656870

Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance (Monitoring Officer)

Maxine O’Mahony
Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
01362 656870

Executive Director Place Rob Walker
Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
01362 656870

Head of Internal Audit Emma Hodds
ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk
01508 533791

Human Resources Manager Susie Richardson
susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk
01362 656870

The Fraud Officer
For raising suspicions concerning 
Council Tax and Housing Benefits 
Fraud

The Fraud Team
reportingfraud@angliarevenues.gov.uk
01842 756516

173

mailto:Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk
mailto:reportingfraud@angliarevenues.gov.uk


Breckland Council

Whistle Blowing Policy – Confidential 
Reporting Code

February 2019

174



Page 2 of 20

Document Control and History

Version Control

Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue

1.1 Alison 
Chubbock

1 February 2019 Update to 2016 policy

Approval of draft and final approval process

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

1.1 Gov & Audit 
Committee

Revision Schedule

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

Added to Policy Register

Yes/No Policy Officer Signature and 
Date

Signature and Date

175



Page 3 of 20

CONTENTS

Introduction......................................................................5
Scope – Policy Aim..........................................................6
Legislation or Executive Summary ................................6
Policy Consultation and Consideration.........................7
Policy Statement..............................................................7
Implementation ..............................................................12
Management Control and Organisation ......................12
Monitoring ......................................................................12
Related Policies and Strategies ...................................13
Appendices ....................................................................14

176



Page 4 of 20

Introduction
What is Whistle blowing?

Whistle blowing is the raising of a significant concern.  These concerns may cover 
issues of fraud, misconduct, or illegality, and this policy is designed to ensure that 
people know how to raise a genuine concern, and can do so in the knowledge that 
they will not face reprisal for their action.

The Whistleblowing commission, established in 2013 by the then whistleblowing 
charity Public Concern at Work (PCaW) now named ‘Protect’, is a charity which 
provides independent advice and information on whistle blowing. They draw the 
following distinction between whistle blowing and pursuing a complaint:

“When someone blows the whistle they are raising a concern about danger or 
illegality that affects others (e.g. customers, members of the public, or their 
employer). The person blowing the whistle is usually not directly, personally affected 
by the danger or illegality. Consequently, the whistle blower rarely has a personal 
interest in the outcome of any investigation into their concern - they are simply trying 
to alert others. For this reason, the whistle blower should not be expected to prove 
the malpractice. He or she is a messenger raising a concern so that others can 
address it.”

What is the purpose of the Whistle blowing Policy?

Employees, councillors and others who deal with the Council may be the first to spot 
things that may be wrong or inappropriate within the Council. However, they might 
not say anything because they think this would be disloyal, or they might be 
concerned that their suspicions are unjustified or might turn out to be so after 
enquiry. They may also be worried that they or someone else might be victimised, or 
are unclear with whom to raise their concern.

Members of the public may also have concerns, but be unsure how and when to 
express them. 

Breckland Council has produced this Whistle Blowing Policy to help: 

 councillors

 employees (including temporary and agency staff) 

 others with whom the Council has dealings (e.g. contractors, partners, suppliers 
and voluntary organisations), and 

 members of the public 

to understand how and when to contact the Council with their concerns.

177



Page 5 of 20

The Council is committed to maintaining an open culture with the highest standards 
of honesty and accountability. It takes all inappropriate behaviour very seriously and 
is committed to investigating any genuine concerns raised.

This policy aims to ensure that any concerns can be raised with confidence and 
without any worry on the part of the whistle blower about being victimised, 
discriminated against or disadvantaged in any way as a result.

Scope – Policy Aim

The policy aims to:

 encourage you to feel confident in raising serious or sensitive concerns about 
inappropriate behaviour and to question and act upon concerns

 provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken

 ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of 
how to pursue them if you are not satisfied

 reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimization if 
you have a reasonable belief that you have raised any concern in good faith

This policy applies to:

 Breckland Council Councillors

 All Breckland Council staff (including Capita Symonds, shared managers and 
officers providing services to and on behalf of the Council)

 Council partners, contractors, suppliers, council owned/part owned companies 
and consultants

 Breckland residents and any other members of the public

Executive Summary

The aim of this policy is to maintain a working environment where people, whether 
they are employees of the Council, suppliers, contractors, councillors or private 
individuals co-opted on to committees of the Council are able to raise concerns 
where they think there is misconduct or malpractice, and to know that their concerns 
will be taken seriously and investigated. The policy is intended to give confidence to 
employees to whistle blow and, as such, it incorporates statutory provision for 
protection under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. Members of the public may 
also have concerns. That is why we have produced this whistle blowing policy not 
only to help our staff but we have published this document on our website to enable 
the public to also contact us with their concerns.  Personal data will be used within 
lawful purposes, as detailed within the Council's Privacy Policy and Finance's Privacy 
Notice on our website.

Policy Consultation and Consideration

The Council’s Executive Management Team and Governance and Audit Committee.

178



Page 6 of 20

Policy Statement

1. Policy Coverage

What types of concern are covered by the policy?
This policy is intended to deal with serious or sensitive concerns about inappropriate 
behaviour.  The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 outlines that a “protected” 
disclosure of a concern is one which demonstrates one or more of the following:   

 A criminal offence has been committed, or is likely to be committed

 Disclosures related to a miscarriage of justice

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary dangers to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Beyond the legal context above, the Council would encourage employees, members 
of the public, and any other interested parties to raise any significant concerns that 
they may have, as soon as they are reasonably aware of them.  These concerns 
could be about any aspects of the Council’s activities, e.g. with reference to Council 
employees, Members, or suppliers acting on behalf of the Council, and relate to 
issues that are either occurring now or likely to happen in the future.

What is not covered by the Policy?
The Council has a number of policies and procedures to address other matters, for 
example: 

 Employees’ complaints about their terms and conditions of employment. These 
matters are dealt with through the Grievance Policy and Procedure. 

 Instances of bullying and harassment of Council’s employees are dealt with 
through the Harassment and Bullying Prevention Policy.

 Complaints from members of the public about the Council’s services. These are 
dealt with through the Council’s Complaints Procedure.

 Concerns with reference to members should be referred to the Monitoring Officer

This policy is not designed to question financial or business decisions taken by the 
Council nor may it be used to reconsider any matters that have already been 
addressed under the harassment, grievance, disciplinary or complaints procedures.

2. Safeguards

Protecting the Whistle Blower

In accordance with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, Breckland Council 
undertakes to protect, as best it can, an employee who blows the whistle from 
personal claims, victimisation, harassment or bullying as a result of his or her 
disclosure.  This assurance is not extended to someone who maliciously raises a 

179



Page 7 of 20

matter they know is untrue; such instances may be subject to the Council’s 
disciplinary procedures.  

Any employee or councillor taking any reprisal or similar action against a whistle 
blower because he or she has made a protected disclosure under this policy will be 
subject to disciplinary action by the Council.

The Council will, at the request of the whistle blower, keep the nature of concerns 
confidential. It will not reveal names or positions without permission, unless it has to 
by law, or an enquiry results in a criminal investigation in which the whistle blower 
might be required as a witness. Whistle blowers should be aware, however, that the 
fact that enquiries are being made might, of itself, result in their identity becoming 
known.  Where possible, the Council will make you aware if your identity is likely to 
be compromised through investigation.

All these matters will be explained at the time a concern is raised so the whistle 
blower can decide whether or not to proceed. The Council will also keep the whistle 
blower informed if the situation significantly changes.

Anonymous Allegations
The Council encourages whistle blowers to give their name when making an 
allegation. It will do all it can to protect the whistle blower. Concerns raised 
anonymously tend to be far less effective and if, for example, the Council does not 
have enough information, it may not be able to investigate the matter at all. 
Also, from a practical point of view, it is impossible to provide protection to a person 
whose identity is unknown and more difficult to judge whether the concern is made in 
good faith or maliciously.
If whistle blowers feel that they cannot give their name, the Council will make a 
judgement on whether or not to consider the matter depending upon such things as:

 the seriousness of the issue 

 whether the concern is believable; and 

 whether it can carry out a sufficient investigation based on the information 
provided 

Assurances to third parties
The assurances provided to employees raising concerns cannot be given in the 
same way to third parties.  For example, the Council cannot guarantee protection to 
employees of third party (contractor) organisations.  However, we expect that all 
contractors are aware of the Council’s whistle blowing procedures, and act in 
accordance with these.
Further, with regard to members of the Public, whilst they are not afforded statutory 
protection in the same way as employees, the Council is committed to treating all 
citizens fairly.  Raising a concern under this policy will not affect the rights of any 
council citizens as set out within the Council’s Constitution.  

Untrue Allegations
If a whistle blower makes an allegation which they believe is true, but it is not 
confirmed by an investigation, the Council will not take any action against them.

180



Page 8 of 20

However, if a whistle blower makes a deliberately false or malicious allegation which 
they know is untrue, the Council will take appropriate disciplinary or legal action 
against them. Allegations of this nature are not protected by the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 1998.

3. How to raise a Concern

Guidance for Members of the Public, Contractors, Councillors and Partners
Members of the Public, Contractors and Councillors and those involved with partner 
organisations who suspect a Council Employee, another Councillor, Organisational 
Partners or other Contractors (in their dealings with the Council) of impropriety or 
illegality should contact one of the following:

 The Chief Executive

 Any Executive Director

 The Monitoring Officer 

 Head of Internal Audit

If your concern relates to one of the above officers, you should contact Ernst & 
Young, as the Council’s External Auditor. 
All contact details are included within Appendix 1 of this policy.

Guidance for Employees
Whistle blowers should not attempt to investigate any concern themselves, but raise 
their concern using one of the avenues shown below.
A Council employee should first raise a concern with their manager. Guidance to 
employees on how to proceed is contained in the document “Guidance for 
employees -  How to react to concerns of inappropriate behaviour” – see Appendix 2.
Guidance to managers on how to deal with a concern is contained in the document 
“Guidance for Managers – How to react to concerns of inappropriate behaviour” – 
see Appendix 3. 
If the employee feels that it is inappropriate to raise a concern with their manager 
given the person involved and/or the seriousness or sensitivity of the matter, contact 
should be made with one of the following officers

 The Chief Executive

 Any Executive Director

 Officers in the Council’s Executive Management Team

 The S151 Officer

 HR Manager

 Legal Services Manager

 Head of Internal Audit

If your concern relates to any of the Officers above, this should be referred to the 
Chief Executive.  If your concern relates to the Chief Executive, then this matter can 

181



Page 9 of 20

be raised with the Leader of the Council (or the Deputy Leader of the Council if the 
Leader is unavailable) or Ernst & Young, as the Council’s External Auditors.
Whistle blowers are encouraged to raise concerns promptly and where possible in 
writing, giving as much information as possible, such as relevant background, 
names, dates, places and the reason for their concern. However, concerns can be 
raised by telephone or by meeting the appropriate officer. The earlier a concern is 
raised, the easier it will be to take effective action.
Although it will not be necessary to prove beyond doubt that an allegation is true, a 
whistle blower will be expected to demonstrate that there are reasonable grounds for 
voicing their concern.
Any whistle blower will be asked to declare any personal interest they may have in 
the concern being raised.
The Council has developed procedures as to how whistle blowing concerns should 
be reviewed and investigated.  It is recommended that anyone who raises a concern 
refers to these to identify the next course of action that will be taken in response to 
the issue raised.  
In matters concerning the health, safety and welfare of those on our premises 
(whether members of staff, contractors or visitors) anyone, including an elected 
safety representative, who becomes aware of a hazard (actual or potential) or 
dangerous occurrence should immediately notify the Health and Safety Advisor, 
before contacting any outside body, to ensure that immediate action can be taken if 
necessary to deal with the hazard. Contact can be made by telephone, email or the 
sending of a written report as appropriate to the situation.

Sources of support for the whistle blower
People who do not work for the Council might want to discuss their concern with a 
friend or colleague first. They may then find it easier to raise a concern if others 
share the same experiences or concerns.
For employees who are members of a union, trade union representatives can give 
general support and advice, or act on their behalf if this would help. This could be 
useful, particularly if the employee wishes to remain anonymous, to the extent that is 
possible.
The Council will encourage the trade unions to support any member of staff who 
raises a concern with them.
The Council further welcomes any member of staff to consult with Protect (previously 
PCaW) if they are not sure about whistle blowing.  Protect are an independent charity 
who provide confidential support and advice to whistle blowers through a telephone 
helpline and the internet.  Further details for Protect are included in Appendix 1.

Raising issues with an external party
Concerns are most readily addressed where they are raised internally in the first 
instance.  However, there may be situations where you feel it is inappropriate to raise 
the concern internally, or unable to do so.  Alternatively, you may have already raised 
a concern and are dissatisfied with the outcome.  In these situations, there are a 
number of other parties to whom you may turn:

 Relevant Regulatory Organisations (e.g. the Environment Agency, Health and 
Safety Executive or Local Government Ombudsman)

 The Police (where a criminal matter is involved)

182



Page 10 of 20

 Protect

Contact details for all parties are included within Appendix 1.
Before consulting an external party, the Council recommends that the whistle blower 
seeks independent legal advice (disclosure to a legal advisor is protected by law).  
The law most readily protects disclosures that are seen to be “reasonable”, i.e. 
disclosures that are made within the Council, or to an appropriate regulator at an 
early stage.  If the matter is taken outside of the Council, the whistle blower should 
ensure they do not disclose information about a third party that may be covered by a 
duty of confidentiality (e.g. commercially sensitive information or personal, private 
data).

Withdrawing your Allegation
You have the right to withdraw any allegation previously made under this policy and 
procedure.  You should think very carefully before taking this course of action, 
bearing in mind an investigation may have started and you may need to explain this 
change of decision.  If it considered appropriate, despite the complainant withdrawing 
the allegation, the investigation of the allegation may continue if it is deemed 
necessary.

How the Council will Respond
Appendix 4 gives details on how the Council will respond to concerns raised under 
this Whistleblowing policy.

Implementation

Responsible Officer for Whistle Blowing

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is the Senior Officer in the Council who can take an 
independent view of any concerns raised.  

All concerns raised will be handled in line with the Whistle blowing Procedural 
Guidance.

 Responsibility for the Whistle Blowing Policy

All concerns raised and the outcomes will be reported to the Governance and Audit 
Committee annually in a form that does not endanger confidentiality.

Management Control and Organisation

See Implementation section

Monitoring 

This policy is to be reviewed at least every 3 years (or more frequently if required by 
changes to statutory legislation).  Prior to any approval, the following parties shall be 
consulted:

 The Council’s Executive Management Team 
 The Governance and Audit Committee

183



Page 11 of 20

On an regular basis, Appendix 1 of the policy, which provides details of the key 
parties responsible for whistleblowing, shall be reviewed by the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager and Section 151 Officer to ensure that details remain relevant 
and up-to-date.  This review will not require re-endorsement of the policy.

Related Policies and Strategies

Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy

Members’ Code of Conduct

ICT Security Policy

Financial Regulations

ARP Fraud Policies

Officers’ Code of Conduct

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Contacts for Whistle blowing

Appendix 2 – Guidance for Employees

Appendix 3 – Guidance for Managers

Appendix 4 – How the Council Will Respond

184



Page 12 of 20

Appendix 1

Contacts for Whistle Blowing

Raising concerns internally

Chief Executive Anna Graves

Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Executive Director Commercialisation 
(Statutory S151 Officer)

Christine Marshall

christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance (Monitoring Officer)

Maxine O’Mahony

Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Executive Director Place Rob Walker

Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Head of Internal Audit Emma Hodds

ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

01508 533791

Human Resources Manager Susie Richardson

susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk

01362 656870

The Fraud Officer

For raising suspicions concerning 
Council Tax, NNDR and Housing 
Benefits Fraud

The Fraud Team

reportingfraud@angliarevenues.gov.uk

01842 756516

185

mailto:Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk
mailto:reportingfraud@angliarevenues.gov.uk


Page 13 of 20

Raising Concerns Externally

Protect- www.pcaw.org.uk

For support with how to raise concerns, and action to 
take

Protect

CAN Mezzanine

7-14 Great Dover Street

London

SE1 4YR

020 3117 2520

whistle@protect-
advice.org.uk

External Audit

For issues relating to financial probity and 
governance including the proper conduct of public 
business, value for money, fraud and corruption in 
relation to the provision of centrally funded public 
services

The Comptroller and Auditor 
General  National Audit Office  

157-197 Buckingham Palace 
Road  

Victoria  

London  SW1W 9SP  

020 7798 7999

https://www.nao.org.uk/conta
ct-us/whistleblowing-
disclosures/

The Local Government Ombudsman

www.lgo.org.uk

The Commission for Local Administration in England

For Complaints against Councils – will cover all 
complaints

PO Box 4771

Coventry

CV4 0EH

0300 061 0614

Norfolk Constabulary

For all breaches of the law (except as noted below)

Operations and 
Communications Centre

Jubilee House

Falconers Chase

Wymondham

NR18 0WW

101

Serious Fraud Office

www.sfo.gov.uk

2-4 Cockspur Street

London

SW1Y 5BS

186

http://www.pcaw.org.uk/
mailto:whistle@protect-advice.org.uk
mailto:whistle@protect-advice.org.uk
https://www.nao.org.uk/contact-us/whistleblowing-disclosures/
https://www.nao.org.uk/contact-us/whistleblowing-disclosures/
https://www.nao.org.uk/contact-us/whistleblowing-disclosures/
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://www.sfo.gov.uk/


Page 14 of 20

Fraud and Corruption issues 020 7239 7272

Public.enquiries@sfo.gsi.gov.
uk

National Crime Agency – 
www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk

For Money Laundering Issues

Units 1-6 Citadel Place

Tinworth Street

London

SE11 5EF

0370 496 7622

communication@nca.x.gsi.go
v.uk

The Health and Safety Executive – 
www.hse.gov.uk

Rosebery Court

2nd Floor

St Andrews Business Park

Norwich

NR7 0HS

0300 003 1647

The Environment Agency – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/enviro
nment-agency

For environmental crimes

National Customer Contact 
Centre

PO Box 544

Rotherham

S60 1BY

03708 506 506

187

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/
mailto:communication@nca.x.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:communication@nca.x.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.hse.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency


Page 15 of 20

Appendix 2

GUIDANCE FOR EMPLOYEES

HOW TO REACT TO CONCERNS OF INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

The action you take when you suspect inappropriate behaviour may have 
happened, or be about to happen, can be crucial.  Inappropriate behaviour is 
described in the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy as:

 Any criminal offence, particularly fraud or corruption 

 Unauthorised use of Council money 

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary dangers to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 A person abusing their position for any unauthorised use or for personal 
gain 

 A person deliberately not keeping to a Council policy or an official code of 
practice (e.g. the Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy, the Employees’ or 
Members’ Code of Conduct)

 A person failing to meet appropriate professional standards 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Following these simple rules should help the Council in carrying out enquiries 
into any concerns you have.

DO

 Make an immediate note of your concerns.

Note all relevant details, such as what was said in telephone or other 
conversations, the date, time and the names of any parties involved.

 Convey your suspicions to someone with the appropriate authority and 
experience in accordance with the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy.

 Deal with the matter promptly if you feel your concerns are warranted.

Delay may cause the Council to suffer further financial loss or make further 
enquiry more difficult.

DON’T  

Do nothing.

Be afraid of raising your concerns.

You will not suffer any recrimination from the Council as a result of voicing a 
reasonably held suspicion. The Council will treat the matter sensitively and 
confidentially, and will take reasonable steps to protect anyone who raises a 
well intentioned concern.

Approach or accuse any individuals directly.

188



Page 16 of 20

Try to investigate the matter yourself.

There are special rules surrounding the gathering of evidence. Any attempt to 
gather evidence by people who are unfamiliar with these rules may weaken or 
destroy any future prosecution should that be thought appropriate.

Convey your suspicions to anyone other than those indicated in the 
Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy.

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 - will protect you from any reprisals as long 
as you meet the rules set out in the Act.  The rules are:

 You must disclose the information in good faith
 You must reasonably believe it to be substantially true
 You must not seek any personal gain

189



Page 17 of 20

Appendix 3

GUIDANCE FOR MANAGERS

HOW TO REACT TO CONCERNS OF INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

The action you take when you identify, or are made aware of, suspected 
inappropriate behaviour can be crucial in determining the success of any 
subsequent enquiries. Inappropriate behaviour is described in the Council’s 
Whistle Blowing Policy as:

 Any criminal offence, particularly fraud or corruption 

 Unauthorised use of Council money 

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary dangers to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 A person abusing their position for any unauthorised use or for personal 
gain 

 A person deliberately not keeping to a Council policy or an official code of 
practice (e.g. the Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy, the Employees’ or 
Members’ Code of Conduct)

 A person failing to meet appropriate professional standards 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Following these simple rules will help to ensure that matters are properly 
handled.

As a manager you should familiarise yourself with both the Council’s Policy to 
help fight Fraud and Corruption and its Whistle Blowing Policy

DO

 Be responsive to employees’ concerns.

As part of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption culture, you should 
encourage employees to voice any reasonably held suspicion. As a manager 
you should treat all employees’ concerns seriously and sensitively.

 Note details.

Get as much information as possible from the employee reporting the 
suspicion and encourage them to record this in writing. If the employee has 
made any notes, request access to these

Note any documentary evidence which may exist to support the allegations 
made, but do not interfere with this evidence in any way.

 Evaluate the allegation objectively

Before you take the matter further determine whether any suspicions appear 
to be justified.

Be objective when evaluating the issue. Consider the facts as they appear 
based on information you have to hand.

190



Page 18 of 20

If in doubt, report your suspicions anyway.

If you consider that no further action is necessary, you should still record your 
decision and also inform the Monitoring Officer of the original notification 
details.

 Advise the appropriate person

If you feel that a suspicion is justified advise an appropriate officer in 
accordance with the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy

 Deal with the matter promptly if you feel your concerns are warranted.

Delay may cause the Council to suffer further financial loss or make further 
enquiry more difficult.

DON’T

Ridicule suspicions raised by employees

The Council cannot operate an effective anti-fraud and corruption culture or 
Whistle Blowing Policy if employees are reluctant to pass on their concerns to 
management due to fear of ridicule or recrimination.

You need to ensure that all employee concerns are given a fair hearing. You 
should reassure employees that they will not suffer recrimination by raising 
any reasonably held suspicion.

Approach or accuse any individuals directly

Convey your suspicions to anyone other than those indicated in the 
Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy

Try to investigate the matter yourself

Investigations by employees who are unfamiliar with the requirements of 
evidence are highly likely to jeopardise a successful outcome. They may also 
alert the suspect and result in the destruction of evidence.

Your primary responsibility is to report the issue and all associated facts to the 
appropriate officer, wherever possible.

191



Page 19 of 20

Appendix 4

How the Council Will Respond

Whoever you raise your concerns with and whether the concern is made by an 
employee, member of the public, contractor, Councillor or partner, an impartial 
person will be appointed to investigate your concern and you will be informed of who 
this is.  Confidentiality will be maintained in accordance with this policy.

In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or possible 
malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is 
appropriate and, if so what form it should take.  The overriding principle which the 
Council will have in mind is the public interest.  Concerns or allegations which fall 
within the scope of specific procedures (for example, harassment or discrimination 
issues) will normally be referred for consideration under those procedures.

Following these initial enquiries the Council will respond to your concerns as 
appropriate and establish whether or not:

 Your concerns should be considered under this policy
 Your concerns can be allayed satisfactorily without invoking a formal 

whistleblowing investigation
 No further investigation is necessary
 Your concerns may be resolved by other mechanisms or action, e.g. mediation, 

training or review
 There is sufficient substance behind your concerns to trigger an investigation

Where there is sufficient evidence behind the concerns to trigger an investigation the 
concern will either:

 Be investigated by management or internal audit; or
 Be referred to the Police; or
 Be referred to the external auditor; or
 Form the subject of an independent enquiry

Some concerns may be resolved by action agreed with you without the need for 
investigation.  If urgent action is required this will be taken before any investigation is 
conducted.

Within 10 working days of a concern being raised, the person appointed to 
investigate your concern will contact you (in a way which does not arise suspicions in 
your workplace):

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received
 Indicating how we propose to deal with the matter
 Giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response
 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made
 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms
 Advising you of your entitlement to seek advice and representation from your 

trade union representative
 Telling you whether further investigations will take place and if not, why not; and
 To agree with you how to proceed if you have chosen to remain anonymous.

192



Page 20 of 20

The Council will do what it can to minimise any difficulties, which you may experience 
as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required to give evidence in 
criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Council will arrange for you to receive advice 
about the procedure and other appropriate support.

Once the person appointed to investigate your concern has completed their 
investigations, they will produce a written report that sets out:

 The background to the whistleblowing concern;
 The findings of fact and associated evidence;
 The decision and reasons for the decision; and
 The recommendations and associated action plan

The Council accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has been properly 
addressed.  Subject to legal constraints and any confidentiality or other issues, we 
will inform you of the outcome of any investigation.

193



Breckland Council

Money Laundering Policy

February 2019

194



Page 2 of 20

Document Control and History

Version Control

Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue

1.1 Alison 
Chubbock

February 2019 Update to previous policy

Approval of draft and final approval process

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

1.1 Gov & 
Audit Cttee

Revision Schedule

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

Added to Policy Register

Yes/No Policy Officer Signature and 
Date

Signature and Date

195



Page 3 of 20

CONTENTS

Introduction......................................................................5
Scope – Policy Aim..........................................................6
Legislation or Executive Summary ................................6
Policy Consultation and Consideration.........................7
Policy Statement..............................................................7
Implementation ..............................................................12
Management Control and Organisation ......................12
Monitoring ......................................................................12
Related Policies and Strategies ...................................13
Appendices ....................................................................14

196



Page 4 of 20

Introduction

Context

This Policy, and the accompanying procedures and reporting forms, represents an 
important part of the Council’s approach to dealing with the risk of fraud and 
corruption, and thus this Policy seeks to complement the Corporate Counter Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy and contribute to the overall 
framework of Corporate Governance established to ensure that the Council is well 
managed and fulfils its statutory and regulatory duties in a proper and responsible 
manner.  Personal data will be used within lawful purposes, as detailed within the 
Council's Privacy Policy and Finance's Privacy Notice on our website.

What is Money Laundering?

Money laundering is a term designed to cover a number of offences. These offences 
may relate to the improper handling of funds that are the proceeds of criminal acts, or 
terrorist acts, so that they appear to come from a legitimate source. There are six 
main offences that may be committed under money laundering legislation, as 
established by the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002:

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 
from anywhere within Great Britain and Northern Ireland; 

 Being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects 
facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or 
on behalf of another person; 

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property; 
 Doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, 

falsifying a document; 
 Failing to disclose information relating to any of the above money laundering 

offences; and, 
 “Tipping off” – informing someone who is, or is suspected of being involved in 

money laundering activities, in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of their 
being investigated. 

These money laundering offences may be committed by an organisation or by 
individuals working for an organisation. 

‘Criminal property’ has a relatively broad definition in money laundering legislation 
and no financial ceiling has been specified, above which organisations are obliged to 
take action when money laundering activities are suspected. Benefiting from ‘criminal 
property’ can work on two levels, an individual benefiting financially from the 
proceeds of a crime they have committed themselves, or an individual benefiting 
from the proceeds of a crime/dishonest activities perpetrated by someone else. No 
matter how large or small the sum of money involved in these dishonest activities, 
the full weight of the money laundering legislation and regulations will apply 
regardless of the financial sums identified.

197



Page 5 of 20

What is the purpose of the Money Laundering Policy?

The risks to the Council of contravening money laundering legislation are relatively 
low and some aspects of the legal and regulatory requirements do not apply to public 
authorities. However, it is recognised that the Council is not completely immune from 
the risks surrounding money laundering. For this reason, the purpose of the Anti-
Money Laundering Policy is to clearly demonstrate that the Council embraces the 
underlying principles of money laundering legislation and is taking reasonable steps 
to minimise the likelihood of such activities occurring, by developing a suitable 
framework of arrangements to safeguard itself against action of this nature, whilst 
making satisfactory provisions to achieve compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, where appropriate.

Scope – Policy Aim

This policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to prevent criminal 
activity through money laundering. It is extremely important that all employees are 
familiar with their legal responsibilities and are vigilant at all times: serious criminal 
sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. The key requirement on 
employees is to promptly report any suspected money laundering activity to the 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO).  Failure by any employee to comply 
with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to disciplinary action being taken 
against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in accordance with Breckland 
Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.  

Legislation
There are three main laws and regulations which set out the money laundering 
regulations:

 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (amended by the Serious Organised 
Crime and Police Act 2005 and the Serious Crime Act 2015)

 The Terrorism Act 2000 (amended by the Anti-Terrorism and Security Act 
2001 and Terrorism Act 2006)

 The Money Laundering Regulations 2017 (which supersede the money 
laundering regulations 2007)

Under the Terrorism Act 2000, all individuals and businesses in the UK have an 
obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the 
proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for terrorism or its laundering, where it 
relates to information that comes to them in the course of their business or 
employment

The 2017 Money Laundering Regulations establish that as long as businesses are 
not operating within the “regulated market”, then the offences of failing to disclose 
suspicions of money laundering, and tipping off, do not apply. The list of businesses 
within the regulated market does not include local authorities, and as such these 
offences do not apply to the Council. Furthermore, the 2003 Money Laundering 
Regulations, which preceded the 2007 and 2017 regulations, made organisations 
responsible for undertaking “relevant business” to have appropriate systems in place 
for the reporting of money laundering, staff training, and identifying and keeping 
records of money laundering.

198



Page 6 of 20

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued guidance 
on how legal and regulatory provisions impact on public authorities. The latest 
information produced on the subject has been taken into account when drawing up 
the Policy. 

CIPFA advices that ‘it is prudent and responsible practice for public service 
organisations, including those outside the scope of the regulations, to put in place 
appropriate and proportionate anti-money laundering safeguards and reporting 
arrangements, designed to enable them to detect and avoid involvement in the 
crimes described in the legislation and regulations.’ CIPFA guidance further 
emphasises that there could be a “substantial reputational risk for an authority which 
does not have such procedures in place”.

This Policy and the working practices aligned to it have thus been designed to 
address the risk the Council may face if it does not properly address the potential for 
money laundering. As a responsible authority, we need to be mindful that a money 
laundering offence could be committed by an employee, or the Council could be a 
victim of such an offence.

Policy Consultation and Consideration

The Council’s Executive Management Team and Governance and Audit Committee

Policy Statement

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)
The Council has nominated the Shared Executive Director Commercialisation as the 
MLRO, in their absence the Shared Executive Director Strategy & Governance acts 
as the deputy MLRO.

Implementation

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)

The primary duty of any employee, member or third party under this Policy is to 
ensure that any suspicions or concerns that money laundering has occurred, or is 
likely to occur, should be reported to the MLRO as soon as the suspicion arises. It is 
essential that an employee comes forward as soon as practical to the MLRO. The 
disclosure should be within ‘hours’ of a suspicious activity coming to an individual 
officer’s attention, rather than several days or weeks later. Should this not be done, 
the employee may be liable to prosecution. To support the above process, 
Appendix 1 provides information on the types of activities where the Council may be 
subject to money laundering offences and guidance to staff on situations where 
money laundering activities could occur.

Suspicions can be raised through direct contact with the MLRO, however it is 
preferable to use the reporting form which has been developed at Appendix 2, and 
e-mail the completed form to the MLRO.

199



Page 7 of 20

The employee, member or third party should not make any further enquiries into the 
matter themselves, and any further action must be with the approval of the MLRO. 
Those who have raised a concern should ensure that they do not then voice their 
suspicions to the suspect and in so doing, tip them off to the concern.

The MLRO is required to promptly evaluate any concerns/disclosures raised and 
determine whether they require further investigation and hence referral to the 
National Crime Agency (NCA), using the reporting forms included at Appendix 2. 
The MLRO should not undertake investigation of any concerns themselves. Where 
legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with the Solicitor of the 
Council to determine the further action to be taken.

In some cases, it may be necessary to seek approval from NCA before the Council 
can undertake any further activity in respect of the transaction. Where the MLRO has 
made such a referral to NCA, they will notify the person raising the concern, and 
again inform the individual when NCA has provided permission for the transaction to 
proceed.

If a request for consent has been made to NCA, no action should occur for a period 
of 7 days or until NCA gives consent. If this results in a transaction having to be 
deferred or delayed, it should be carefully handled to ensure that the customer is not 
tipped off as to the money laundering concern.

After 7 days, if NCA does not notify otherwise, they are deemed to have given 
consent to the transaction. If NCA instead notifies they refuse to give consent, a 
moratorium period of 31 days starts on the day the Council receives the refusal 
notice. During this period, the Council cannot proceed with the matter for which the 
consent was applied. At the expiry of the moratorium period, NCA is deemed to have 
consented to the request and the Council can proceed.

The MLRO should retain the details of any referrals made, including correspondence 
with the necessary bodies, using the forms included in Appendix 2. All information 
should be retained for a minimum of 6 years.

To ensure the Council minimises the risk of tipping off, and to minimise any 
reputational damage should the suspicion be unfounded, the confidentiality of the 
matter will be respected at all times; the MLRO will only inform anyone of the 
suspicion where there is a genuine business need.

Customer Due Diligence

The Council does undertake activities that may be considered, under the Money 
Laundering Regulations, to be regulated, however it does not undertake these 
activities by way of business, and therefore would not normally be expected to 

200



Page 8 of 20

undertake due diligence in respect of any clients to whom it provides these services. 
The types of activities that are regulated are, for example, tax services, treasury 
services, financial and accounting services, audit services, estate functions, assisting 
the formation, operation or arrangement of a company or trust, and dealing in goods 
with a cash payment of more than €15,000.

However, it is good practice that wherever the Council does enter into such activities 
with a third party then due diligence checks should be actioned before the 
establishment of a relationship/transaction with the third party. Anyone entering into 
such transactions should refer these to the MLRO to undertake due diligence checks.  
Additionally it may sometimes be necessary to complete a Data Privacy Impact 
Assessment as part of the due diligence, please refer to the Council’s GDPR officer 
for further guidance.

Undertaking customer due diligence checks can take a number of forms. The Office 
of Fair Trading has issued “core guidance” in this area. Consideration should be 
given to taking one or more of the following, where applicable.

 Confirming the identity of the client via documentation, data or information 
obtained from a reliable and independent source, e.g. passport, and/or 
position within an organisation, where appropriate. 

 Obtaining confirmation from Companies House as to the registration details of 
the Company and details of the Company business. 

 Seeking electronic verification, e.g. performing credit checks. 
 Obtaining confirmation to regulated industries bodies (e.g. in the case of 

accountants, checking to CCAB certified bodies). 
 Requesting copies of financial statements. 
 Requesting details of interests and beneficial ownerships – with reference to 

the latter this is any individual who holds more than 25% of the shares, voting 
rights or interest in a company, partnership or trust. 

 Obtaining information on the purpose and intended nature of the business 
relationship. 

Any checks undertaken should remain proportionate to the risks of the individual 
business and the relationship. Additional checking may need to be performed if the 
person is not physically present to be identified, or they are politically exposed, by 
virtue of holding a prominent public function. Details of such checks should be 
recorded on the reporting forms in Appendix 2 and retained for a minimum of 6 
years, with an electronic copy of every customer due diligence record being retained 
by the MLRO to meet the requirements of the regulations and in case of inspection 
by the relevant supervising body.

There is also now an ongoing legal obligation to check the identity of existing clients 
and the nature and purpose of the business relationship with them at appropriate 
times. One option to review these matters might be to do so as part of the ongoing 
monitoring of the business arrangements, as is usually provided for in the Terms of 
Business Letter, Service Level Agreement or other written record, as well as 
scrutinising transactions as they occur, paying particular attention to complex or 
unusually large transactions, unusual patterns of transactions and/or unexpected 
transactions, etc.

201



Page 9 of 20

Training

The Council will take appropriate measures to ensure that all relevant employees are 
made aware of the law relating to money laundering and will arrange targeted, 
ongoing training to key individuals most likely to be affected by the legislation.

Further Information
Further information can be obtained from the MLRO and the following sources:

 www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk – website of the National Crime Agency; 
 Combating Financial Crime – Further Guidance on Anti-Money Laundering for 

Public Service Organisations, published by CIPFA; 
 Anti Money Laundering (Proceeds of Crime and Terrorism) – Guidance for 

Accountants, published by CCAB (www.ccab.org.uk) 
 Money Laundering Guidance at www.lawsociety.org.uk 
 Money Laundering Regulations https://www.gov.uk/guidance/money-

laundering-regulations-introduction 

Management Control and Organisation

See Implementation section

Monitoring 

The policy will be reviewed at least every 3 years (or more frequently if required by 
changes to statutory legislation). Subsequent to any approval, the following parties 
shall be consulted:

 The Council’s Executive Management Team 
 The Governance and Audit Committee

On an annual basis the sections of this report which provides details of the key 
parties responsible for money laundering activities shall be reviewed by the MLRO 
and the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to ensure that details remain relevant 
and up to date.  This review will not require re-endorsement of the policy.

Related Policies and Strategies

Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy

Whistleblowing Policy

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Guidelines to staff and Members

Appendix 2 Money Laundering Report Form

202

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/money-laundering-regulations-introduction
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/money-laundering-regulations-introduction


Page 10 of 20

Appendix 1

How the council May Be Exposed to Money Laundering

Guidelines to staff and Members on concerns or suspicions

1 Guidelines to staff and members on concerns or suspicions
1.1 If you do have any suspicions or concerns about an individual or transaction 

then it is always better to raise those concerns appropriately. If necessary, 
you may wish to use the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy for further support 
and guidance on how to raise a concern. Conversely, if in doubt, seek advice 
from the MLRO. 

1.2 Although some offences and suspicions may be fairly apparent, some can be 
more difficult to identify. The simple guidance is to be vigilant, and not be 
afraid to question something if you don’t think it looks right. If you think 
something looks suspicious, then the probability is someone else may also 
think the same. It is better for the Council to be safe when handling public 
money – it would not reflect well on the Council’s reputation if it was found we 
had taken monies that were obtained through theft, drug trafficking, terrorism, 
etc. 

1.3 It is recognised that a lot of the Council’s activities are sensitive in nature, and 
in cases what, to some people, may be suspicious or concerning behaviour, 
from a money laundering perspective may not necessarily be in line with the 
activity occurring. However, people should always be mindful of genuine 
concern and suspicion. 

2 The types of activities that may be affected

2.1 The following table sets out the types of activities that might be suspicious, 
and how the Council may come across those activities.  It is not intended to 
be exhaustive, and just because something you are suspicious about is not on 
the list, it doesn’t mean you shouldn’t report it.

Activity The types of activity that may be affected

New customers with 
high value 
transactions

 Selling property to individuals or businesses
 Renting out property to individuals or businesses 
 Entering into other lease agreements
 Undertaking services for other organisations

Secretive clients  Housing benefit claimants who have sums of money 
entering into / out of their bank account (even if we 
do not award them benefit, we should still consider 
money laundering implications)

 People buying or renting property from the Council 
who may not want to say what it is for

 People receiving grant funding who refuse to 
demonstrate what funding was used for

Customers who we 
think are acting 
dishonestly or illegally

 People paying for Council services who do not 
provide details about themselves 

 People making odd or unusual requests for payment 
arrangements

203



Page 11 of 20

Illogical transactions  People paying in cash then requesting refunds
 Requests for the Council to pay seemingly 

unconnected third parties in respect of goods / 
services provided to the Council

 Requests for the Council to pay in foreign currencies 
for no apparent reasons

Payments of 
substantial sums by 
cash

 Large debt arrears paid in cash 
 Refunding overpayments
 Deposits / payments for property

Movement of funds 
overseas

 Requests to pay monies overseas, potentially for “tax 
purposes”

Cancellation of earlier 
transactions

 Third party “refunds” grant payment as no longer 
needed / used

 No payment demanded even though good / service 
has been provided

 Sudden and unexpected termination of lease 
agreements

Requests for client 
account details 
outside normal 
course of business

 Queries from other companies regarding legitimacy 
of customers

 Council receiving correspondence / information on 
behalf of other companies

Extensive and over-
complicated client 
business structures / 
arrangements

 Requests to pay third parties in respect of goods / 
services

 Receipt of business payments (rent, business rates) 
in settlement from seemingly unconnected third 
parties

Poor accounting 
records and internal 
financial control

 Requests for grant funding / business support 
indicates third party not supported by financial 
information

 Companies tendering for contracts unable to provide 
proper financial information / information provided 
raises concerns

Unusual property 
investments or 
transactions

 Requests to purchase Council assets / land with no 
apparent purpose

 Requests to rent Council property with no apparent 
business motive

Overcomplicated 
legal arrangements / 
multiple solicitors

 Property transactions where the Council is dealing 
with several different parties

204



Page 12 of 20

Appendix 2

MONEY LAUNDERING REPORT FORM

Employee Details

Name _______________________________________________________

Directorate and Team  __________________________________________

Date Reported  ________________________________________________

Contact details ________________________________________________

Offence Details

Identities of the person(s) / company (s) subject to the enquiry 

Address and contact details of the subject 

Nature and details of the activity – please include whether this has already 
occurred or is likely to occur, where / when this occurred and how it arose – please 
continue on another sheet if necessary.  Please include details of all transactions.

205



Page 13 of 20

Investigations – has any investigation already occurred?  If so, please detail below

Discussions – have you discussed your suspicions with anyone – including any 
advisory bodies

Disclosure – is there any reason why you believe this should not be disclosed to 
NCA?

206



Page 14 of 20

Further Information – if there is any further information you believe to be relevant, 
please include here:

Signed _____________________________________________________

Date _______________________________________________________

This form should now be passed directly to the Money Laundering Officer

207



Page 15 of 20

MONEY LAUNDERING DISCLOSURE FORM – TO BE COMPLETED BY THE 
MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER

Date of Report being made ________________________________________

Subject of investigation 
______________________________________________________________

Will this matter be reported to NCA? _______________________________

Date of report to NCA ___________________________________________

If this is not being reported, why not?

Officer referring customer _________________________________________

Contact details for officer _________________________________________

Is consent required from NCA for transaction to occur? Yes / No

If so:

Contact details of NCA liaison 
______________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________

Has consent been received within 7 days? Yes / No

208



Page 16 of 20

After 7 days, has notification been given to employee? Yes / No

Has consent been denied by NCA? Yes / No

After moratorium, has notification been given to employee? Yes / No

Can the Council Proceed with the Transaction? Yes / No 

Signed _______________________________________________________

Name ________________________________________________________

Date _________________________________________________________

209



Page 17 of 20

CUSTOMER DUE DILIGENCE FORM – PRIVATE INDIVIDUAL

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER

Officer referring customer _________________________________________

Contact details for officer _________________________________________

Name of individual ______________________________________________

Address 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________

Date of Birth ___________________________________________________

Telephone number ______________________________________________

E-mail address _________________________________________________

Summary of Transactions and role of the individual 

210



Page 18 of 20

Evidence of Identity obtained: (photocopies of all evidence should be attached to this 
form)

Face to Face Contact? Yes / No

Is the Client Politically Exposed? Yes / No

Is the transaction by nature high risk? Yes / No

Is further enhanced verification required (if yes to any of the above three questions, 
enhanced verification is required): Yes / No

If enhanced verification required, please detail all checks performed:

Can the Council proceed with the transaction? Yes / No

Signed ________________________________________________________

Date _________________________________________________________

211



Page 19 of 20

CUSTOMER DUE DILIGENCE FORM – BUSINESS

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER

Officer referring customer _________________________________________

Contact details for officer _________________________________________

Name of business _______________________________________________

Purpose of business _____________________________________________

Companies House Registration Number ______________________________

Registered business address 
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________

Telephone number ______________________________________________

E-mail address _________________________________________________

Type of organisation (PLC, LLC, Sole trader etc) _______________________

Who are the Companies Directors – are there any beneficial owners (i.e. any person 
/ company who owns more than 25% of the company in question)

Date of first contact with Company __________________________________

212



Page 20 of 20

Nature of transaction with company 
___________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________

Please attach details of all checks undertaken to verify the evidence of this company.

Can the Council proceed with the transaction? Yes / No

Signed ________________________________________________________

Date _________________________________________________________

213



BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

Meeting Date Agenda Item Officer Responsible
15 February 2019

Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2019-20 Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Quarter 3 2018-19 Risk Report Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Audit Committee Self-Assessment Exercise & Action Plan Head of Internal Audit
Annual Audit Plan 2019/20 Head of Internal Audit
Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy,
Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Annual Grant Certification Report 2017/18 External Audit

214

Agenda Item 16


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	9 Annual Grant Certification Report 2017/18
	10 2018/19 Audit Planning Report
	11 Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2019/20
	Breckland Internal Audit Plans Report 201920

	12 Audit Committee Self-Assessment Exercise & Action Plan
	Appendix 1_

	13 Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix D Approved Countries for Investment
	Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23
	Appendix B Investment Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix B1 Treasury Management Practice (TMP1)
	Appendix B2 Treasury Management Policy 2019-20
	Appendix C Economic Background (Link Asset Services)

	14 Accounting Policies 2018-19
	Appendix A Accounting Policies 2018-19

	15 Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy
	Appendix A for Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy
	Appendix B for Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy
	Appendix C for Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy

	16 Work Programme

